IDENTIFYING THE USEFULNESS OF MICROBIAL ENUMERATION, DIVERSITY, AND RESPIRATION FOR IMPLEMENTING STRATEGIES FOR INTRINSIC REMEDIATION

BY

LÉO JR. NICOLAS

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Soil Science University of Manitoba Winnipeg, Manitoba

©August, 2001



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérance

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-62810-8

Canadä

THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

IDENTIFYING THE USEFULNESS OF MICROBIAL ENUMERATION, DIVERSITY, AND RESPIRATION FOR IMPLEMENTING STRATEGIES FOR INTRINSIC REMEDIATION

BY

LEO JR. NICOLAS

A Thesis/Practicum submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of The University of

Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirement of the degree

of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

LEO JR. NICOLAS © 2001

Permission has been granted to the Library of the University of Manitoba to lend or sell copies of this thesis/practicum, to the National Library of Canada to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film, and to University Microfilms Inc. to publish an abstract of this thesis/practicum.

This reproduction or copy of this thesis has been made available by authority of the copyright owner solely for the purpose of private study and research, and may only be reproduced and copied as permitted by copyright laws or with express written authorization from the copyright owner.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Manitoba Hydro for funding this project and supplying the soils that were used for this study.

Thanks to Dr. Burton for being my advisor. Your support and guidance in developing my project and for my independent research was greatly appreciated.

To Michael Nightingale, for helping me set up the gas chromatograph, technical support, and the endless searches throughout the whole department for anything from chemicals to glassware. Also for buying me my first latté that nearly gave me a heart attack. To Rob Ellis in setting up the AutoAnalyser and helping solve some of the problems associated with the instrument.

Thanks to all the graduate students from this department for their friendship; especially Chris Unger and David Whetter, those trips to Costco (and the airport) were always lots of fun. Being the guinea pigs for testing those chocolate chip cookies was never an easy thing to do, but somebody had to do it. To Kristian Stephens for doing some of my trap changes when I was away. Your promotion to upgrade from your placement on the totem pole will come soon.

I would like to thank all of my family members for supporting me through all of my years at university. For my dad for supplying me with a job during the summer months to help pay for tuition. You all provided wonderful encouragement.

Finally, a special thanks to my wife Michelle for putting up with me throughout my many years at university. Without your encouragement and support, I'd probably still be packing meat at "that place". Michelle helped me complete my M.Sc. thesis with her computer skills, help in the lab changing traps, thesis editor and emotional support. You have filled a large gap in my life and words alone cannot express what you mean to me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF EQUATIONS	xi
ABSTRACT	xii
FOREWARD	XV
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	3
2.1 Petroleum Hydrocarbon Contamination of Soils	3
2.2 Soil quality guidelines	4
2.3 Hydrocarbon Degradation	6
2.3.1 Composition of diesel fuel	6
2.3.2 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs)	6
2.3.3 Aliphatic hydrocarbons	8
2.3.4 Hydrocarbon metabolism	9
2.3.5 Metabolism of N-Alkanes	9
2.3.6 PAHs Degradation	10
2.3.7 Factors affecting the rate of hydrocarbon degradation	13
2.3.7.1 Aeration	13
2.3.7.2 Soil pH	13
2.3.7.3 Temperature and solubility	14
2.3.7.4 Nutrients	15
2.3.7.5 Hydrocarbon contaminant concentration	16
2.4 Population distribution of microbial hydrocarbon degraders	
2.4.1 Effect of hydrocarbon contamination on soil microbial communities	21
2.4.1.1 Population distribution of HC utilizers	

2.4.1.2 Microbial diversity and substrate utilization	24
2.4.1.3 Microbial Activity	26
2.4.1.4 Correlations between microbial enumeration, diversity, and activity	28
3. DESCRIPTION OF SITES AND SOILS	30
3.1 Contaminated soils	30
3.1.1 Thicket Portage And Pikwitonei	33
3.1.2 Brandon	36
3.1.3 Somerset	41
3.2 Agricultural soils	42
3.3 Hydrocarbon extraction	43
3.3.1 Gas chromatography	43
3.3.2 TEH determination	45
3.3.3 PAH determination	
3.4 TEH and PAHs levels	46

4. THE ENUMERATION OF DIESEL AND PHENANTHRENE DEGRADING BACTERIA AS A MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR INTRINSIC REMEDIATION...49

4.1 Abstract	
4.2 Introduction	50
4.3 Objective of Study	51
4.4 Materials and Methods	
4.4.1 Soils	
4.4.2 Most Probable Number (MPN) method	
4.4.2.1 Analysis of Hydrocarbons	53
4.4.2.2 MPN and TEH time assay	53
4.4.3 Statistical Analysis	54
4.5 Results	55
4.5.1 Most Probable Number of Diesel Degraders	55
4.5.1.1 Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei	55
4.5.1.2 Brandon	57
4.5.1.3 Somerset and Agricultural Soils	57
4.5.2 Most Probable Number of Phenanthrene Degraders	59
4.5.2.1 Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei	59
4.5.2.2 Brandon	60
4.5.2.3 Agricultural Soils	62
4.5.3 MPN-TEH time assay	63
4.6 Discussion and Conclusions	66
4.6.1 MPN of diesel and phenanthrene degraders	66
4.6.1.1 Contaminated vs. Uncontaminated Soils	66

5 1 Abstract	77
5.2 Introduction	73
5 3 Objective of Study	74
5 4 Materials and Methods	74
5.4.1 Soils	74
5.4.2 Biolog test for metabolic diversity	74
5 4 3 Data Analysis	
5 5 Results	
5.5.1 Metabolic Diversity of Soils.	
5.5.1.1 Thicket Portage, Pikwitonei, and Brandon	
5.5.1.2 Agricultural Soils	80
5.5.2 Principle Component Analysis	
5.5.2.1 Thicket Portage, Pikwitonei, and Brandon	
5.5.2.2. Agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset	
5.5.3 Cluster Analysis	
5.6 Discussion and Conclusions	
5.6.1 Metabolic Diversity	
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMETING REMEDIATION	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMETING REMEDIATION	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMENTING CEMEDIATION	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMENTING 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.2 Introduction 6.3	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED OTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMENTING 6.1 Abstract 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMENTING 6.1 Abstract	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMENTING 6.1 Abstract	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 92 93 93 94 95 95
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMENTING 6.1 Abstract	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMENTING CEMEDIATION 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study 6.4 Materials and Methods 6.4.1 Soils 6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study 6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 93 94 95 95 95 95
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMENTING 6.1 Abstract	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 93 94 95 95 95 95 95 95
6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study 6.4 Materials and Methods 6.4.1 Soils 6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study 6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus 6.4.4 ¹⁴ C-phenanthrene 6.4.5 Respiration monitoring and ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 94 94 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMENTING CEMEDIATION 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study 6.4 Materials and Methods 6.4.1 Soils 6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study 6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus 6.4.4 ¹⁴ C-phenanthrene 6.4.5 Respiration monitoring and ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.6 Kinetic Analysis of ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 93 94 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMENTING CALL 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study 6.4 Materials and Methods 6.4.1 Soils 6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study 6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus 6.4.4 ¹⁴ C-phenanthrene 6.4.5 Respiration monitoring and ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.6 Kinetic Analysis of ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.7 Volatilization	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 93 94 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMETING REMEDIATION 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study 6.4 Materials and Methods 6.4.1 Soils 6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study 6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus 6.4.4 ¹⁴ C-phenanthrene 6.4.5 Respiration monitoring and ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.6 Kinetic Analysis of ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.7 Volatilization 6.5 Results	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 94 94 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMETING REMEDIATION 6.1 Abstract. 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study. 6.4 Materials and Methods. 6.4.1 Soils. 6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study. 6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus 6.4.4 ¹⁴ C-phenanthrene 6.4.5 Respiration monitoring and ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.6 Kinetic Analysis of ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.7 Volatilization 6.5 Results 6.5.1 Degradation Study	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 93 94 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMETING REMEDIATION 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study 6.4 Materials and Methods. 6.4.1 Soils 6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study. 6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus 6.4.4 ¹⁴ C-phenanthrene 6.4.5 Respiration monitoring and ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.6 Kinetic Analysis of ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.5 Results. 6.5.1 Degradation Study 6.5.1 Contaminated Soils	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 93 94 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMETING REMEDIATION 6.1 Abstract. 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study. 6.4 Materials and Methods. 6.4.1 Soils. 6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study. 6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus 6.4.4 ¹⁴ C-phenanthrene 6.4.5 Respiration monitoring and ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.6 Kinetic Analysis of ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.5.1 Degradation Study. 6.5.1.1 Contaminated Soils 6.1.2 Agricultural soils	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 93 94 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMETING REMEDIATION 6.1 Abstract. 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study. 6.4 Materials and Methods. 6.4.1 Soils. 6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study. 6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus 6.4.4 ¹⁴ C-phenanthrene 6.4.5 Respiration monitoring and ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.6 Kinetic Analysis of ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.5 Results. 6.5.1 Degradation Study 6.5.1.1 Contaminated Soils 6.1.1.2 Agricultural soils 6.5.2 Respiration Activity	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 93 94 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMETING REMEDIATION 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study 6.4 Materials and Methods 6.4.1 Soils 6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study. 6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus 6.4.4 ¹⁴ C-phenanthrene 6.4.5 Respiration monitoring and ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.6 Kinetic Analysis of ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.5.1 Degradation Study 6.5.1 Degradation Study 6.5.1 Degradation Study 6.5.1 Degradation Activity 6.5.3 Specific Activity	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 93 94 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATEL POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMETING REMEDIATION 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Objective of Study 6.4 Materials and Methods. 6.4.1 Soils. 6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study. 6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus 6.4.4 ¹⁴ C-phenanthrene 6.4.5 Respiration monitoring and ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.4.6 Kinetic Analysis of ¹⁴ CO ₂ evolution 6.5.1 Degradation Study 6.5.1 Degradation Study 6.5.2 Respiration Activity 6.5.3 Specific Activity 6.5.4 Volatilization	F LABELLED D SOILS AS A G INTRINSIC 92 93 93 94 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95

6.6.1 Degradation of phenanthrene	112
6.6.1.1 Contaminated vs. uncontaminated soils	112
6.6.1.2 Agricultural soils	
6.6.2 Respiration and Specific activity	
6.6.3 Volatilization	
7. GENERAL DISCUSSION	
7.1 Enumeration of alkane and phenanthrene degrading microorganisms	
7.2 Relationship between microbial enumeration, diversity, and respiration	
7.3 The effect of previous hydrocarbon exposure in relation to soil depth	
7.4 Current state of the contaminated sites	
8. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	
9. CONTRIBUTION OF KNOWLEDGE	
REFERENCES	136
APPENDIX	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 CCME guidelines for naphthalene, anthracene, phenanthrene, pyrene, and
benzo[a]pyrene
Table 2.2 Manitoba Conservation Remediation Criteria for TEH (mg/kg) (Manitoba
Environment, 1993)
Table 2.3 Physical Properties of some PAHs (Government of Canada, 1994)
Table 2.4 Summary of selected results from the effect on initial PAH concentrations on
the rates of transformation (Sims and Overcash, 1983)
Table 2.5 Genera of Hydrocarbon-Degrading Bacteria and Fungi Isolated from Soil 20
Table 3.1 Soil properties for contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils
Table 3.2 Soil classification and legal description of contaminated sites. 33
Table 3.3 Description of contaminated and uncontaminated sand soils from Brandon 38
Table 3.4 Pairings between contaminated and uncontaminated sand soils from Brandon
according to depth used throughout this study
Table 3.5 Description of contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon39
Table 3.6 Pairings between contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon
according to depth used throughout this study
Table 3.7 Particle size analyses and texture of agricultural soils selected for enumeration
study
Table 3.8 Soil classification and location of agricultural sites used in this study
Table 3.9 Soil properties of agricultural soils. 43
Table 3.10 Concentrations of total extractable hydrocarbon in Thicket Portage (TP) and
Pikwitonei (Pik) soil samples
Table 3.11 Concentrations of PAHs and TEH in soils from Somerset. 47
Table 3.12 Concentration of PAHs (µg/g) in soil samples from Brandon contaminated site
Table 3.13 Concentration of TEH and PAHs in agricultural surface and subsurface soils.
Table 4.1 Average most probable numbers of diesel degraders in contaminated
versus uncontaminated soils according to depth (\pm standard deviation)
Table 4.2 Confirmation of diesel fuel degradation from decreased levels of TEH ($\mu g/g$) in test tubes from MPN experiment for uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage,
Pikwitonei, and Brandon (± standard deviation)
Table 4.3 MPN averages of diesel degraders in contaminated and adjacent
uncontaminated soils from Somerset (± standard deviation)
Table 4.4 MPN averages of diesel degraders in agricultural surface and subsurface 58

Table 4.5 Confirmation of diesel fuel degradation from decreased levels of TEH $(\mu g/g)$ in test tubes from MPN experiment for contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated Table 4.6 Confirmation of diesel fuel degradation from decreased levels of TEH (µg/g) in test tubes from MPN experiment for agricultural soils, contaminated and adjacent Table 4.7 Average most probable numbers (MPNs) of phenanthrene degraders in contaminated versus uncontaminated soils according to depth (± standard deviation). Table 4.8 Confirmation of phenanthrene degradation from decreased levels (ug/g) in test tubes from MPN experiment for uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage, Table 4.9 MPN averages of phenanthrene degraders in contaminated and adjacent Table 4.10 MPN averages of phenanthrene degraders in agricultural soils, contaminated Table 4.11 Confirmation of phenanthrene degradation from decreased levels (µg/g) in test tubes from MPN experiment for contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils Table 4.12 Confirmation of phenanthrene degradation from decreased levels of $(\mu g/g)$ in Table 4.13 Average values from extraction of diesel fuel from MPN experiment over six-Table 5.1 Carbon substrates included in the Gram-negative Biolog plates categorized by Table 5.2 Percent substrate utilization of contaminated vs. adjacent uncontaminated soils Table 5.4 Percent substrate utilization in contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Table 6.1 Curve fitting analysis of the results for phenanthrene degradation and half life Table 6.2 Comparison of specific activities between uncontaminated and contaminated Table 6.3 Percent of radioactivity added as ¹⁴C-labeled phenanthrene recovered from Table 6.4 Concentrations of total extractable hydrocarbon (TEH) in contaminated soils

Table 7.1 Comparison of most probable number (MPN) of diesel degraders, % substrate utilization, and %¹⁴CO₂ recovery from microbial enumeration, diversity, and respiration, respectively. 124

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Chemical structures of PAHs (Government of Canada, 1994)
Figure 2.2 Conversion of an alkane molecule to a primary alcohol catalyzed by monooxygenases (Atlas and Bartha, 1993)
Figure 2.3 Conversion of and alkane molecule eventually forming a primary alcohol catalyzed by dioxygenase (Atlas and Bartha, 1993)
Figure 2.4 Transformation of a primary alcohol to acetyl CoA through a β-oxidation sequence (Atlas and Bartha, 1993)
Figure 2.5 Initial oxygenation of aromatic hydrocarbon by bacteria and fungi (Atlas and Bartha, 1993)
Figure 3.1. Map of Manitoba indicating location from which soils were sampled; (1) Thicket Portage, (2) Pikwitonei, (3) Brandon, (4) Somerset, (5) St.Claude, (6) Glenlea, (7) north of Brandon
Figure 3.2 Drawn aerial map of Pikwitonei contaminated area including location of auger holes from which soils from this study were sampled
Figure 3.3 Aerial map of Thicket Portage contaminated area including location of auger holes from which soils from this study were taken
Figure 3.4 Aerial map of Brandon contaminated area including location of auger holes from which soils from this study were taken.
Figure 3.5 Aerial map of Somerset contaminated area including location of auger holes from which soils from this study were taken
Figure 4.1 Comparison of MPN of diesel degraders in contaminated vs. uncontaminated soils from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard deviation of three replicates.
Figure 4.2 Decrease in TEH levels over six week period in contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error from three replicates
Figure 5.1 Relationship between microbial communities in diesel contaminated (CTM) soils and adjacent uncontaminated (UNCTM) soils from Thicket Portage as depicted by PCA
Figure 5.2 Relationship between microbial communities in diesel contaminated (CTM) soils and adjacent uncontaminated (UNCTM) soils from Pikwitonei depicted by principle components 1 and 2
Figure 5.3 Relationship between microbial communities in diesel contaminated (CTM) soils and adjacent uncontaminated (UNCTM) soils from Pikwitonei depicted by principle-components 1 and 3

Figure 5.4 Relationship between microbial communities of PAH contaminated (CM) soils (in boxes) and adjacent uncontaminated (CL) soils from Brandon as depicted by PCA
Figure 5.5 Relationship between microbial communities in agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset as depicted from PCA
adjacent uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage resulting from cluster analysis.
Figure 5.7 Relationship between microbial communities in diesel contaminated and
adjacent uncontaminated soils from Pikwitonei resulting from cluster analysis 87 Figure 5.8 Relationship between microbial communities in PAH contaminated and
adjacent uncontaminated soils from Brandon resulting from cluster analysis
Figure 5.9 Relationship between microbial communities in agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset resulting from cluster analysis
Figure 6.0 Structure of phenanthrene and location of labeled ¹⁴ C (black dot)
Figure 6.1 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated
soils from Thicket Portage. Error bars (hidden by data points) represent the standard
Figure 6.2 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated
soils from Pikwitonei. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates 103
Figure 6.3 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated sand soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated
loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 106
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 106 Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates.
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 106 Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 106 Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.8 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket points represent the mean of four replicates. 107
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 106 Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.8 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Pikwitonei. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 105 Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.8 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Pikwitonei. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.8 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from 107 Figure 6.9 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from the standard error of four replicates. 107
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 105 Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.8 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Pikwitonei. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.9 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates.
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 106 Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.8 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Pikwitonei. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.9 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 106 Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.8 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket standard error of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.9 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.9 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.9 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.10 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 108 Figure 6.10 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 108 Figure 6.10 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 108 Figure 6.10 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 108 Figure 6.10 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 108 Figure 6.10 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated l
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 106 Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.8 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Pikwitonei. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.9 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.10 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 108 Figure 6.10 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 108
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 106 Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.8 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Pikwitonei. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.9 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated sand soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 108 Figure 6.10 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 108 Figure 6.11 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from 108
Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 104 Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 105 Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates. 106 Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.8 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Pikwitonei. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 107 Figure 6.9 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 108 Figure 6.10 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates. 108 Figure 6.11 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Somerset. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standar

х

LIST OF EQUATIONS

5.1 Linear equation for curve fitting analysis of degradation data	97
5.2 First order equation for curve fitting analysis of degradation data	97
5.3 Half life determination for phenanthrene in soils	98

ABSTRACT

Nicolas, Leo Jr. M.Sc., The University of Manitoba, August 2001. Identifying the usefulness of microbial enumeration, diversity, and respiration for implementing strategies for intrinsic remediation. Major Professor; Dr. David L. Burton.

Hydrocarbon utilizing bacteria have been found widely distributed in natural environments, their proportions affected by many factors, such as level of previous hydrocarbon exposure and from variations in soil conditions. This research compares microbial enumeration, diversity, and respiration between contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils and three native agricultural soils from Manitoba at a variety of depths. The purpose is to understand the effects of hydrocarbon contamination on these microbial parameters and the usefulness of the parameters for implementing intrinsic remediation as a remedial option. Four contaminated soils were examined, varying in the type of previous hydrocarbon exposure (two diesel fuel, one coal tar, and one crude oil).

The enumeration of aliphatic and aromatic degrading microorganisms from contaminated versus adjacent uncontaminated soils and agricultural soils were examined using a most-probable number method. Results indicated that both populations of degraders were present in all uncontaminated soils, including the agricultural soils, at a variety of depths. The effect of prior hydrocarbon exposure produced greater numbers of degraders in the contaminated soils when compared to adjacent uncontaminated material, indicating adaptation of the microbial populations to the presence of the contaminants through an increase in numbers. The effect of previous contamination on the microbial diversity of soils was examined in a second experiment. Some contaminated soils had greater percentages of utilized substrates than their respective uncontaminated soils, indicating possible selection of microorganisms with increased metabolic versatilities due to the previous contamination event. Principle component analysis and cluster analysis were used to observe possible shifts in substrate utilization patterns caused by prior hydrocarbon exposure when comparing contaminated and uncontaminated soils. Both statistical tests did not reveal any consistent trends.

The final experiment was to determine differences in degradation rates in contaminated versus uncontaminated soils and agricultural soils upon the addition of ¹⁴C-labelled phenanthrene. All surface and most subsurface agricultural soils were able to degrade phenanthrene, indicating the presence of degraders capable of significant levels of hydrocarbon degradation, ranging from 42% to 51% ¹⁴CO₂ production for surface soils and 6% to 30% ¹⁴CO₂ production for subsurface soils. In most cases, contaminated soils yielded higher percent ¹⁴CO₂ production than adjacent uncontaminated soils. Metabolic activity was also determined between contaminated versus adjacent uncontaminated soils, by measuring total CO₂ production, but did not reveal any consistent differences in activity. The presence of a plateau toward the end of the incubation period for some soils seemed to indicate that contaminant availability might be a controlling factor in degradation.

Comparison of results obtained from the three experiments revealed that in six of the ten contaminated soils studied, the contaminated soils produced greater numbers of hydrocarbon degraders that had increased metabolic capabilities with higher rate of ¹⁴CO₂ production. In these cases, previous hydrocarbon exposure resulted in the selection of

xiii

tolerant microbes able to utilize numerous substrates, including hydrocarbons, as sources of carbon and energy, resulting in quicker response to the addition of ¹⁴C-labelled phenanthrene yielding higher ¹⁴CO₂ production. Naturally occurring hydrocarbon (HC) degraders have the ability to adapt and increase in numbers in facilitating intrinsic remediation. Efforts to enhance the availability of these hydrophobic contaminants may be necessary if the metabolic capability shown to exist in this study and others is to be used in intrinsic remediation strategies.

FOREWARD

The following thesis was prepared using the manuscript format outlined in the Guide to Thesis Preparation for Graduate Students in the Department of Soil Science. All of the manuscripts presented in the thesis (Chapters 4,5, and 6) will be submitted for publication to referred journals. The manuscripts will also include a co-author, Dr. David L. Burton, who is also the major professor and advisor.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Many spills of petroleum hydrocarbons occur onto soils, causing hazards to both humans and the environment. The removal of hydrocarbon-contaminated soils through excavation is costly, and off-site treatment increases the risk of spreading the contaminants to surrounding areas. Intrinsic remediation, a cost effective approach. attempts to facilitate remediation without the removal of the contaminated material from the site. The understanding of the effect on soil microbial communities in the presence of these contaminants becomes important, especially when assessing strategies for implementing intrinsic remediation. Intrinsic remediation attempts to facilitate remediation without the removal of the contaminated material from the site. For successful intrinsic remediation, the soil microbial community should include the presence of a naturally occurring hydrocarbon degrading population with the potential to respond to hydrocarbon (HC) contaminants. As every contamination event is different, it is difficult to predict the effect of hydrocarbons on the soil microbial populations. The immense diversity of soil microorganisms, varying in response to many environmental factors, increases the difficulty. The evaluation of the usefulness of microbial enumeration, diversity, and respiration as parameters for gathering information on the hydrocarbon degrading potential of the microbial communities in soils, has been the focus of some study. We hypothesise that these microbial parameters are increased in

previously contaminated soils and would help indicate their usefulness as tools for intrinsic remediation strategies.

Soils consist of heterogeneous microorganisms that include naturally occurring populations with the ability to degrade petroleum products (Atlas, 1978; Bossert and Bartha, 1984; Dragun, 1988), including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons such as phenanthrene (Manilal and Alexander, 1991). In soils, microorganisms that degrade aromatic HCs are frequently distinct from those that attack aliphatic HC (Foght et al. 1990; Atlas, 1991; Wrenn and Venosa, 1996). The number of HC-degrading organisms in a microbial community, determined by enumeration techniques, has been shown to be a decisive criterion for efficient bioremediation of contaminated sites (Atlas, 1981; Wilson, 1999). Observations of the metabolic diversity of the soil communities using Gram-negative BIOLOG plates can provide information on the substrate utilization patterns of microbial communities. Some researchers have observed microbes within contaminated environments with enhanced substrate utilization capabilities (Atlas, 1991). Shifts in utilized substrates have also been seen in soils previously contaminated when compared to pristine soils (Wünsche et al., 1995). In most cases, degradation studies using ¹⁴C-labelled compounds have shown that higher rates of HC degradation occurred in previously contaminated soils compared to uncontaminated soils (McGill et al., 1981; Wilson and Jones, 1993; Geiselbrecht et al., 1996; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997). Nyman (1999) found that microbial activity (total CO₂) was not inhibited by addition of crude oil and concluded that tolerant microorganisms maintained activity. Results from enumeration, diversity, and respiration were compared to examine possible relationships and to evaluate their usefulness as potential tools for implementing strategies for intrinsic remediation.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Petroleum Hydrocarbon Contamination of Soils

The contamination of soils by petroleum hydrocarbons can occur from various crude oil and oil products via many pathways. Soils can become contaminated by accidental release by storage tanks and tankers. Diesel fuel, coal tar oil, and bunker C fuel oil are a few examples of the many commercially available oil products. Release of these products into the soil environment is an on-going problem due their increase usage in our society. The presence of toxic petroleum products in the soil can result in adverse effects on the environment including risks to human health.

Numerous approaches to the remediation of contaminated soil have been developed, some of which are costly and/or require a high degree of site disturbance. The goal of every remediation strategy is to lower the concentration of the contaminant to acceptable levels. Many remediation strategies are very costly and intensive, such as soil washing, excavation, and soil flushing. A more cost effective non-invasive method based on intrinsic remediation, attempts to facilitate remediation without the removal of the contaminated material from the site. This remediation strategy attempts the proper management of several environmental factors and a microbial community capable of hydrocarbon degradation, to ensure that they are not limiting contaminant degradation

(Atlas, 1991; Atlas and Cerniglia, 1995; Huesemann, 1995; Margesin and Schinner, 1997). These factors can vary dramatically with soils of different textures. The knowledge of the variation of these factors among soils and how they might restrict the degradation of target contaminants is an important tool in intrinsic remediation strategies.

For efficient bioremediation of a contaminant, the number of contaminant degrading organisms in a microbial community is an important factor (Becker and Dott, 1995). The increase in numbers of hydrocarbon utilizing bacteria and their relative abundance in bacterial communities due to the presence of bioavailable hydrocarbons is well known among many researchers (Atlas, 1981; McGill *et al.*, 1981; Atlas, 1991; Wünsche et al., 1997; Wilson, 1999). Reported increases in bacterial numbers have ranged from slight to several orders of magnitude (McGill *et al.*, 1981).

2.2 Soil quality guidelines

Guidelines have been developed by the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) to guide regulators and minimise the impact of petroleum contaminants on human health and the environment. The CCME had established the Recommended Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines for Contaminated Sites, which provide guidelines for acceptable levels of individual PAHs found in soil and water (Table 2.1; CCME, 1991). These levels serve as benchmarks in assessing the degree of contamination at a site and provide direction on the need for remediation, the setting of remediation goals and strategies, and verification of the adequacy of remedial actions (CCME, 1991). The importance of these levels is that they constitute a common scientific basis for the establishment of remedial objectives for specific sites (CCME, 1991). A detailed consideration of site specific factors, such as variations in local conditions and existing guidelines and standards, should be considered in the application of these values before remedial actions can be finalized (CCME, 1997).

Table 2.1	CCME	guidelines	for	naphthalene,	anthracene,	phenanthrene,	pyrene,
and b	enzo[a]p	yrene (µg/	g).				

	Naphthalene	Phenanthrene	Pyrene	Benzo[a]pyrene
Land Use				
Agricultural	*0.1	0.1	0.1	*0.1
Residential-	*0.6	5	10	*0.7
parkland				
Commercial	*22	50	100	*0.7
Industrial	*22	50	100	*0.7

* Indicates criteria taken from the CCME Recommended Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines (March 1997). All other criteria shown are from the CCME Interim Canadian Environmental Quality Criteria for Contaminated Soils (CCME, 1991).

Regulation of contaminated sites and the enforcement to reduce contaminant levels to acceptable limits are a provincial jurisdiction. The provincial department of Conservation also had established recommended guidelines for acceptable concentrations of total extractable hydrocarbons (TEH) in contaminated sites (Manitoba Environment, 1993). The concentrations have been divided into three levels and are outlined in Table 2.2.

Table 2.2 Manitoba Conservation Remediation Criteria for TEH (mg/kg) (Manitoba Environment, 1993).

	Concentration (mg/kg)
Level 1 (residential)	500
Level 2 (commercial)	2000
Level 3 (industrial)	2000

2.3 Hydrocarbon Degradation

2.3.1 Composition of diesel fuel

Diesel fuel is a complex mixture made up of hundreds of different compounds including aliphatic, polycyclic and aromatic compounds (Widrig and Manning, 1995). Diesel is composed primarily of carbon numbers in the C_{10} to C_{20} range, with boiling points ranging between 160°C and 360°C (Millner *et al.*, 1992). The composition of diesel fuel is dependent on the source of the oil, fractionation cracking, formulation, and the climate for which it was prepared (Gillespie *et al.*, 1989).

The description of diesel fuel can be simplified by grouping the compounds into the following broader categories: alkanes, monoaromatics, and polynuclear aromatics (McGill *et al.*, 1981; Atlas and Bartha, 1993). Aliphatic hydrocarbons (paraffin) including normal, branched and cyclic alkanes (cycloparaffin) dominate diesel fuel. Normal (n-) alkanes are saturated straight chain hydrocarbons that can vary in length from one carbon to over forty. Carbon chain lengths of C_{12} to C_{24} dominate in middle distillates such as diesel. Simple monoaromatic rings such as benzene and substituted benzene and polyaromatics such as phenanthrene and naphthalene comprise a significant portion of diesel fuel ranging from 10-30% (Block *et al.*, 1991). Sulphur, olefins, nitrogen, and oxygen containing compounds are also present as impurities (Ruth *et al.*, 1993).

2.3.2 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs)

PAHs include a group of organic priority pollutants of critical environmental and public health concern due to the following characteristics: (1) chronic health effects (carcinogenicity); (2) microbial recalcitrance; (3) high bioaccumulation potential; and (4)

low removal efficiencies in traditional wastewater treatment processes (Park *et al.*, 1990). The Canadian Environmental Protection Act (CEPA) required the Minister of the Environment and the Minister of Health to publish a Priority Substances List that included many PAHs, classified as toxic and harmful compounds to both human health and the environment (Government of Canada, 1994). In the USA, sixteen PAHs have been labelled as priority pollutants (Wilson and Jones, 1993).

PAHs are organic substances that make up a family of benzene derivatives, composed of adjoined six membered rings of carbon atoms. The structures can vary in complexity from simple two ringed structures like naphthalene to condensed multi-ringed substances such as benzo[a]pyrene, Figure 2.1 (Pothuluri and Cerniglia, 1994).



Denzo[a]pyrene

Figure 2.1 Chemical structures of PAHs (Government of Canada, 1994).

PAHs having less than four rings are considered to be low molecular weight compounds, while high molecular weight PAHs have four or more rings (Government of Canada, 1994). The arrangement of these ringed compounds can be linear, cluster, or angular, with increasing stability from linear to angular (Sims and Overcash, 1983). As the number of rings in the structure of the compound is increased, the stability of the PAHs is greatly increased (Bumpus, 1989). PAHs are in general insoluble in aqueous environments, becoming more insoluble as the number of rings increases (Wilson and Jones, 1993). An increase in the number of rings results in an increase of the octanolwater partition coefficient (K_{ow}) and the melting point of PAHs, while vapour pressure and Henry's law constant decreases (Table 2.3).

Compound	Molecular weight	Log Kow	Water solubility at 25°C (mg/L)	Melting point (°C)	Vapour pressure at 25°C (mPA)
Naphthalene	128.16	3.5	31.7	80.5	11 960
Phenanthrene	178.24	4.5	3.42	95	594
Anthracene	178.24	4.5	0.045	216	. 25
Pyrene	202.26	4.9	0.135	156	91.3 x 10 ⁻⁶
Benzo[a]pyrene	252.32	6.0	0.0038	179	0.37 x 10 ⁻⁶
Benzo[k]fluoranthene	276	6.06	0.0043	217	2.8 x 10 ⁻⁹

Table 2.3 Physical Properties of some PAHs (Government of Canada, 1994).

2.3.3 Aliphatic hydrocarbons

Aliphatic hydrocarbons are often described as alkanes or saturated hydrocarbonshydrocarbons because they contain only carbon and hydrogen; saturated because they have only C-C and C-H single bonds. They have a general formula of C_nH_{2n+n} , where *n* is any integer. Aliphatic hydrocarbons constitute the bulk of all diesels and may be further subdivided into n-alkanes, branched and cyclic. Normal (n)-alkanes are straight chain hydrocarbons that may vary in length from one carbon to over forty. Increase in chain length results in an increase in molecular weight and melting point, and a decrease in water solubility and vapour pressure.

2.3.4 Hydrocarbon metabolism

The metabolism of hydrocarbons by microorganisms was first characterised by Zobell in 1946. From this work, researchers realised that these organisms could be used for industrial purposes as well as for *in situ* bioremediation (Rainwater *et al.*, 1993). The popularity for using *in situ* bioremediation as a remedial option increased in the mid-1980s, when natural attenuation was considered for the remediation of oil washed ashore along the Alaskan coast as a result of the Exxon Valdez oil spill (Atlas and Cerniglia, 1995). The levels of petroleum were monitored along the shorelines and were found to decrease in concentration over time. The Exxon Valdez spill emphasized the potential for, and practicality of, *in situ* remediation. Rapid growth in the use of *in situ* remediation has resulted from these observations and now represents a billion to trillion-dollar industry (Rainwater *et al.*, 1993; Widrig and Manning, 1995).

2.3.5 Metabolism of N-Alkanes

N-alkanes are the most rapidly degraded diesel fuel compounds in soil. Their degradation is done aerobically and involves the incorporation of oxygen atoms into the structure of the chemical (McGill *et al.*, 1981). Degradation times are increased with increases in chain length and branching.

The enzymes responsible for initial introduction of oxygen into the molecule are called monooxygenases and dioxygenase. Monooxygenases (Figure 2.2) merges one oxygen atom into the alkane forming a primary alcohol and water. Dioxygenase (Figure 2.3) incorporates two atoms of oxygen into the structure initially forming a hydroperoxide, which is reduced to form an alcohol and water (Atlas and Bartha, 1993). The terminal methyl group is attacked in either case, resulting in the formation of an

alcohol functional group. The subsequent conversion of the primary alcohol to aldehydes and fatty acids allows β -oxidation to occur (Figure 2.4). Conversion of the fatty acid to an acyl coenzymeA through β -oxidation, leads to the formation of acetyl CoA that can enter the TCA cycle (McGill *et al.*, 1981).

$$R-CH_2-CH_3 + O_2 + NADPH_2 \rightarrow R-CH_2-CH_2-OH + NADP + H_2O$$

Figure 2.2 Conversion of an alkane molecule to a primary alcohol catalyzed by monooxygenases (Atlas and Bartha, 1993).

 $\begin{array}{c} \text{R-CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_3 + \text{O}_2 \rightarrow \text{R-CH}_2\text{-}\text{COOH} \\ \text{R-CH}_2\text{-}\text{COOH} + \text{NADPH}_2 \rightarrow \text{R-CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{OH} + \text{NADP} + \text{H}_2\text{O} \end{array}$

Figure 2.3 Conversion of and alkane molecule eventually forming a primary alcohol catalyzed by dioxygenase (Atlas and Bartha, 1993).

$$\begin{array}{c} \text{R-CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{COCoA} \rightarrow \\ +\text{CoA} & +\text{CoA} & +\text{H}_2\text{O} & -2\text{H}^2\text{-}\text{COCoA} \\ +\text{H}_2\text{O} & -2\text{H}^2\text{-}\text{COCoA} & +\text{CH}_2\text{-}\text{COCoA} & +\text{CH}_3\text{-}\text{COCoA} \\ +\text{CoA} & +\text{CoA} & +\text{CoA} & +\text{COCoA} & +\text{CH}_3\text{-}\text{COCoA} \end{array}$$

Figure 2.4 Transformation of a primary alcohol to acetyl CoA through a β-oxidation sequence (Atlas and Bartha, 1993).

2.3.6 PAHs Degradation

The degradation of PAHs requires a complex reaction due to the presence of fused ring structures. The complexity of the reactions for PAH degradation increases with increasing number of fused ring structures. Increasing number of ring structures and degradation complexity for the following PAHs are as follows: naphthalane, phenanthrene, pyrene, and benzo[a]pyrene. Initial oxygenation of the aromatic ring by bacteria occurs via the action of dioxygenase, an enzyme that incorporates two oxygen atoms, forming a dihydrodiol. Monooxygenase also catalyzes oxygenation of aromatic rings and is present mostly in fungi (eukaryotes). Monooxygenase incorporates one oxygen atom to form an arene oxide during initial oxygenation.



Figure 2.5 Initial oxygenation of aromatic hydrocarbon by bacteria and fungi (Atlas and Bartha, 1993).

Compounds resembling the simpler PAHs are formed during the breakdown of the complex structures. The understanding of the degradation of simpler PAH compounds are important since the structures of simpler molecules are contained in the more complex PAHs, such as benzo[a]pyrene. Rogoff (1962) suggested that the more similar PAHs are structurally, the more likely the oxygenases for initial hydroxylation are also similar.

PAHs can be microbially degraded in two ways; either as sole source of carbon and energy to the microbes or by co-metabolism (co-oxidation). Co-metabolism involves the production of an enzyme for degradation of a certain growth supporting compound that can also degrade a PAH that is not essential for growth. Low molecular weight PAHs (two and three rings) can be microbially degraded as sole carbon and energy sources while co-metabolism has been observed to enhance degradation of high molecular weight PAHs (four or more rings) (Sims and Overcash, 1983; Bumpus, 1989; Kästner et al., 1994; Pothuluri and Cerniglia, 1994; Wilson and Jones, 1994). Richow et al. (1995) reported strong decreases in phenanthrene, fluorene, and anthracene concentrations (90-95%), indicating preferential microbial degradation in tar-oil contaminated soils, while decreases of higher molecular weight PAHs were below 50%. Little is known about the mechanism and factors involved in controlling co-metabolism (Wilson and Jones, 1993). Observation of studies have shown that high molecular weight PAHs were more resistant to degradation when present as pure compounds in soil than in the same soil in complex waste mixtures (Wilson and Jones, 1993). Other studies have reported co-metabolism of complex PAHs such as pyrene and benzo[a]pyrene when combined with simpler PAHs, such as naphthalene and phenanthrene (Herbes and Schwall, 1978).

The complete degradation of organic contaminants to harmless constituents, such as CO_2 and H_2O is the ultimate aim of bioremediation. The formation of intermediate metabolites during degradation includes dihydrodiols, phenols, and arene oxides, many of which have been identified as carcinogenic, mutagenic, and teratogenic (Wilson and Jones, 1993). As well as being as equally or more toxic than the parent compound,

intermediate compounds are often more soluble, leading to an increase in mobility in the environment (Wilson and Jones, 1993).

2.3.7 Factors affecting the rate of hydrocarbon degradation

2.3.7.1 Aeration

Under anoxic conditions, unsubstituted PAHs are extremely resistant to microbial degradation (Manilal and Alexander, 1991; Pothuluri and Cerniglia, 1994). Atlas (1981) stated that rapid biodegradation does not occur in anaerobic environments and that hydrocarbons that enter such conditions are well preserved and persist indefinitely as environmental contaminants. As the initial microbial attack of PAH requires oxygen, its presence is essential for successful degradation with optimal contents ranging from 10-40% (Wilson and Jones, 1993). Soil moisture content should be maintained between 30 and 90% water holding capacity for PAH degradation, as excessive moisture of soils can limit oxygen availability (Wilson and Jones, 1993). Manilal and Alexander (1991) found an increase in phenanthrene degradation by increasing aeration of the soil (48% mineralized in aerated soil vs. 39% mineralized in non-aerated). Field *et al.* (1995) concluded that aeration was an important factor in successful PAH degradation, by finding enhanced degradation of benzo[a]pyrene when the aeration status of the soil was artificially improved by the addition of pumice stones.

2.3.7.2 Soil pH

Generally, pH ranges between seven and eight were found optimal for PAH degradation. The pH will greatly affect the microbial composition of a soil. Most soil bacteria prefer a neutral pH environment as fungi are much more tolerant of acidity and

therefore dominate acidic environments. Consequently, the soil pH will often determine what type of microorganisms can participate in hydrocarbon degradation. There is also evidence that the overall rate of hydrocarbon biodegradation is higher under slightly alkaline than under acidic conditions as alkaline environments are more suitable for developing a more diverse group of microorganisms (Bossert and Bartha, 1984). Margesin and Schinner (1997) concluded that a neutral pH was more advantageous for mineral oil decontamination.

2.3.7.3 Temperature and solubility

Temperature can also affect rates of hydrocarbon degradation. An increase in temperature affects the chemical properties of PAHs by increasing vapour pressure and solubility while decreasing adsorption to soil particles (Maliszewska-Kordybach, 1993). The ability of a microbial community to degrade a compound is related to its solubility and therefore availability (Maliszewska-Kordybach, 1993). Ideal temperatures for PAH degradation is usually between 20° to 30°C (Wilson and Jones, 1993). Rate of degradation are generally observed to decrease with decreasing temperature, which is believed to be a result primarily of decreased rates of enzymatic activities, or the Q_{10} effect (Atlas, 1991). Sims and Overcash (1983) found that phenanthrene degradation increased by approximately 20% for each 5°C temperature, over a range of 15° to 37°C, with a maximum degradation of 90% mineralized at 37°C (at 1000 $\mu g/L$). Field *et al.* (1995) found that an increase in temperature from 20° to 30°C increased the rate of benzo[a]pyrene degradation by 75%. Margesin and Schinner (1997) found that diesel-oil decontamination was higher by 10% at 25°C in comparison to the one at 10°C.

The solubility of hydrocarbons has a marked effect on their biodegradation. At very low concentrations hydrocarbons are soluble in water, but most spills release petroleum HCs in concentrations far exceeding the solubility limits (Atlas, 1981). The degree of spreading is reduced in low temperatures because of the decrease in viscosity of the oils (Atlas, 1981). An increase in the number of aromatic rings within a molecule results in a dramatic decrease in solubility of PAHs (Table 2.3), limiting their ability to be biodegraded. Wodzinsky and LaRocca (1977) found that bacteria could utilize liquid aromatic HCs at the water-hydrocarbon interface but that solid aromatic HCs were not metabolized. They also found that naphthalene could not be degraded in the solid state but could be utilized if dissolved in a liquid HC. Atlas (unpublished data but reviewed in Atlas, 1981) similarly found that hexadecane supported little bacterial growth at 5°C when the compound was in the solid form, but if hexadecane was dissolved in another liquid HC, extensive degradation of the liquid hexadecane occurred at 5°C.

2.3.7.4 Nutrients

The availability of nutrients in soils may affect the persistence of HCs in the environment. Significant HC spills onto soils results in an environment with a high ratio of C to P/N. Various types of fertilizers can be added to soils to introduce nutrients to soils that may be absent or limiting for efficient biodegradation (Widrig and Manning, 1995). Manilal and Alexander (1991) found that addition of phosphorus (150 mg P/kg soil) did not increase degradation of phenanthrene (~48% degradation) but did decrease the number of days required to reach maximum degradation (from 11 days for soil with no P addition to 7 days with P addition). Doubling the amount of phosphorus to 300 mg P/kg soil did not significantly enhance or accelerate degradation beyond levels achieved

by previous addition at 150 mg P/kg soil. The addition of nitrogen at 140 mg N/kg soil decreased the amount of degraded phenanthrene (~41% mineralized) and increased the number of days to achieve the maximum rate of degradation (12 days). Margesin and Schinner (1997) found that the addition of fertilizers having a C:N ratio of 10:1 increased the rate of degradation, reducing diesel fuel contamination by 55% at 25°C compared to only 17% at 25°C without nutrient supplementation.

2.3.7.5 Hydrocarbon contaminant concentration

The initial concentration of hydrocarbons in soils has been found to be directly proportional to the rate of degradation. Field *et al.* (1995) found that continued exposure of benzo[a]pyrene to soils from 100 to 1000 mg/kg doubled the initial rate of degradation by an order of magnitude.

Khesina *et al.* (1969) investigated degradation of B[a]P under natural conditions of temperature and soil moisture. They found that B[a]P can be microbially degraded in soils under natural conditions provided that the soils has been acclimatized to the presence of PAHs over a period of several days before introduction of additional PAHs. They concluded that the rate of degradation appeared to be a function of concentration of B[a]P in soil. Sims and Overcash (1983) found that a 100-fold increase in phenanthrene concentration (10 to 1000 μ g/L) resulted in a three-fold increase in the rate of phenanthrene degradation (12.1 μ g/L-day vs. 43.4 μ g/L-day) at 25°C. Sims and Overcash (1983) also summarised many rates of degradation of a variety of PAHs in soil systems (Table 2.4) and concluded from the following general trends that for a given PAH compound, the initial rate of transformation increases with increasing soil concentration.

Table 2.4 Summary of	selected results	from the effect o	n initial PAH	concentrations
on the rates of tra	nsformation (Sir	ns and Overcash	, 1983).	

РАН	Initial concentration (µg/g soil)	Rate of transformation (µg/g day)
Naphthalene	7.0	0.4
	25000	4331
Phenanthrene	2.1	0.056
	25000	6930
Anthracene	3.4	0.714
	25000	4950

2.4 Population distribution of microbial hydrocarbon degraders

Soils consist of heterogeneous microorganisms that include naturally occurring populations with the ability to degrade petroleum products (Atlas, 1978; Bossert and Bartha, 1984; Dragun, 1988). Hydrocarbon utilizing bacteria are ubiquitously distributed in natural environments, their proportion in heterotrophic bacterial soil communities ranging from 0.13% to 50% (Wünsche et al., 1995). The ability to degrade petroleum hydrocarbons is not restricted to a few microbial genera, but include a diverse group of bacteria and fungi. Bacteria and fungi are the principal agents of petroleum biodegradation in soil, but the relative contribution of each is not clear (Dragun, 1988). Table 2.5 lists the genera of HC-degrading bacteria and fungi isolated from soil. The degradation of complex hydrocarbons is generally not the result of the activity of a single species but rather represents the action of a community of organisms. Individual organisms have limited capability for degradation relative to the enzymatic capacity of mixed cultures (Miethe et al., 1994). The composition of microbial communities in different soils and their biocatalytic potential differs quantitatively rather than

qualitatively (Miethe *et al.*, 1994). The reporting of numbers of hydrocarbon degraders in literature is hindered by the differences in methodology used to enumerate petroleumdegrading microorganisms. The number of HC-degrading organisms in a microbial community has been shown to be a decisive criterion for efficient bioremediation of contaminated sites (Atlas, 1981; Wilson, 1999).

Many researchers enumerate HC utilizing populations using either agar or silica based plates, in an attempt to enumerate HC degraders more easily and rapidly. The difficulty in preparing silica gel plates has limited their general use even though they would probably give more accurate counts (Randall and Hemmingsen, 1994). The use of plates is important for those who are interested in isolating and characterizing bacterial and fungal species of HC degraders. Comparisons are not possible between numbers found from plate counts to those found from liquid medium using most-probable-number technique. Agar based media may contain organic contaminants which would allow nonselective microbial growth, leading to an overestimation of the hydrocarbon degrading population (Walker and Colwell, 1976; Sextone and Atlas, 1977; Atlas, 1978; Randall and Hemmingsen, 1994; Wrenn and Venosa, 1996). One advantage in studying petroleum degradation by the MPN procedure is that it allows the researchers to extract the HC source from the liquid medium for GC analysis. This can confirm that degradation is actually occurring from a change in HC concentration after GC analysis. Various types of liquid media have been used in MPN experiments, from Bushnell-Haas broth designed specifically for isolating HC degraders (Bushnell and Haas, 1941; Song and Bartha, 1990; Williams et al., 1998) to a variety of minimal salts medium having various concentrations of salts (Mills et al., 1978; Margesin and Schinner, 1997), all of

which provide acceptable results for each specific experiment. Mills et al. (1978) evaluated three minimal salts medium, two varying in phosphate concentration (6.2 mM and 32 mM phosphate) and one with no phosphate addition. They found that the medium containing 32 mM phosphate produced the greatest number of HC degraders. Confirmation of growth in the test tubes can be done by simply looking at turbidity (Herbes and Schwall, 1978) or by using a variety of colour indicators such as resazurin (Song and Bartha, 1990; Williams et al., 1998), bromothymol blue (Higashihara et al., 1978), or iodonitrotetrazolium violet (Wrenn and Venosa, 1996). All of these indicators seem to provide a better indication of growth rather than turbidity, which can be difficult to assess when the HC used is very viscous (Atlas, 1979). Some researchers also relied on protein determination for confirmation that turbidity is a reliable indicator of HC degradation (Mills et al., 1978; Wrenn and Venosa, 1996). The type of petroleum contamination will also influence the type of HC used in the MPN experiments. A variety of petroleum products have been used such as crude oil (Higashihara, 1979), kerosene (Higashihara, 1979), light gas oil (Higashihara, 1979), diesel fuel (Wrenn and Venosa, 1996; Margesin and Schinner, 1997), or specific PAH compounds (Herbes and Schwall, 1978; Grosser et al., 1991; Madsen et al., 1992; Kästner et al., 1994; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997). Isolation of specific HC degraders will also influence the type of HC used, such as aliphatic degraders (hexadecane, diesel fuel) or aromatic degraders (PAH compounds). All researchers did seem to use HC concentrations ranging from 1 to 1.4% (Higashihara, 1979; Mills et al., 1978; Song and Bartha, 1990; Kästner et al., 1994; Wrenn and Venosa, 1996; Williams et al., 1998). Due to these many variations
in procedures of the MPN experiments, comparisons of results from the literature becomes next to impossible.

The ability of soil microbes to produce the enzymes necessary to degrade petroleum components introduced into the soil results from the presence of naturally occurring hydrocarbons and structurally related compounds such as fats, waxes, resins, lignin, and tannins. The microbial population in soil is exposed to a diverse group of substrates and as a result selects for organisms with a broad range of enzymatic capabilities. This selective process also favours organisms with the capabilities to degrade complex organics such as petroleum hydrocarbons.

Bacte	ria	Fungi			
Achromobacter	Sarcina	Acremonium	Monilia		
Acinetobacter	Serratia	Aspergillus	Mortierella		
Alcaligenes	Spirillum -	Aureobasidium	Paecilomyces		
Arthrobacter	Streptomyces	Beauveria	Penicillium		
Bacillus	Vibrio	Botrytis	Phoma –		
Brevibacterium	Xanthomonas	Candida	Rhodotorula		
Chromobacterium		Chrysosporium	Saccharomyces		
Corynebacterium		Cladosporium	Scolecobasidium		
Cytophaga		Cochliobolus	Sporobolomyces		
Erwinia		Cylindrocarpon	Sprotrichum		
Flavobacterium		Debaryomyces	Spicaria		
<i>Micrococcus</i>		Fusarium	Tolypocladium		
Mycobacterium		Geotrichum	Torulopsis		
Nocardia		Gliocladium	Trichoderma		
Proteus		Graphium	Verticillium		
Pseudomonas		Humicola			

Table 2.5 Genera of Hydrocarbon-Degrading Bacteria and Fungi Isolated from Soil.

Source: Bossert and Bartha, 1984

2.4.1 Effect of hydrocarbon contamination on soil microbial communities

The impacts of hydrocarbon contamination on the soil microbial communities vary from soil to soil and throughout the contamination event. The initial exposure to petroleum products does not seem to affect the entire microbial population in soils (Jerkinson, 1966; Fuller and Warrick, 1985). Some immediate toxic effects are related to the solvent action of certain HCs on lipid components of the cell membranes, resulting in a decrease in microbial diversity. Liquid HCs containing alkanes, cycloalkanes, and aromatic HC with carbon numbers less than ten will dissolve lipid-containing membranes therefore destroying the microorganisms (Riser-Roberts, 1992). The levels at which a specific compound is toxic may to some extent be site specific as the microbial communities have substantial capacity to adapt to a variety of compounds (Norris, 1994). The most toxic components may volatilize or become immobilized by sorption to soil organic matter, therefore reducing the potential toxicity or inhibitory effect of petroleum HCs.

It is difficult to generalize about the microbial response of soils subjected to oil contamination. The great diversity of soils and variety of petroleum products studied in different geographical and climate regions that do not readily lend themselves to comparison have led to numerous reports that at times appear to be contradictory. The most studied microbial parameters of HC contamination will be further discussed, noting the similarities and/or differences found in the literature.

2.4.1.1 Population distribution of HC utilizers

Many researchers have observed numbers of HC-degraders and their relative abundance in microbial communities increase significantly if HC is bioavailable

(reviewed by Atlas, 1981; Kästner et al., 1994; Williams et al., 1998; Duncan et al., 1997; Duncan et al., 1999; Nyman 1999). In some oil-polluted ecosystems, HC-utilizers can constitute up to 100% of the viable organisms (Atlas, 1981). The addition of petroleum products to soils selectively favours and enriches the microbial population that is able to adapt and utilize the new substrate (Bossert and Bartha, 1984), resulting in a change in the dominant microbial population. A number of studies have demonstrated that the distribution of HC-degrading microorganisms reflects the historical exposure of the environment to hydrocarbons. This has been shown in a variety of soils in a wide distribution of climatic zones, including sub arctic and arctic regions (Sextone and Atlas, 1977; Atlas, 1981; Wilson, 1999).

The predominant hydrocarbon type in the contaminated soil matrix has been found to influence microbial HC-degrading population dynamics. Microorganisms that degrade aromatic HCs are frequently distinct from those that attack aliphatic HCs (Foght *et al.*, 1990; Atlas, 1991; Wrenn and Venosa, 1996). Totally different populations of microorganisms may carry out the degradation of different classes of HCs. In uncontaminated soils, alkane degraders appear to be more common in soil microbial communities than PAH degraders (Wrenn and Venosa, 1996). Kästner *et al.* (1994) found alkane and naphthalene degraders in both uncontaminated and contaminated soils from their study. PAH contaminated soils contained a variety of PAH degrading bacteria using three and four-ring structures as sole carbon sources. These microorganisms were also able to grow on more than one PAH except for those selected of naphthalene as sole carbon source. It has been suggested that the more similar PAHs are structurally, the more likely the oxygenases for initial hydroxylation are also similar (Grosser *et al.*,

1991). Both Kästner *et al.* (1994) and Wrenn and Venosa (1996) observed that pure cultures of PAH degraders were unable to grow on diesel fuel or any of its components. They also found that diesel fuel contaminated soils contained alkane and naphthalene degraders but no other PAH degrading microorganisms. These findings emphasize the importance of distinguishing between aliphatic and aromatic degrading bacteria in HC-contaminated soils.

Kästner *et al.* (1994) studied two contaminated sites having PAH levels of 3700 μ g PAH/g of soil and 2000 μ g PAH/g of soil. Both sites had significant colony forming units of PAH degraders (>10⁷ organisms/g soil) grown on only one PAH, such as naphthalene, phenanthrene, anthracene, and pyrene. They concluded from their results that PAH contaminated soils probably contain significant number of PAH degrading bacteria although a minimum concentration of PAH must be present in the soil in order to select and stimulate the growth of these organisms. Threshold concentrations of PAH contamination in soils that is required to activate PAH degrading microorganisms is currently not known. Thomas *et al.* (1989) reported threshold concentrations from other work, ranging between 5 and 30 μ g/L for naphthalene, phenanthrene, and fluorene in samples of creosote-contaminated ground water. Carmichael and Pfaender (1997) showed that concentration of PAHs greater than background was required for selection and stimulation of HC degraders. For their experiment, background level of PAH in uncontaminated soil was 0.08 μ g/g of soil.

The analysis of HC-degrading genes has identified separate enzymes for alkane and aromatic degradation. The dioxygenase responsible for the first step in the aerobic oxidation of lower molecular weight aromatic hydrocarbons have many similarities,

suggesting that they have a common, although distant, evolutionary origin (Hamann *et al.*, 1999). In contrast, little information is known about bacterial genes encoding proteins for the degradation of higher molecular weight PAH, including phenanthrene, anthracene, pyrene, and fluroanthene (Hamann *et al.*, 1999).

2.4.1.2 Microbial diversity and substrate utilization

The addition of oil-products to soils creates an environmental stress or disturbance generally resulting in a decrease in the diversities of the microbial communities by upsetting the ecological balance of population interactions within the community (Atlas et al., 1991). The change in microbial diversity has been observed through shifts in the substrate utilization patterns and changes in dominant bacterial genera (Wünsche et al., 1995). Wünsche et al. (1995) examined changes in substrate utilization patterns and hydrocarbon utilizing bacteria content in three soils, before and after a ninety-four day incubation period. The soils were one pristine arable soil contaminated with spindle oil (1.2%), one pristine soil left uncontaminated, and a previously mineral oil-contaminated soil. Using three replicates, bioremediation for the three soils was simulated under aerobic conditions in a chamber during the entire incubation. The community of the pristine soil was dominated by species of the genera Bacillus (13% of isolates), Xanthomonas (10%), and Pseudomonas (10%), as well as Cytophaga (9%). In contrast, pseudomonads (24%) dominated in the mineral-oil contaminated soil. During the 94 days of incubation, changes in the composition of the autochthonous microbial community as a consequence of HC utilization were well correlated to an increase of HCutilizing bacteria (from 3.6% to 55% in the spindle-oil contaminated arable soil and form 2.5% to 54% in the long-term contaminated soil). Pseudomonads clearly became

predominant in the "artificially" contaminated arable soil. The results obtained by comparison of the substrate utilization patterns of the two soil communities were in accordance with these previous findings. After the incubation period of the pristine soil contaminated with spindle oil, the total number of substrates utilized decreased insignificantly (from 86 to 82), but considerable shifts took place within the substrate utilization pattern: 16 substrates could no longer be used while 12 new substrates were utilized under the changed conditions. Similar values were also found for the long term polluted soil sample: 19 substrates no longer used while 11 new substrates utilized. Incubation of the unpolluted arable soil without HC addition significantly reduced the number of substrate utilized by 23 substrates, probably caused by the long-term deficiency of substrates during the incubation period. Analysis of these results using principle component analysis (PCA) and cluster analysis clearly indicated the shifts in substrate utilization patterns in the short and long-term contaminated soils. They concluded that the effect must have resulted from similar adaptation processes caused by selective enrichment of HC-utilizing bacteria. In a similar study, Derry et al. (1998) examined soils contaminated for more than three years with creosote. From the analysis of their results using PCA, they found no significant differences in functional microbial diversity between uncontaminated and contaminated soils, possibly reflecting processes of microbial adaptation to creosote contamination. Derry et al. (1998) did not comment on the significance of their observation for understanding adaptation of the microbial community, to the contamination. Adaptation of the microbial community to creosote contamination would require a change in population dynamics in the soil environment, favouring growth and dominance of HC degraders. Perhaps the lack of change in

substrate utilization reflects a return to a steady-state level governed by factors other than substrate supply. Most microbial diversity studies have used soils that were examined shortly after contamination. Atlas *et al.* (1991) found that microbes within disturbed environments demonstrated enhanced physiological tolerances and substrate utilization capabilities. The disturbance may be a basis for selecting populations with increased substrate utilization capabilities and enhanced survival under a variety of conditions.

The age of contamination as well as the concentration of HC present in the soil does seem to affect the metabolic diversity of the soil microflora. Knowledge of the contamination history of a site would help in the interpretation of the changes or shifts in substrate utilization patterns, especially when comparing with adjacent uncontaminated soils.

2.4.1.3 Microbial Activity

In most cases, higher rates of hydrocarbon degradation have been shown to occur in previously contaminated soils compared to uncontaminated soils (McGill *et al.*, 1981; Wilson and Jones, 1993; Geiselbrecht *et al.*, 1996; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997). Since contaminated soils have adapted microbial communities with higher proportions of HC-degraders, they can quickly respond to the presence of HC pollutants. The lack of inhibition at the community level does not necessarily mean an absence of toxicity. Nyman (1999) found that microbial activity was not inhibited by addition of crude oil and concluded that activity was maintained by tolerant species that could metabolize substrates normally used by sensitive species.

Thomas *et al.* (1989) examined the microbial ecology of subsurface pristine soils and slightly creosote contaminated (<0.5 μ g PAH/g) and heavily creosote contaminated (~50

 μ g PAH/g) soils. Slightly contaminated material was taken from the periphery of the spill plume. The depth of soils ranged from 1.2 to 7.7 meters. Except for the heavily contaminated sample, degradation of glucose indicated a metabolically active microflora in all subsurface materials. Toxic levels of organics that were once present in the creosote sludge may have inhibited the microbes from these samples. However, degradation (<40%) of naphthalene, phenanthrene, and 2-methylnaphthalene was observed in both slightly and heavily contaminated materials, but not in pristine material.

Madsen *et al.* (1989) also compared rates of PAH degradation between subsurface soils outside and inside the contaminated (coal tar) zones. The results from their study provided clear qualitative evidence for metabolic adaptation of the subsurface microbial community to PAHs compounds. They found that ¹⁴C-naphthalene and ¹⁴C-phenanthrene were mineralized (<12%) by samples from inside but not outside the plume of contamination after two weeks incubation at 20°C.

The rate of degradation, especially for PAHs, was found to be directly proportional to the initial concentration in soil (Carmichael and Pfaender, 1996) and upon the presence of lower molecular weight (LMW) aromatics (Atlas and Atlas, 1991). Carmichael and Pfaender (1996) compared percent ¹⁴C-phenanthrene recoveries between contaminated (269 mg PAH/kg) and uncontaminated (0.082 mg PAH/kg) surface soils and found significant differences (60% recovery for contaminated soil and >10% recovery for uncontaminated soil) indicating microbial adaptation to previous contamination. The finding that enzymes for degrading at least some PAHs, especially higher molecular weight structures, are not induced by the substrate itself is important and may explain the apparent resistance of these compounds to microbial attack (Atlas and Atlas, 1991).

Higher rates of degraded benzo[a]pyrene were found in the presence of other LMW aromatics (Grosser *et al.*, 1991; Weissenfels *et al.*, 1992). Rogoff (1962) suggested that the more similar PAHs are structurally, the more likely the oxygenases for initial hydroxylation are also similar. At low contaminant concentrations (<100 μ g PAH/g soil), degradation may be occurring very slowly, and would increase with continued contaminant application (Field *et al.*, 1995).

2.4.1.4 Correlations between microbial enumeration, diversity, and activity

In some studies, investigators have found that petroleum application to soil increased activity and total microbial counts, as well as shifts in the composition of the microbial community attributed to the abundance of indigenous HC degraders (Atlas, 1981; Bossert and Bartha, 1984; Song and Bartha, 1990; Wünsche et al., 1995). In contrast, some researchers have found inconsistent relationships between the numbers of HC degrading microorganisms and the extent of HC degradation, in some cases soils which usually had the largest amounts of degradation did not have the greatest number of HC degraders (Grosser et al., 1991; Miethe et al., 1994; Geiselbrecht et al., 1996; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997). Many researchers have found good responses in microbial activity and numbers through the addition of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizer amendments to the contaminated soils (Atlas, 1991; Widrig and Manning, 1995; Braddock et al., 1997; Duncan et al., 1997; Wilson, 1999). Grosser et al. (1991) discovered that continuous inputs of PAHs produced an increased ability within the microbial community to utilize certain PAHs, by selecting PAH degraders. As discussed in the previous sections, the initial concentration of HC contaminants does seem to be an important factor in selecting and stimulating appropriate HC degrading microbes. Concentrations of previous

exposure required to induce increased HC degrading activity are not consistent and may reflect the influence of other environmental constraints.

Comparisons between correlation results obtained in the literature are difficult as no two contamination scenarios are the same. Results of microbial enumeration, diversity, and activity from contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils do seem to provide important information on the effects of HC contamination and the possibilities for implementing intrinsic remediation.

CHAPTER 3

DESCRIPTION OF SITES AND SOILS

3.1 Contaminated soils

The objective of this project was designed to examine characteristics of the microbial population in previously contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils from Manitoba and not the rate of remediation occurring on site. A survey of historical contaminated sites was done in consultation with Manitoba Hydro, which is responsible for several hydrocarbon contaminated locations across the province. Manitoba Hydro collected soil samples from three locations, Thicket Portage, Pikwitonei, and Brandon. The location of the sites in Manitoba can be found in Figure 3.1. As this study required the use of contaminated soil samples from Manitoba, arrangements were made with Manitoba Hydro for the supply of contaminated samples from some of their contaminated sites. As part of Manitoba Hydro procedure in dealing with their contaminated sites, all soils from the contaminated areas were sampled by their personnel, which recorded detailed descriptions of each sample at every site (see Appendix for drill log data). Site maps, provided by Manitoba Hydro (Figure 3.2 to 3.4), show the locations at which the contaminated and uncontaminated (contaminant levels below detection limit) samples were taken. The site maps were used to provide information of the suitability of uncontaminated soil samples to be used as uncontaminated control samples for the degradation studies. The information provided by Manitoba Hydro of these sites was sufficient to meet the objectives of this study and did not require visitation of these remote areas. Comparisons between contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils were done at similar depths.

Contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soil samples from Somerset, collected by Enbridge Pipeline personnel, were also used in this study. The contaminated sample was taken by the Enbridge personnel within the contaminated area, while the uncontaminated sample was taken outside of the area. Site map of the area (Figure 3.5) show the location at which the contaminated and uncontaminated (contamination levels below detection limit) samples were taken. A more detailed site description of the spill site can be found in Timmerman (1999).

Due to the lack of contaminated soil samples, only uncontaminated soils from each area were analysed for particle size, field capacity, while all contaminated and uncontaminated soils were analysed for pH, and electrical conductivity (Table 3.1). The determination of all soil properties was done using composite samples ranging in depth to compensate for the lack of soil samples (Table 3.1). Manitoba Soil Survey (Winnipeg, MB) performed the particle size analysis according to the method of Haluschak (1986).



Figure 3.1. Map of Manitoba indicating location from which soils were sampled; (1) Thicket Portage, (2) Pikwitonei, (3) Brandon, (4) Somerset, (5) St.Claude, (6) Glenlea, (7) north of Brandon.

Legal descriptions, soil series, and classification for all the contaminated sites can be found in Table 3.2

Site and Depth	Particle Size Analysis		Texture	Field Capacity	рH	Electrical Conductivity (dS/m)	
(meters)	%sand	%silt	%clay		(%)		
Thicket Portage uncontaminated (0.5-2.0)	0	12	88	heavy clay	37.4±0.3	7.9	0.48
Thicket Portage* (0.5-2.0)	**	**	••	••	**	7.5	0.38
Pikwitonei uncontaminated (0.5-2.5)	0	13	87	heavy clay	37.4±0.3	7.8	0.39
Pikwitonei* (0.5-2.5)	**	**			**	7.5	0.48
Brandon A uncontaminated (1.5-3.0)	88	7	5	coarse sand	8.5±0.2	8.1	0.40
Brandon A* (1.5-3.0)	**	**	**	**	**	7.5	0.51
Brandon B uncontaminated (1.5-4.5)	20	25	56	silty loam	16.1±0.7	7.3	1.98
Brandon B* (1.5-4.5)	**	**	**	-	**	6.9	1.85
Somerset (0-0.15)	19	47 -	34	clay loam	39.7±0.8	7.7	0.77

Table 3.1 Soil properties for contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils.

*contaminated soils **values assumed to be similar to uncontaminated soils

Table 3.2 Soil	classification and	i legal descri	ption of	contaminated sites.
----------------	--------------------	----------------	----------	---------------------

Site	Soil Series	Soil Classification	Site Location
Thicket Portage	Wabowden	N.A.*	5-73-2W
Pikwitonei	Wabowden	N.A.	13-76-2E
Brandon coarse sand	Marringhurst	N.A .	SW 24-10-19W
Brandon silty loam	Assiniboine	N.A .	SW 24-10-19W
Somerset	Joyale	Gleyed Rego Black Chernozem	SW 32-4-9W

* not available

3.1.1 Thicket Portage And Pikwitonei

Manitoba Hydro collected diesel-contaminated and uncontaminated soil samples from Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei, in July of 1998, from storage facilities for dieselpowered electricity generators. Both towns are located along the Hudson Bay Railroad, south of Thompson, in an area designated as the "Northern Clay Belt" (Ehrlich et al, 1959). These soils were developed on lacustrine clay and form part of the Wabowden soil series. Diesel-powered electricity generation was first provided in September 1965 and July 1966 for Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei, respectively and continued until April 1997. Manitoba Hydro sampled both locations in July 1998. All samples were stored at 4°C until analysis. Log data recorded by Manitoba Hydro personnel of each sample studied for both sites can be found in the Appendix.

For soils from Pikwitonei, two uncontaminated soil samples, uncontaminated 1 and uncontaminated 2, were taken from two different auger holes (Figure 3.2). Uncontaminated 1 samples were taken from three different depth intervals (0.75-1.0 m, 1.25-1.75 m, and 2.0-2.5 m) while uncontaminated 2 was taken from only one depth (2.5-3.0 m). Two contaminated soil samples, contaminated 1 and contaminated 2, were taken from two different auger holes. Contaminated 1 samples were taken from the same depth intervals at uncontaminated 1, while contaminated 2 was taken from the same depth as uncontaminated 2. An aerial map supplied by Manitoba Hydro provides a description of the area from which both uncontaminated and contaminated samples were taken.

For soils from Thicket Portage, uncontaminated samples were taken from the same auger hole at two different depths (0.2-1.0 meters and 1.5-2.0 meters) while the contaminated soil samples were also taken from the same auger hole at the same depths. A drawn aerial map supplied by Manitoba Hydro (Figure 3.3) provides a description of the area from which both uncontaminated and contaminated samples were taken.



Figure 3.2 Drawn aerial map of Pikwitonei contaminated area including location of auger holes from which soils from this study were sampled.





Figure 3.3 Aerial map of Thicket Portage contaminated area including location of auger holes from which soils from this study were taken.

3.1.2 Brandon

Soils from this industrial site were primarily contaminated with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. This facility used to produce manufactured gas from coal from 1910 to 1949. The plant was initially operated by Brandon Gas and Power Company and was succeeded in 1922 by Canada Gas and Electrical Corporation. The plant was operated by private enterprise until 1931 after which Manitoba Power Commission took over its operation. The plant was eventually inherited by Manitoba Hydro, which used the property as a warehouse/stores operation, complete with pole yard. Manitoba Hydro collected samples from October 1997 to January 1998. All samples were stored at 4°

until analysis. Log data recorded by Manitoba Hydro personnel of each sample used in this study can be found in the Appendix.

Results of particle size analysis of soils from this area revealed soils of two textural classes, coarse sand and silty loam. A study by Carmichael *et al.* (1997) discovered a relationship between the fraction of silt and clay in contaminated soils and the percent of ¹⁴C-PAH mineralized. Based on this finding, microbial experiments would be performed on this site by grouping the soils according to their textural classes. Although the finding by Carmichael *et al.* (1997) was concluded from only the determination of microbial respiration, it was decided that all experiments should be conducted following the same procedure to remain consistent throughout. However, the lack of soil samples varying in depth prevented some comparisons between contaminated and uncontaminated of similar textures. For this reason, some contaminated sand soils were compared to uncontaminated loam soils at three different depths (Table 3.5).

As previously mentioned, soils from this site were divided according to texture. Table 3.3 provides a description of the sand soils from the Brandon contaminated site according to auger hole (Figure 3.6).

Texture	CTM ^a or UNCTM ^b	Depth (m)	Auger hole ^c
Sand	UNCTM	1.5-2.0	Uncontaminated Sand 1
Sand	UNCTM	2.6-3.2	Uncontaminated Sand 2
Sand	UNCTM	3.1-3.7	Uncontaminated Sand 1
Sand	СТМ	1.5-2.0	Contaminated Sand 1
Sand	CTM	2.6-3.2	Contaminated Sand 1
Sand	CTM	2.6-3.2	Contaminated Sand 2
Sand	CTM	3.1-3.7	Contaminated Sand 1

Table 3.3 Description of contaminated and uncontaminated sand soils from Brandon.

a = contaminated, b = uncontaminated, c = see Fig 3.4

Table 3.4 provides a summary of the pairings between contaminated and uncontaminated sand soils according to depth used for this study.

Table 3.4 Pairings between contaminated and uncontaminated sand soils from Brandon according to depth used throughout this study.

Depth (m)	Uncontaminated	Contaminated
1.5-2.0	Uncontaminated Sand 1	Contaminated Sand 1
2.6-3.1	Uncontaminated Sand 1	Contaminated Sand 1 and Sand 2
3.1-3.7	Uncontaminated Sand 2	Contaminated Sand 1

Table 3.5 provides a description of the contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from the Brandon site according to auger hole location. As was previously discussed, due to the lack of samples from the contaminated site from Brandon, some contaminated sand soils were compared to uncontaminated loam soils (italicized).

Texture	CTM [®] or UNCTM [®]	Depth (m)	Auger hole ^c
silty loam	UNCTM	1.5-2.0	Uncontaminated loam 1
silty loam	UNCTM	2.0-2.5	Uncontaminated loam 1
silty loam	UNCTM	2.75-3.5	Uncontaminated loam 1
silty loam	UNCTM	3.5-4.0	Uncontaminated loam 1
silty loam	UNCTM	4.0-4.5	Uncontaminated loam 1
silty loam	СТМ	1.5-2.0	Contaminated loam 1
silty loam	СТМ	2.0-2.5	Contaminated loam 2
silty loam	CTM	2.75-3.5	Contaminated loam 2
sand	CTM	2.75-3.5	Contaminated sand 2
sand	CTM	3.5-4.0	Contaminated sand 2
loam	СТМ	4.0-4.5	Contaminated loam 1
sand	СТМ	4.0-4.5	Contaminated sand 2

Table 3.5 Description of contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Contaminated sand soils used for comparisons with uncontaminated loam soils are italicized.

a = contaminated, b = uncontaminated, c = see Fig 3.4

Table 3.6 provides a summary of the pairings between contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils according to depth used for this study. The exceptions being the three contaminated sand soils (in italics) being compared to uncontaminated loam soils.

Table 3.6	Pairings	between	contaminated	and u	Incontaminat	ed loam	soils from
Bran	don accor	ding to d	epth used thro	ughout	t this study.	Contami	nated sand
soils	used in the	se pairing	s with unconta	minate	ed loam soils :	are italiciz	zed.

Depth (m)	Uncontaminated	Contaminated
1.5-2.0	Uncontaminated loam 1	Contaminated loam 1
2.0-2.5	Uncontaminated loam 1	Contaminated loam 2
2.75-3.5	Uncontaminated loam 1	Contaminated loam 2 and Contaminated sand 2
3.5-4.0	Uncontaminated loam 1	Contaminated sand 2
4.0-4.5	Uncontaminated loam 1	Contaminated loam 1 and Contaminated sand 2



LEGEND BG-043 \bigoplus auger hole number \longrightarrow chain link fence



3.1.3 Somerset

A pipeline leak in October 1994 caused the release of crude oil onto agricultural land near the town of Somerset, MB. Soil was collected from the contaminated area as well and adjacent uncontaminated soil. Soils were sampled to a depth of 15 cm and were stored in plastic pails at 4°C prior to the start of the experiments. Enbridge Pipeline personnel sampled the soil in late September 1999. This site was also used in a study of the effects of a crude oil spill on crop productivity and biological quality and the potential for phytoremediation (Timmerman, 1999). Results of particle size analysis for the uncontaminated soil can be found in Table 3.7.



Figure 3.5 Aerial map of Somerset contaminated area including location of auger holes from which soils from this study were taken.

3.2 Agricultural soils

Three soils of varying texture from Glenlea, Brandon, and St. Claude (see map of Manitoba, Fig. 3.1) were sampled to assess the size of the native population of hydrocarbon-degraders in uncontaminated agricultural soils. These soils were chosen for their differences in textures and geographical location, providing a good range of the various soil types found in Manitoba. The soil was collected at intervals of 0-10 cm and 90-100 cm. Replicates were completed in quadruplicate and stored in airtight plastic bags at 4°C until the beginning of the experiments. Sampling of the soils was done in early September (1999) using Dutch augers.

Results of particle size analysis for both surface and subsurface soils can be found in Table 3.7. Description of soil series, classification, as well as legal description can be found in Table 3.8. Determination of field capacity, pH, and electrical conductivity for these agricultural soils can be found in Table 3.9.

Site	Partic	Texture		
	%sand	%silt	%clay	
Somerset (UNCTM*)	13	44	43	clay loam
Glenlea 0-10 cm	4	19	77	heavy clay
90-100 cm	1	46	83	heavy clay
Brandon 0-10 cm	29	34	37	clay loam
90-100 cm	33	35	32	clay loam
St.Claude 0-10 cm	87	4	9	sand
90-100 cm	91	3	6	sand
*				

Table 3.7 Particle size analyses and texture of agricultural soils selected for enumeration study.

*uncontaminated

Site	Soil series	Soil classification	Site location
Glenlea	Osborne	Rego humic Gleysol	SW 3-8-3E
St.Claude	Almasippi	Gleyed rego black Chernozem	SE 10-9-8W
Brandon	Newdale	Orthic Black Chernozem	NE 31-12-18W

Table 3.8 Soil classification and location of agricultural sites used in this study.

Table 3.9 Soil properties of agricultural soils.

Site	Field Capacity (%)	рĦ	EC (dS/m)
Glenlea 0-10cm	51.3±1.4	6.1	1.03
Glenlea 90-100cm	50.1±0.3	7.9	1.84
St.Claude 0-10cm	27.3±1.5	7.8	0.30
St.Claude 90-100cm	12.6 ± 2.0	8.5	0.12
Brandon 0-10cm	36.6±2.5	7.0	0.73
Brandon 90-100cm	29.5±0.8	8.0	2.30
Somerset	34.6±1.7	7.6	1.07
Uncontaminated			

3.3 Hydrocarbon extraction

Ultrasonic extraction method (US EPA method 3550B) was used for the extraction of diesel fuel from the contaminated soils from Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei and PAHs from the contaminated soils from Brandon. This was done to get an indication of the contamination level of the various soil samples. This extraction method has proven to be an efficient method for the extraction of organic compounds from soils (Brilis *et al.*, 1990; Chen *et al.*, 1996; Evans *et al.*, 1998). All soils were extracted in duplicate. Previously contaminated and uncontaminated soil samples including agricultural soils were analysed for TEH or PAHs using gas chromatographic techniques with flame ionization detection.

3.3.1 Gas chromatography

All hydrocarbon extraction of the various contaminated soil samples were analysed by Varian Star 3400Cx gas chromatograph with flame ionization detector. A J&W Scientific column (DB-5MS) with a 30 m length, 250 µm diameter, and 0.25 µm thickness was used to analyse the hydrocarbons. Compressed air (300 mL/min), carrier gas (prepurified helium 1.2 mL/min), and fuel (prepurified hydrogen 3 mL/min) were also used in the analysis. Each injection was run on a preset program using the Star Chromatography Software (Copyright[®] 1989-1995, Varian Associates, Inc., v. 4.02).

For diesel fuel or total extractable hydrocarbons (TEH) analysis of contaminated sites from Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei, a 2 μ L sample was injected into the GC inlet. The injection temperature was 275°C and the detector temperature was 300°C. The oven parameters were: initiation temperature and time, 50°C for 4 minutes; program rate, 10°C/min; final temperature and time were 250°C for 5 min. Total run time was 30 minutes. This procedure was also used for the extraction of diesel fuel in test tubes from MPN experiment (see section 3.4.5.1).

For phenanthrene analysis, a 1 μ L sample was injected into the GC inlet. This volume was adequate for a good peak response from the detector. The injection temperature was 275°C and the detector temperature was 275°C. The oven parameters were: initiation temperature and time, 125°C for 2.5 minutes; program rate, 20°C/min; final temperature and time were 275°C for 2 min. Total run time was 12 minutes.

For the determination of PAHs in contaminated soils from Brandon, a 1 μ L sample of soil extract was injected into the GC inlet. Both injector and detector temperatures were maintained at 285°C. The temperature gradient consisted of two minute hold time at 50°C, a ramp to 130°C at 30°C/min followed by three minute hold time, a ramp to 240°C at 7°C/min, and a final ramp to 290°C at 12°C/min with a 7.47 minute hold time. Total run time was 35 minutes.

3.3.2 TEH determination

A 15 g soil sample was used for the analysis of total extractable hydrocarbons (TEH). For only heavy clay soils, an equal amount of sodium sulphate was used to make the sample free flowing. A mixture of 1:1 acetone and hexane (30 mL) was used as the extraction solvent. The sample-solvent slurry was sonicated for 2 minutes at 100% output and 50% duty cycle using a Model VibroCell 500 Sonic & Material. Following sonication, the sample was centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes and the supernatant was decanted into a screw-capped glass vial. Sonication and centrifugation were performed twice for each sample. Samples with low levels of TEH (<1000 μ g/g) were concentrated by N₂ bleeding in a heated water bath (40°C). Extracts were analysed by gas chromatographic techniques previously mentioned.

3.3.3 PAH determination

Samples from each PAH-contaminated soil from Brandon were spiked with a 0.5 mL solution of surrogate compounds two hours prior to extraction as a quality control. The surrogate spiking solution contained naphthalene- d_8 , spiked at a level of 20 mg/kg into the soils. A 15 g soil sample was used for the analysis of PAHs. For heavy clay soils, an equal amount of sodium sulphate was used to make the sample free flowing by removing excess water within the soil.

A mixture of 3:1 dichloromethane and acetone (30 mL) was used as the extraction solvent. Sonication procedures were similar to those mentioned in the previous section. Soil extracts were analysed for the following four PAHs: naphthalene, phenanthrene, pyrene, and benzo[a]pyrene.

3.4 TEH and PAHs levels

The concentrations of TEH found in soils from Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei are summarised in Table 3.10. Concentrations of naphthalene, phenanthrene, pyrene, and benzo[a]pyrene for the Brandon contaminated site can be found in Table 3.12. All sites were shown to have high concentrations of contaminant present according to the criteria determined and enforced by Manitoba Conservation. Levels of PAHs in the contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Somerset were below detection limit (Table 3.11). Extraction efficiencies for diesel ranged from 75% to 100% with an average recovery of approximately 87%. PAH extraction efficiencies from recovery of naphthalene-d₈ ranged from 68% to 85% with an average recovery of approximately 77%.

Site and Depths (m)	TEH (µg/g)
TP Contaminated 1 (0.5-1.0)	6500
TP Uncontaminated 1 (0.5-1.0)	<5*
TP Contaminated 1 (1.5-2.0)	5200
TP Uncontaminated (1.5-2.0)	<5
Pik Contaminated 1 (0.75-1.0)	4400
Pik Uncontaminated 1 (0.75-1.0)	<5
Pik Contaminated 1 (1.25-1.75)	5700
Pik Uncontaminated 1 (1.25-1.75)	<5
Pik Contaminated 1 (1.75-2.25)	5600
Pik Uncontaminated 1 (1.75-2.25)	<5
Pik Contaminated 1 (2.0-2.5)	2200
Pik Uncontaminated 1 (2.0-2.5)	<5
Pik Contaminated 2 (2.5-3.0)	700
Pik Uncontaminated 2 (2.5-3.0)	<5
Acceptable Limits Level 1 (residential) **	500
Level 2 (commercial)	2000
Level 3 (industrial)	2000

Table 3.10 Concentrations of total extractable hydrocarbon in Thicket Portage (TP) and Pikwitonei (Pik) soil samples.

* less than limit of detection $(5 \mu g/g)$

**Manitoba Conservation Remediation Criteria

(Manitoba Environment, 1993).

Table 3.11 (Concentrations	of PAHs	and TEH	in soils	from Somerset.
--------------	----------------	---------	---------	----------	----------------

Site and Depth (cm)	CTM [*] or UNCTM [*]	µg PAH/g soil	TEH (µg/g)
Somerset 0-15	UNCTM	<5°	<5
Somerset 0-15	CTM	<5	<5

a = contaminated, b = uncontaminated, c = less than limit of detection $(5\mu g/g)$

Table 3.12 Concentration of PAHs (µg/g) in soil samples from Brandon contaminated site.

Site and depth	Benzo[a]pyrene	Pyrene	Phenanthrene	Naphthalene
Contaminated Sand 1				
1.5 -2.0 m	27	34	14	<0.1*
2.6-3.2m	<0.1	0.5	0.6	<0.1
3.1-3.7m	<0.1	0.5	0.3	<0.1
Uncontaminated Sand 1				
1.5 -2.0m	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
2.6-3.2m	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Contaminated Sand 2				
2.6-3.2m	6	13	5	<0.1
3.1-3.5m	145	1500	2000	80
3.5-4.0m	130	1450	1500	40
4.0-4.5m	110	1300	1900	50
Uncontaminated Sand 2				
3.1-3.7m	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Contaminated Loam 1				
1.5 - 2.0m	170	1400	1300	120
4.0-4.5m	1.3	4.3	4.0	0.4
Uncontaminated Loam 1				
1.5 - 2.0m	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
2.0-2.5m	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
2.75-3.5m	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
3.5-4.0m	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
4.0-4.5m	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Contaminated Loam 2				
2.0 - 2.5m	120	1300	1700	60
2.75-3.5m	70	780	1700	1200
Remediation Criteria				
Land Use				
Agricultural	**0.1	0.1	0.1	**0.1
Residential/Parkland	**0.7	10	5	**0.6
Commercial	**0.7	100	50	**22
Industrial	**0.7	100	50	**22

*less than limit of detection (0.1 µg/g)

**indicates criteria taken from the CCME Recommended Canadian Soil Quality Guideline (March 1997) otherwise the criteria shown are from the CCME Interim Canadian Environmental Quality Criteria for Contaminated Soils. The suitability of all the uncontaminated soil samples from all the contaminated sites was confirmed by the finding of contamination levels below detection. Although no contaminants were detected in the uncontaminated soils, the possibility of previous hydrocarbon exposure cannot be ruled out. Based on these findings, the use of these uncontaminated samples for comparisons with adjacent contaminated material is appropriate.

All agricultural surface and subsurface soils were also tested for the presence of both total extractable hydrocarbons and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (Table 3.13). The possibility of previous hydrocarbon exposure onto these soils cannot be ruled out. The suitability of all agricultural soils as uncontaminated soils was confirmed by the results obtained by GC indicating contaminant levels below detection limit.

Site and Depth (cm)	TEH (µg/g)	µg PAH/g soil
Glenlea 0-10	<5*	<0.1**
90-100	<5	<0.1
Brandon 0-10	<5	<0.1
90-100	<5	<0.1
St.Claude 0-10	<5	<0.1
90-100	<5	<0.1

Table 3.13 Concentration of TEH and PAHs in agricultural surface and subsurface soils.

* less than limit of detection $(5\mu g/g)$

** less than limit of detection $(0.1\mu g/g)$

CHAPTER 4

THE ENUMERATION OF DIESEL AND PHENANTHRENE DEGRADING BACTERIA AS A MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR INTRINSIC REMEDIATION

4.1 Abstract

A most-probable-number (MPN) procedure was used to enumerate the two major groups of hydrocarbon (HC) degraders (aliphatic and aromatic) from soils previously contaminated with diesel fuel, coal tar, and crude oil. Adjacent uncontaminated soils sampled to allow an evaluation of the adaptation of the soil microbial community to the presence of HC-contaminants. In a parallel study, agricultural soils varying in texture were taken from three locations in Manitoba to determine the potential of their microbial populations to degrade hydrocarbons. These samples were collected from 0-10 cm and 90-100 cm depths in order to compare surface and subsurface HC-degrading populations.

All uncontaminated soils, except for two subsurface samples, yielded microbial populations capable of aliphatic and aromatic degradation. In most cases, contaminated soils yielded greater microbial numbers than their respective uncontaminated soils. This study confirms the ubiquitous distribution of both aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbon degraders in native microbial populations found in uncontaminated and agricultural soils throughout the soil profile. Preexposure to contaminants generally resulted in increased

numbers of HC degraders, reflecting the development and adaptation of the appropriate microbial communities, through either growth or enzyme induction.

4.2 Introduction

The increasing use of petroleum hydrocarbons (HCs) has led to an increase in the probability of spills contaminating terrestrial environments across Canada. Increased environmental awareness of this problem has resulted in efforts to remediate these sites (CCME, 1991). The recognition of oil as a complex but largely biodegradable mixture of HC and the knowledge that microbial degraders can be enriched in many, if not most, types of environments (Atlas, 1981) has contributed greatly in the development of oil bioremediation techniques (Morgan et al., 1989; Margesin and Schinner, 1996). The microbiological decontamination of oil-polluted soils is claimed to be an efficient, economic, versatile, and ecologically acceptable remediation alternative (Bartha, 1986). Petroleum is a complex mixture of many thousands of compounds, which can be divided into four major groups: alkanes, aromatics, resins, and asphaltenes. Alkanes are generally the most biodegradable fraction whereas polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are of intermediate biodegradability (Wrenn and Venosa, 1996). Degradation of PAHs in nature proceeds very slowly, resulting in their long-term persistence. PAHs are of most concern due to their toxicity and tendency to bioaccumulate. It has been suggested that the number of bacteria able to metabolize PAHs in the soil is too low to support PAH degradation in the environment (Kästner et al., 1994). Enumeration of hydrocarbon degraders has been found to be accomplished more reliably by MPN

procedures than with agar based media, because they do not utilize media containing impurities found in highly purified agars which may support the growth of nonhydrocarbon degrading bacteria (Walker and Colwell, 1976; Sextone and Atlas, 1977; Randall and Hemmingsen, 1994; Wrenn and Venosa, 1996). Agar based media may contain organic contaminants which would allow nonselective microbial growth, leading to an overestimation of the hydrocarbon degrading population (Atlas, 1978).

Degradation rate of petroleum compounds has been shown to increase as the population adapts to the presence of the contaminant (Atlas, 1991; Wilson and Jones, 1993; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997). A number of factors relating the environment of degradation including soil texture and extent of previous contamination will influence the degradation of these compounds, in relation to the adaptive response of the soil microbial community (Atlas, 1991; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997). Knowledge of the potential of the soil microbial population to degrade HC through enumeration procedures may allow an assessment of the suitability of intrinsic remediation and may support its recommendation as a remedial option.

4.3 Objective of Study

The objective of this study was to enumerate the native microbial hydrocarbon (HC) degrading population in a range of Manitoba soils including: agricultural soils varying in texture at surface and subsurface depths; and sites with previous hydrocarbon exposure in relation to adjacent uncontaminated soils, at a variety of depths. The utility of enumeration as a potential management tool for intrinsic remediation will be considered.

4.4 Materials and Methods

4.4.1 Soils

Information pertaining to all soils, contaminated, adjacent uncontaminated, and agricultural, has been described in Chapter 3.

4.4.2 Most Probable Number (MPN) method

The MPN procedure (Alexander, 1982) was used to evaluate the numbers of HCdegrading microorganisms in all the soil samples, contaminated and uncontaminated. Numbers from contaminated sites were compared to their respective uncontaminated sites according to depth. The HC-degrading microbial communities were quantified using Bushnell-Haas (BH) medium with resazurin (Song and Bartha, 1990; Williams et al., 1998). Resazurin is a growth indicator that changes colour, resulting from the reduction of resazurin by microbial oxygen consumption, easily identifying growth. Filter sterilized diesel fuel or phenanthrene was used as the sole carbon and energy sources for the enumeration of aliphatic or aromatic degraders, respectively. As diesel fuel is primarily composed of aliphatic HC, it was used as an indicator of the number of alkane degraders (Wrenn and Venosa, 1996). The numbers of HC degraders were expressed as the means and standard errors of the most probable number (MPN) g⁻¹ of dry soil. MPNs were determined by using five test tubes of BH (10 mL), diesel or phenanthrene, and resazurin for each soil dilution. Inocula from serial dilutions of 10 g of soil in 90 mL of sterile water (1:10 dilution), ranging from 10⁻¹ to 10⁻⁸ were taken. A 1 mL sample of phenanthrene was added to the test tubes as a solution in acetone (10 g/L). The acetone was allowed to evaporate under sterile conditions. For MPN-diesel, 50 µL of diesel fuel

filtered through a 0.2 μ m-pore size PTFE membrane was added after inoculation. Test tubes were incubated at 20°C for one to two weeks.

Two sets of diluted contaminated soil samples, as well as uncontaminated soil samples were examined. One set contained diesel fuel while the other set did not. For the HC supplemented samples, the procedure determined the MPN of hydrocarbon degraders compared to the MPN of degrading microorganisms using non-hydrocarbon organic matter in the soil

4.4.2.1 Analysis of Hydrocarbons

After incubation for MPN experiment, two culture broths for each soil for the same dilution were shaken with 20 mL of hexane in order to extract residual hydrocarbon. The mixture was then centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 10 minutes at 5°C to remove the cells. This procedure was repeated twice. The extracts were concentrated (from 10 mL to 2 mL) by N₂ bleeding in a heated water bath (40°C) and analysed by gas chromatographic techniques (see Chap 3, section 3.3.1 for details).

Hydrocarbon degradation was calculated on the basis of the residual hydrocarbon in sterile controls run under the same conditions.

4.4.2.2 MPN and TEH time assay

A time course of population growth and hydrocarbon degradation using contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Somerset was conducted using the MPN procedure. Triplicate samples of thirty grams of soil (oven dry basis) were weighed into 60 mL glass vials and wet to field capacity. The soils were incubated at room temperature for approximately two months before the start of the experiment. After the incubation period, the vials containing the soil were placed into screwed capped 500 mL glass jars.

A 15 mL vial containing 10 mL water (pH 3) was included to humidify the air. Each sample of soil was contaminated with 5000 μ g/g of diesel fuel in hexane (carrier solvent) and later placed in a fumehood to allow the hexane to volatilize. Time zero samples from both contaminated and uncontaminated soils were analysed in triplicate for both MPN and total extractable hydrocarbons (TEH) to determine initial numbers and concentrations, respectively. The time assay experiment was for a six-week period, with an MPN and TEH determinations done every week. Analysis of TEH remaining in the test tubes after MPN experiment for both contaminated and uncontaminated soils was also conducted to identify the rate of degradation. The MPN and both TEH determinations followed the procedures previously mentioned in this section. Sterile soils from both contaminated and uncontaminated sites were also included to determine the amount of diesel fuel loss from volatilization. Sterilization was achieved by autoclaving the soil at 121°C for 15 minutes.

4.4.3 Statistical Analysis

T-tests were conducted using SAS (Statistical Analysis System, SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

4.5 Results

4.5.1 Most Probable Number of Diesel Degraders

Table 4.4 reports the most probable number assessment of HC degraders obtained using diesel fuel as the sole source of carbon and energy for microbial growth in the MPN procedure.

4.5.1.1 Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei

Significantly ($p \le 0.05$) greater numbers of diesel degraders were detected in contaminated soils relative to uncontaminated soils at all depths for both Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei (Table 4.4). A decrease in microbial numbers was visible with increasing depth, except for the uncontaminated soil from the Pikwitonei site at depth of 1.25-1.75 metres. Although numbers were greater for the contaminated soils, hydrocarbondegraders were also found at all depths for both uncontaminated soils. Control samples were used to confirm that the colour change in the test tubes was indicative of diesel degradation. Low background TEH values allowed these tubes to be used to confirm that colour change in the test tubes was indicative of diesel degradation. Confirmation of diesel degradation from decreased levels of diesel fuel (TEH) in uncontaminated soils is summarized in Table 4.5, for Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei.
Table 4.1Average most probable numbers of diesel degraders in contaminated versus uncontaminated soils according to depth (± standard deviation).

Site	Depth (m)	Uncontaminated soils MPN	Contaminated soils MPN	t-test (a=0.05)
Thicket Portage	0.2-1.0	420±160	51000±26000	S*
	1.5-2.0	150±80	6000±2900	S
Pikwitonei	0.75-1.0	90±8	57000±34000	S
	1.25-1.75	2 ± 2	9000±3900	S
	1.75-2.25	61±50	6600±3600	S
	2.0 - 2.5	35±14	2200±1400	S
	2.5-3.0	<u>9±6</u>	<u>340±200</u>	S
Brandon (sand)	1.5-2.15	4300±2000	3300± 2500(sand 1)	NS⁵
	2.6-3.1	65±60	230±100 (sand 1)	S
	2.6-3.1		227000±110000 (sand 2)	S
	3.1-3.7	2700±500	940± 500(sand 1)	S
Brandon (loam)	1.5-2.0	540±380	21400±13000 (loam 1)	S
	2.0-2.5	55 ±4 0	14000±9200 (loam 2)	S
	2.75-3.5	2800±1900	150±80 (loam 2)	S
	2.75 - 3.5		60000±30000 (sand 2)	S
	3.5-4.0	15±7	63000±26000 (sand 2)	S
	4.0-4.5	3±2	200±0 (loam 1)	S
	4.0-4.5		9200±50 (sand 2)	S

a = significantly different, b = not significantly different

Table 4.2Confirmation of diesel fuel degradation from decreased levels of TEH $(\mu g/g)$ in test tubes from MPN experiment for uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage, Pikwitonei, and Brandon (± standard deviation).

Site	Depth (m)	TEH in test tubes (sterile)	TEH in test tubes (innoculated)
Thicket Portage	0.2-1.0	5100±70	3600
	1.5-2.0		4500
Pikwitonei	0.75-1.0	5300±50	4800±70
	1.25-1.75		4700±50
	1.75-2.25		5000 ± 70
	2.0-2.5		5000
	2.5-3.0		5100
Brandon (sand)	1.5-2.15	5200±100	4600± 70 (sand 1)
	2.6-3.1		4800±70 (sand 2)
	3.1-3.7		4700±70 (sand 1)
Brandon (loam)	1.5-2.0	5200±100	4600±70 (loam 1)
	2.0-2.5		4700±70 (loam 1)
	2.75-3.5		4800 (loam 1)
	4.0-4.5		4900 ± 100 (loam 1)

4.5.1.2 Brandon

Comparisons of soils were done according to their textural classes determined from particle size analysis (Table 4.4). Due to the limited number samples of the loam textured soils, a contaminated sand sample (sand 2) was compared to uncontaminated and contaminated loam samples at three depths ranges, 2.75-3.5 m, 3.5-4.0 m, and 4.0-4.5 m (see Chapter 3). Most of the contaminated soils from the Brandon site yielded significantly higher numbers than their respective uncontaminated soils. In some cases microbial numbers in contaminated and uncontaminated soils were not significantly different. At two sites, the uncontaminated soil (sand 1 at 3.1-3.7 m and loam 1 at 2.75-3.5 m) had significantly higher numbers than the contaminated soil. The relationship between a decrease in microbial numbers with increasing depth was not visible for the contaminated sand 1 and control loam 1 soil samples. The contaminated sand 2 samples produced high numbers at depths ranging from 3.5 to 4.5 meters when compared to numbers from more surface contaminated sand soils. Even the uncontaminated soils displayed organisms capable of diesel degradation at these great depths.

Uncontaminated soils were again used to confirm the degradation of diesel fuel in the tubes and can be seen in Table 4.5. Degradation was found in all the uncontaminated soils varying in depth.

4.5.1.3 Somerset and Agricultural Soils

The contaminated soil near the town of Somerset had a significantly greater numbers of HC degraders than its uncontaminated soil. A thousand-fold difference in numbers between contaminated and uncontaminated sites can be observed in Table 4.5. The surface soil from St.Claude had slightly fewer microorganisms than the other agricultural soils (Table 4.6), which was not found to be significantly less than the numbers from the other agricultural soils (α =0.05).

The subsurface samples (90-100 cm) for the soils from Glenlea and Brandon yielded no diesel degraders (Table 4.6). The only subsurface diesel degraders were found in the soil sample from St.Claude, which was the only coarse textured soil among the three soils studied. Confirmation of diesel degradation was done using 1/100-soil dilutions and the decrease in TEH levels in inoculated versus sterile tubes can be seen in Table 4.7 for soils from Somerset and Table 4.8 for agricultural soils.

Table 4.3 MPN averages of diesel degraders in contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils from Somerset (± standard deviation).

Site and Depth	Uncontaminated	Contaminated	t-test (a=0.05)
(cm)	MPN	MPN	
Somerset 0-10	130±46	97000±60000	S*

* significantly different

Table 4.4 MPN averages (of diesel	degraders	s in ag	gricultural	surface	and subs	urface
soils (± standard dev	iation).						

Site	Depth (cm)	MPN
Glenlea	0-10	67±46a
	90-100	0
Brandon	0-10	76±47a
	90-100	0
St.Claude	0-10	28±6a
	90-100	18±2

a = not significantly different (α =0.05)

Table 4.5 Confirmation of diesel fuel degradation from decreased levels of TEH $(\mu g/g)$ in test tubes from MPN experiment for contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils from Somerset (± standard deviation).

Site	Depth (cm)	TEH in test tubes (sterile)	TEH in test tubes (inoculated)
Somerset uncontaminated	0-10	5100±100	4500±70
Somerset contaminated	0-10		4200±100

Table 4.6 Confirmation of diesel fuel degradation from decreased levels of TEH $(\mu g/g)$ in test tubes from MPN experiment for agricultural soils, contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils from Somerset (± standard deviation).

Site	Depth (cm)	TEH in test tubes (sterile)	TEH in test tubes (incoluated)
Glenlea	0-10	5100±100	4600±100
Brandon	0-10		4700±100
St.Claude	0-10		4600±50
St.Claude	90-100		4800
Somerset uncontaminated	0-10		4500±70
Somerset contaminated	0-10		4200±100

4.5.2 Most Probable Number of Phenanthrene Degraders

The following estimates of degrader populations were obtained using phenanthrene as the sole source of carbon and energy for microbial growth in the MPN procedure.

4.5.2.1 Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei

Significantly greater numbers of phenanthrene degraders were found in the contaminated soil samples versus their respective uncontaminated at all depths, for both Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei (Table 4.9).

A decrease in microbial numbers with increasing depth can be observed from results of soils from Thicket Portage. A decrease in microbial numbers with depth was not consistent with the results for soils from Pikwitonei. All uncontaminated soils for these two sites displayed the presence of organisms able to degrade phenanthrene. Confirmation of phenanthrene degradation is summarized in Table 4.10 for Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei samples.

Site	Depth (m)	Uncontaminated MPN	Contaminated MPN	t-test (α=0.05)
Thicket Portage	0.2-1.0	150±80	31000±20000	S*
	1.5-2.0	20±10	660±390	S
Pikwitonei	0.75-1.0	380±130	12200±8500	S
	1.25-1.75	60±45	3900±1900	S
	1.75-2.25	40±20	350±125	S
	2.0-2.5	360±160	6400±3600	S
	2.5-3.0	105±100	1100 ± 625	S
Brandon (sand)	1.5-2.15	4900±2000	3300± 770(sand 1)	NS⁵
	2.6-3.1	20±10	400±150 (sand 1)	S
			14000±8200 (sand 2)	S
	3.1-3.7	3500±1800	$1300 \pm 140(\text{sand } 1)$	S
Brandon (loam)	1.5-2.0	750±225	945000±450000 (loam	S
			1)	
	2.0-2.5	320±25	22000±5500 (loam 2)	S
	2.75-3.5	750±350	50±30 (loam 2)	S
			24000±10000 (sand 2)	S
	3.5-4.0	300±200	230000±1000 (sand 2)	S
	4.0-4.5	10±4	17000±6400 (loam 1)	S
			18000+4400 (sand 2)	S

Table 4.7 Average most probable numbers (MPNs) of phenanthrene degraders in contaminated versus uncontaminated soils according to depth (\pm standard deviation).

a = significantly different, b = not significantly different

4.5.2.2 Brandon

Soils were compared according to texture, as previously mentioned in section 4.5.1.2. Most of the contaminated soils from the Brandon site yielded significantly higher numbers than their uncontaminated soils (α =0.05; Table 4.9). Microbial numbers between contaminated sand 1 and control sand 1 resulted in no significant difference. As was the case with the diesel-MPN, controls sand 1 at 3.1-3.7 m and loam 1 at 2.65-3.5 m

had significantly higher numbers than their respective contaminated soils.

Table 4.8 Confirmation of phenanthrene degradation from decreased levels ($\mu g/g$) in test tubes from MPN experiment for uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage, Pikwitonei, and Brandon (\pm standard deviation).

Site	Depth (m)	Phenanthrene in test tubes (sterile)	Phenanthrene in test tubes (inoculated)
Thicket Portage	0.2-1.0	260±5	
	1.5-2.0		240±5
Pikwitonei	0.75-1.0	250±6	200±10
	1.25-1.75		230 ± 2
	1.75-2.25		220±3
	2.0-2.5		240±5
	2.5-3.0		240±2
Brandon (sand)	1.5-2.15	270±7	240 ± 7 (sand 1)
	2.6-3.1		250±2 (sand 2)
	3.1-3.7		250±6 (sand 1)
Brandon (loam)	1.5-2.0	270±7	200±6 (loam 1)
	2.0-2.5		230±15 (loam 1)
	2.75-3.5		240±5 (loam 1)
	3.5-4.0		250±5 (loam 2)

Also similar to the diesel-MPN experiments, high numbers of phenanthrene degraders were found at considerable depths (3.5-4.5 m) in the contaminated samples. All uncontaminated samples from this site yielded numbers of organisms capable of phenanthrene degradation. Uncontaminated soils were again used to confirm the degradation of phenanthrene in the test tubes. Degradation was found in all the uncontaminated soils (Table 4.10).

4.5.2.3 Agricultural Soils

Phenanthrene degraders were present in both surface and subsurface samples of all agricultural soils (Table 4.12). No significant differences were found either among the surface samples or among the subsurface samples. The number of phenanthrene degraders in previously contaminated soil near Somerset and its uncontaminated soil were not significant different (Table 4.11). The only significant difference that was found was when comparing surface and subsurface samples. Surface samples numbers were approximately 40-fold more numerous than their respective subsurface samples. Confirmation of phenanthrene degradation can be observed in Table 4.13 for the soils from Somerset and Table 4.14 for the agricultural surface and subsurface soils.

Table 4.9 MPN averages of phenanthrene degraders in contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils from Somerset (± standard deviation).

Site and Depth	Uncontaminated	Contaminated	t-test (α=0.05)
(cm)	MPN	MPN	
Somerset 0-10	1400±700	1800±560	NS*

* not significantly different

Table 4.10 MPN averages of phenanthrene degraders in agricultural soils, contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils from Somerset (± standard deviation).

Site	Depth (cm)	MPN	
Glenlea	0-10	1500±800a	
	90-100	41±7b	
Brandon	0-10	960±290a	
	90-100	30±13b	
St.Claude	0-10	1200±700a	
	90-100	17±7b	

a = not significantly different, b = not significantly different

Table 4.11 Confirmation of phenanthrene degradation from decreased levels $(\mu g/g)$ in test tubes from MPN experiment for contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils from Somerset (± standard deviation).

Site	Depth (cm)	Phenanthrene (µg/g) (sterile)	Phenanthrene (µg/g) (inoculated)
Somerset uncontaminated	0-10	250±7	210±7
Somerset contaminated	0-10		200±10

Table 4.12 Confirmation of phenanthrene degradation from decreased levels of $(\mu g/g)$ in test tubes from MPN experiment for agricultural soils (± standard deviation).

Site	Depth (cm)	Phenanthrene (µg/g) (sterile)	Phenanthrene (µg/g) (+inoculated)
Glenlea	0-10	250±7	220±7
	90-100		240 ± 7
Brandon	0-10		230±10
	90-100		240±5
St.Claude	0-10		210 ± 7
	90-100		230±7

4.5.3 MPN-TEH time assay

Both uncontaminated and previously contaminated soils from Somerset were contaminated with the addition of 5000 μ g of diesel fuel per gram of dry soil. The change in MPN of diesel degraders over the six-week incubation period in the uncontaminated and contaminated soils can be seen in Figure 4.1. After a small initial increase in diesel degraders, the uncontaminated soil had numbers similar to the contaminated soil (α =0.05) at weeks 2 and 3. Numbers from the uncontaminated soil decreased significantly compared to the contaminated soil for the remainder of the experiment. The increase in the number of diesel degraders coincided with a decrease in TEH concentrations extracted from the soil, an indicator of diesel fuel degradation (Figure 4.2). Surprisingly, the uncontaminated soil degraded more diesel fuel than the

contaminated soil. The extraction efficiency for this experiment ranged from 94% to 97% with an average recovery of 95%. Extraction of diesel fuel from the test tubes did not reveal any changes from week to week, but did confirm that degradation was occurring. The summary of these results can be found in Table 4.15.



Figure 4.1 Comparison of MPN of diesel degraders in contaminated vs. uncontaminated soils from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard deviation of three replicates.



Figure 4.2 Decrease in TEH levels over six week period in contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error from three replicates.

Table 4.13 Average va	lues from extractio	on of diesel fuel	from MPN ex	periment over
six-week period.				

	TEH (μg/ml)										
	Week 0	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Week 6				
Control (no soil)	5200+/-	5000+/-	5000+/-	4900+/-	4900+/-	5100+/-	5000+/-				
	200	100	200	300	200	_100	200				
Uncontaminated	5200+/-	4600+/-	4400+/-	4700+/-	4600+/-	4500+/-	4300+/-				
Soil	200	200	100	100	50	100	200				
Contaminated	4600+/-	4700+/-	4500+/-	4600+/-	4500+/-	4600+/-	4400+/-				
Soil	200	300	200	50	100	100	200				

4.6 Discussion and Conclusions

4.6.1 MPN of diesel and phenanthrene degraders

4.6.1.1 Contaminated vs. Uncontaminated Soils

The enumeration of MPN using diesel fuel or phenanthrene as sole carbon sources indicated that uncontaminated soils, at all depths sampled, yielded microbial populations with the potential to degrade these hydrocarbons. This confirms a previous finding that uncontaminated soils contain small populations of hydrocarbon degrading microorganisms (Carmichael and Pfaender, 1996). The only exceptions were the agricultural subsurface soils (90-100 cm) from Glenlea and Brandon. As the microbial population decreases with increasing depth, the microbial population of these subsurface samples was most likely minimal, resulting in too few organisms capable of HC degradation.

As the microorganisms that degrade aromatic hydrocarbons (phenanthrene) are distinct from those that attacks aliphatic hydrocarbons (diesel) (Foght *et al.*, 1990; Atlas, 1991; Wrenn and Venosa, 1996), these uncontaminated soils contained microbial populations that could degrade both aromatic and aliphatic hydrocarbons. The analysis of the test tubes with 'positive' growth (ie. colour change) using gas chromatography confirmed the breakdown of the diesel fuel or phenanthrene. The use of control tubes containing neither of the hydrocarbons also confirmed that the organisms were degrading the hydrocarbons and not soil organic matter extracted during the preparation of the microbial suspensions.

A significant difference between contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Somerset was found using diesel fuel as the growth substrate but not when phenanthrene was used. The favoured selection of aliphatic degraders in the contaminated soil may be due to factors such as the characteristics of the substrate and nature of the contaminant. The degradative processes occurring in this soil may have been more adept in utilizing simpler substrates (aliphatic) than complex substrates (PAHs).

The MPN time-assay experiment showed that a large population of hydrocarbon degraders, which was steadily maintained throughout the experiment, dominated the contaminated soil from Somerset. As this soil had previous hydrocarbon exposure, no drastic change in the HC-degrading population was observed. The population was initially very numerous and was steadily maintained throughout the experiment. Few HC-degraders were found in the uncontaminated soil at the start of the experiment. With time, the population of degraders increased in the uncontaminated soil, having similar numbers to the contaminated soil within two weeks following diesel fuel addition. The increase in HC-degraders is also consistent with the decrease in levels of TEH throughout The uncontaminated soil degraded more diesel fuel than the the incubation. contaminated soil. The activity of the microbial community in the uncontaminated soil increased at a higher rate than in the contaminated soil, possibly due to the dramatic increase in HC-degraders, which required more substrate. This may also reflect other impediments to the population of HC degraders in the contaminated soil, such as toxicity from addition of diesel fuel. The population of HC-degraders in the contaminated soil was more constant, which resulted in a more stable microbial activity or possibly that the

microbial population was constrained by factors other than substrate availability resulting in a lower concentration of diesel degraded in the six-week period.

The increased numbers of diesel and phenanthrene degraders in the dieselcontaminated soils of Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei reflect the adaptation of these microbial communities to the presence of diesel fuel. This adaptation exhibits selective enrichment of competent organisms (Atlas, 1991). A high number of diesel-degrading microorganisms in diesel-contaminated soils can be explained by the long-lasting contamination of the soil (Margesin and Schinner, 1997). Both soils from Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei had a contamination event lasting approximately 30 years, which resulted in a change in the composition of the microbial community. Both contaminated and uncontaminated soils displayed the potential to also degrade aromatic hydrocarbons for these two sites. The presence of the diesel fuel supported the growth of the aliphatic degraders to a greater extent than for the aromatic degraders. Polyaromatics can make up a significant component of diesel fuel varying from 10-30% (Block et al., 1991). This likely reflects the relative recalcitrance of aliphatic versus aromatic compounds. The decrease in numbers with increasing depth for these two sites was expected as microbial populations decrease with increasing depth, again reflecting the relative availability of substrates to support growth.

For the most part, soils from the Brandon coal tar contaminated site yielded higher numbers than their respective uncontaminated soils for both MPN using diesel and phenanthrene. The contaminated soil samples that were not significantly different from their uncontaminated soils (contaminated sand 1) were found to have the lowest concentrations of PAHs. This could indicate that the concentration of PAH was less than

that required for the induction of enzymatic pathways capable of degrading hydrocarbons. PAH-contaminated sites may contain a considerable number of PAHdegrading microorganisms, but a minimum concentration of PAH must be present in the soil in order to select and stimulate the growth of the PAH-degrading microflora (Kästner *et al.*, 1994). Kästner *et al.* (1994) did not give these minimum concentrations, but the two contaminated soils that were examined in their study had levels of 3700 µg PAH/g soil and 2000 µg/g soil, with both soils having high numbers of HC degraders (MPN>10⁵). Carmichael and Pfaender (1997) suggested that pre-exposure of soils to concentrations of PAHs greater than background (in this case being >0.08 µg/g soil) appeared to be needed to develop a substantial population of PAH-degrading microorganisms.

The temperature for the MPN experiments was 20°C, which is above the ambient soil temperature for all of the sites. This was done to ensure rapid growth of HC-degrading population from the soils, if any was to be found. Sims and Overcash (1983) reviewed a study of the effect of temperature change on rates of degradation. It was found that degradation of phenanthrene increased by approximately 20% for each 5°C temperature over a range of 15°C to 37°C, with maximum degradation of 90% occurring at 37°C (at concentration of 1000 μ g/L). The determination of strategies for implementing intrinsic remediation techniques would require that the laboratory conditions closely relate to the actual conditions found at these sites. This would accurately test the HC-degrading ability of the natural microbial population, providing a better assessment of the intrinsic remediation potential. Results from a study using soils from a crude oil spill near the Alaska-British Columbia border, conducted MPN experiments ranging from 5 to 8°C.

Wilson (1999) found that an indigenous cold-adapted bacterial population was present and capable of bioremediation of the HC-contamination in the soil. This population was adequate to decrease the levels of the contaminants to acceptable levels. Cold-adapted HC-degrading populations would most likely be found in the soils used for this study.

This study confirms the ubiquitous distribution of both aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbon degraders in native microbial populations found in uncontaminated and agricultural soils throughout the soil profile. Contaminant preexposure generally resulted in increased numbers of HC degraders, reflecting the development and adaptation of the appropriate microbial communities, through either growth or enzyme induction (Carmichael and Pfaender, 1990; Atlas 1991; Wrenn and Venosa, 1996). Previous findings that microorganisms that degrade aromatic HCs are distinct from those that attack aliphatic HC (Foght et al., 1990; Atlas, 1991; Wrenn and Venosa, 1996) confirmed the importance of finding both groups of HC degraders in native microbial populations. Even when a microbial population with the capability to degrade both aliphatic and aromatic HC are present in a soil, important information regarding the structure of the community can be obtained by separately enumerating the alkane- and aromaticdegraders (Wrenn and Venosa, 1997). In this case, diesel fuel provided a reasonable source for aliphatic the HC-degrading community. The use of a single HC, such as hexadecane, would have provided a better indication of aliphatic degradation. Aliphatic and aromatic HC appear to be degraded by two distinct subsets of HC-degrading microbial populations and thus the ability to distinguish between alkane- and PAHdegrading microorganisms is an important feature of these MPN procedures (Wrenn and Venosa, 1997). The long lasting contamination of the previously contaminated examined

in this study, having high numbers of HC degraders, likely reflects environmental restrictions on the activity of these HC degraders, such as low substrate availability due to sorption. This would indicate that the system is not necessarily limited by the composition of the microbial community. This work concludes that the MPN procedure provides a means for simultaneously determining the populations of aliphatic- and aromatic-degraders. Variations of this method, such as using microtiter plates that would eliminate the need for test tubes, could be simple enough for the field such as and should provide a useful tool for characterizing petroleum-contaminated environments or for monitoring the progress of bioremediation (Wrenn and Venosa, 1997).

Although this method does provide important information of the presence of aliphatic and aromatic degraders in uncontaminated soils, the number of degraders required for successful intrinsic remediation to occur is not known. Although this method does provide information of the numbers of HC degraders, it does not give any indication of the activity of microorganisms in the soils. From this study, the usefulness of enumeration as a management tool for implementing intrinsic remediation cannot fully be determined. A more detailed study identifying the numbers of HC degraders required for successful remediation could be done using the MPN procedure and would provide a more accurate description of the usefulness of enumeration as a management tool for implementing intrinsic remediation.

CHAPTER 5

SOIL METABOLIC DIVERSITY AS A POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR INTRINSIC REMEDIATION

5.1 Abstract

The functional diversity of microbial communities in hydrocarbon contaminated soils was examined using Gram-negative Biolog[™] plates. The functional diversity of contaminated soils was compared to adjacent uncontaminated soils according to depth. Agricultural soils varying in texture and climate, taken from three locations in Manitoba, were also evaluated to observe the microbial diversity of autochthonous microbial communities in surface and subsurface samples. The results indicated no significant differences on the microbial diversity in contaminated versus uncontaminated soils. Most results revealed no significant negative effect on the substrate utilization patterns of microbial communities in contaminated soils. In some cases, especially at greater depths, microbial communities in contaminated soils had demonstrated enhanced substrate utilization capabilities, indicating an adaptive response of the populations to the presence of the contaminants or the selection of microorganisms with broad substrate utilization capabilities. The contamination event did not seem to have an affect on the microbial diversities of soil microorganisms. As a potential remediation tool, metabolic diversity provided useful information indicating that the contamination event did not disrupt the

diversity of the site, seen from the lack of difference between contaminated and uncontaminated soils indicate

5.2 Introduction

Assessments of strategies and outcomes of bioremediation would benefit from comprehensive knowledge of the microbial diversity of the autochthonous communities of natural ecosystems and their degradative potential (Wünsche et al., 1995; Becker et al., 1995). Environmental stress or disturbances upset the ecological balance of population interactions, generally resulting in decreased microbial diversity (Atlas et al., 1991) and a shift in the dominant population. As the dominant population can persist within the disturbed communities, they become highly specialized in adapting to the selection pressure of the "new" environment. This shift in population results in a change in the structure or function of the microbial communities, which might be identified by changes in substrate utilization patterns. The dominant populations within perturbed communities have enhanced physiological tolerances and substrate utilization capabilities (Atlas et al., 1991). Gram-negative Biolog plates (Biolog Inc., 3938 Trust Way, Hayward, CA 94545, USA) are useful in producing sole-carbon-source-utilization patterns of microbial samples to estimate community structure. Biolog plates are an advantageous technique because it is rapid and inexpensive, providing data to assess similarities and differences between microbial communities (Garland & Mills, 1991; Zak et al., 1994).

5.3 Objective of Study

The objective of this study was to determine the usefulness of metabolic diversity in contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils as a potential management tool for implementing strategies for intrinsic remediation. In conjunction, three agricultural soils varying in texture were also used in this study to determine the substrate utilization patterns of the indigenous microflora and potential for remediation efforts.

5.4 Materials and Methods

5.4.1 Soils

All soils, contaminated, adjacent uncontaminated, and agricultural, have been described in Chapter 3.

5.4.2 Biolog test for metabolic diversity

Gram-negative Biolog plates containing 95 sole carbon sources were purchased from Biolog Inc. (Hayward, CA). Each plate has 96 wells, 95 having different carbon sources and 1 control with no carbon source. A dried mixture of peptone, nutrients, salts, and redox tetrazolium dye are included with the carbon source to ensure growth of the organisms. The dye provides an indication for metabolism. After inoculation, wells remained colourless until metabolic activity reduced the tetrazolium dye to a purple colour indicating a positive test (Zak *et al.*, 1994). Physiological saline (0.85%, 8.5 g NaCl in 1000 mL distilled water) and Bushnell-Haas broth were prepared and dispensed into 100 mL milk dilution bottles. Bottle 1 contained 90 mL of 0.85% saline while bottle 2 contained 99 mL of Bushnell-Haas broth. Bushnell-Haas broth was used for this experiment as it was also used with the MPN experiments. The broth would allow the

growth of similar microbial populations to those grown in the MPN experiments, as it contains a variety of salts. All bottles were then autoclaved. Once the cycle was complete, all bottles were cooled to room temperature. Ten grams of soil (oven dry weight) was added to Bottle 1 and shaken for 5 minutes. A 1 mL subsample of this solution was then transferred to Bottle 2 (10⁻³ dilution) and shaken. This final dilution was then poured into sterile plastic reagent reservoirs (Eppendorf, Inc.) while inside a sterile hood (LABCONCO® PurifierTM Clean Bench). Soil solutions were dispensed into the 96 well plates in 100µL volumes using a multichannel pipette (Eppendorf 8-channel RepeaterTM Pipette) and incubated at 25°C for 7 days. This was the same incubation time that was followed for the MPN experiment. The differentiation and appropriate grouping of natural microbial communities according to the number of utilized substrates seem to be possible using incubation periods of 48 hours or more (Wünsche et al., 1995). At this time, the Biolog patterns most probably reflect the metabolic diversity of the quantitatively dominating components of the microbial communities (Wünsche et al., 1995). A substantial increase in the number of utilized substrates after 48 hours might indicate metabolic activities of taxa which only occur in low quantities or which can grow very slowly under the given conditions (Wünsche et al., 1995). Ouadruplicate plates were inoculated from each soil sample.

A change in the tetrazolium dye colour was assigned a value ranging from 1 to 4, with one indicating a slight colour change and four indicating an intense change. This was done using the author's judgement. The change in colour was always compared to that in the control well to ensure that the control remained colourless. The degree to which a particular substrate is utilized can be quantified by observing a colour change caused by

the incorporation of tetrazolium dye into a respiring bacterial community (Zak *et al.*, 1994). Substrate richness represent the percentage of substrates metabolized over the seven-day incubation and is an indicator of the functional diversity or metabolic capability of the microbial community.

5.4.3 Data Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SAS (Statistical Analysis System, SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) version 8.0. Principle Component Analysis (PCA) and Cluster Analysis were used to analyze the data for the contaminated sites of Thicket Portage. Pikwitonei, and Brandon. PCA required the reduction in the number of variables, as the procedure cannot be performed on a data set containing more variables than observations. The Biolog data were grouped into six categories according to Zak et al. (1994). The categories were as follows: (1) carbohydrate, 30 substrates; (2) carboxylic acids, 24 substrates; (3) polymers, 5 substrates; (4) amines/amides, 6 substrates; (5) amino acids, 20 substrates; (6) miscellaneous, 10 substrates. A list of substrates from the Gramnegative Biolog plates and their category placement can be found in Table 4.2. A total of four PCA's were done to evaluate the data between contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils. PCA's were divided as follows: (1) Thicket Portage; (2) Pikwitonei; (3) Brandon; (4) agricultural soils, which included contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Somerset. For each of these locations, the Biolog data sheets for each soil sample were individually analyzed. From the four replicates for each soil sample from a location, if each individual substrate was utilized three or more times, a score of one was given for that substrate in one of the six categories. If less than three was utilized, no score was given. This was done for all six substrate categories. The sums of each category were divided by total substrates for that category. The percentage

of substrate utilized for each category was used for PCA to directly compare the utilization patterns between the soil samples for a specific location.

For cluster analysis, in order to directly compare pairs of substrate utilization patterns, simple matching coefficients S_m were calculated:

 $S_m = N_p/N_o$

 N_p = number of positive matches; N_o = number of total substrates (here N_o = 95)

For each soil sample from a location, the quadruplicate replicates were compared and coded by a value of one if three or greater of an individual substrate was utilized. If less than three, no score was given.

The goal was to uncover structural differences between samples for a specific site, using a hierarchical cluster analysis. A total of four cluster analyses were done, divided similarly as with the PCA.

Carbohydrates	Carboxylic Acids	Amino Acids	Miscellaneous
adonitol	acetic acid	D,L-carnitine	2,3-butanediol
a-D-glucose	a-hydroxybutyric acid	D-alanine	bromosuccinic acid
a-D-lactose	a-ketobutyric acid	D-serine	D,L,-a-glycerolphosphate
a-methyl-D-glucoside	a-ketoglutaric acid	γ-aminobutyric acid	glucose-1-phosphate
cellobiose	a-ketovalerica acid	glycyl-L-aspartic acid	glucose-6-phosphate
D-arabitol	β-hydroxybutyric acid	glycyl-L-glutamic acid	glycerol
D-fructose	cis-aconitic aicd	hydroxy-L-proline	inosine
D-galactose	citric acid	L-alanine	thymidine
D-mannitol	D,L-lactic acid	L-alanyl-glycine	uridine
D-mannose	D-galactonic acid lactone	L-asparagine	urocanic acid
D-meliobiose	D-galacturonic acid	L-aspartic acid	
D-raffinose	D-gluconic aicd	L-glutamic aicd	
D-psicose	D-glucosaminic acid	L-histidine	
D-sorbitol	D-glucuronic acid	L-leucine	Amines/Amides
D-trehalose	D-saccharic acid	L-ornithine	2-amino-ethanol
gentiobiose	formic acid	L-phenylalanine	alaninamide
i-erythritol	γ-hydroxy-butyric acid	L-proline	glucuronamide
L-arabinose	itaconic acid	L-pyroglutamic acid	phenyl-ethylamine
L-fucose	malonic acid	L-serine	putrescine
L-rhamnose	p-hydroxy-phenylacetic acid	L-threonine	succinamic acid
lactulose	propionic acid		
m-inositol	quinic acid		
maltose	sebacic acid		
methyl pyruvate	succinic acid	Polymers	1
mono-methyl succinate		a-cyclodextrin	
N-acetyl-D-galactosamine		8-cvclodextrin	
N-acetyl-D-glucosamine		dextrin	
sucrose		glycogen	
tyranose		tween 40	
xylitol		tween 80	

Table 5.1 Carbon substrates included in the Gram-negative Biolog plates categorized by substrate categories.

5.5 Results

5.5.1 Metabolic Diversity of Soils

5.5.1.1 Thicket Portage, Pikwitonei, and Brandon

The percentage of substrate utilized (metabolic diversity) was significantly greater in the contaminated sample than in the uncontaminated sample for only the soil from 0.2-1.0 m depth from Thicket Portage (Table 5.3). Contaminated soils from 0.75-1.0 and 2.5-3.0 meters from Pikwitonei had greater metabolic diversity than their respective uncontaminated soils (Table 5.3). The metabolic diversity for the contaminated samples at depths of 1.25-175m and 2.0-2.5m were not significantly different than their respective uncontaminated soils, while the contaminated sample at the 1.75-2.25m depth lower metabolic diversity than the uncontaminated.

The differences in metabolic diversity between contaminated and uncontaminated soil samples from Brandon varied considerably and are summarized in Table 5.3. The contaminated sand 2 samples, having high concentrations of PAHs, were found to have the highest metabolic diversity (Table 5.3). The contaminated loams also had high levels of PAHs but only in one case (contaminated loam 1 at 4.0-4.5m) was the metabolic diversity significantly greater than its respective uncontaminated soil.

Site	Depth (m)	Percent subst	Percent substrate utilization				
		Uncontaminated soils	Contaminated soils	- (*******			
Thicket Portage	0.2-1.0	10.4±2.6	23.4±2.7	S*			
	1.5-2.0	35.9±3.1	32±3.9	NS ^b			
Pikwitonei	0.75-1.0	8.3±2.5	41.1±3.4	S			
	1.25-1.75	43.8±5.2	41.4±2.6	NS			
	1.75-2.25	21.1±2.6	7.3±1.2	S			
	2.0-2.5	32±0.9	28.6±4.6	NS			
	2.5-3.0	11.5±0.9	29.2±0.7	S			
Brandon (sand)	1.5-2.0	56.5±1.6	64.3 ± 2.2 (sand 1)	S			
	2.6-3.1	39.8±3.5	52.9±1.5 (sand 1)	NS			
			77.1±1.9 (sand 2)	S			
	3.1-3.7	57.3±4.5	52.9±3.1(sand 1)	NS			
Brandon (loam)	1.5-2.0	59.4±2.8	57.3±1.5 (loam 1)	NS			
	2.0-2.5	57.3±1.5	57.8±3.5 (loam 2)	NS			
	2.75-3.5	56±2.6	42.7±3.1 (loam 2)	NS			
			80.5±3.5 (sand 2)	S			
	3.5-4.0	67.2±1.3	79.2±0.9 (sand 2)	S			
	4.0-4.5	2.2±1.4	55.7±6.9 (loam 1)	S			
			73.2±1.0 (sand 2)	S			

Table 5.2 Percent substrate utilization of contaminated vs. adjacent uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage, Pikwitonei, and Brandon, according to depth.

a = significantly different, b = not significantly different

Generally, a decrease in microbial diversity is observed with increase in depth from the lack of substrate and nutrients (Smith *et al.*, 1993). For the most part, this was not the case in this study as some subsurface were more active than surface soils in utilizing greater number of substrates, probably due to the presence of hydrocarbons (substrate) to the subsurface.

5.5.1.2 Agricultural Soils

In the soils sampled from agricultural sites, surface soils were much more active in degrading substrates than the subsurface. A high percentage of substrates utilized for the agricultural surface soils were expected, as the microbial communities would have an abundance of nutrients available to them, promoting microbial growth and diversity Table 5.4). The metabolic diversity of the contaminated soil from Somerset was not significantly different than its uncontaminated soil (α =0.05) (Table 5.5).

Site	Depth (cm)	%Substrate utilization
Glenlea	0-10	86.2±1.8
	90-100	61.5 ±2.4
Brandon	0-10	86.7±1.6
	90-100	58.6 ± 2.9
St.Claude	0-10	71.9 ± 3.0
	90-100	64.3±1.0

Гab	le 5.	3 F	Percent	substi	rate	utilizat	tion i	in surf	face and	su	bsuri	ace	agri	icul	ltural	soi	ls.
-----	-------	-----	---------	--------	------	----------	--------	---------	----------	----	-------	-----	------	------	--------	-----	-----

Table 5.4	Percent	substrate	utilization	in	contaminated	and	uncontaminated	soils
from Some	erset.							

Site	Depth (cm)	%Substrate utilization	t-test (α=0.05)
Somerset contaminated	0-10	73.4±2.8	NS*
Somerset uncontaminated	0-10	78.9±1.0	

* not significantly different

5.5.2 Principle Component Analysis

A principle component analysis (PCA) was performed to identify the minimum number of common elements or principle components, defined as eigenvalues. The information will describe the variation of the first two or three principle components. The number of components to best summarize the data was chosen with an accountability of total variance of \geq 85%. Substrates were grouped in functional classes for this analysis (Table 5.1) to reduce the number of variables. The first principle component (Prin1) identified the overall substrate utilization patterns of the various soils samples, and in the following examples, Prin1 was represented on the x-axis (Fig. 5.1). A decrease in the overall utilization patterns is represented moving from right to left on the PCA graphs. The second component (y-axis) represented the substrate categories with the highest positive and highest negative loadings (percentages), defined as eigenvectors. On the PCA graphs from the y-axis (Prin2 or Prin3) viewpoint, points at the bottom of the graph represented data with a low positive to negative loading ratios while those at the top had high positive to negative ratios. The substrate categories with these positive and negative loadings as well as the number of components required are summarized in Table 5.6 for each of the locations.

Location	# components required for data summary (285%)	Accountability of total variance	Component with high (+) loading (1**)	Component with high (-) loading (1*)	Component with high (+) loading (2**)	Component with high (-) loading (2 nd)
Thicket	2	94%	amines/	carbohydrates	_*	•
Ропаде			amides			
Pikwitonei	3	89%	amines/ amides	miscellaneous	polymers	carbohydrates
Brandon	2	85%	polymers	amines/ amides	-	-
Ag soils	2	89%	amines/ amides	carbohydrates	-	-

Table 5.5 Summary of results obtained from PCA for all locations used in study.

*not required

5.5.2.1 Thicket Portage, Pikwitonei, and Brandon

PCA of samples from Thicket Portage (Fig. 5.1) revealed differences in substrate utilization patterns between contaminated and uncontaminated soils. The contaminated samples were closely grouped reflecting similar substrate consumption, while the uncontaminated samples were distanced in regards to the second component (Prin2). Analysis of data from Pikwitonei for components Prin1 and Prin2 did not show differences in substrate consumption patterns between uncontaminated and contaminated samples (Fig. 5.2), as data points for both were clustered together. The same was observed with components Prin1 and Prin3 (Fig. 5.3).



Figure 5.1 Relationship between microbial communities in diesel contaminated (CTM) soils and adjacent uncontaminated (UNCTM) soils from Thicket Portage as depicted by PCA (1=0.5-1.0 m, 2=1.5-2.0 m).



Figure 5.2 Relationship between microbial communities in diesel contaminated (CTM) soils and adjacent uncontaminated (UNCTM) soils from Pikwitonei depicted by principle components 1 and 2 (1=0.75-1.0 m, 2=1.25-1.75 m, 3=1.75-2.25 m, 4=2.0-2.5 m, 5=2.5-3.0 m).



Figure 5.3 Relationship between microbial communities in diesel contaminated (CTM) soils and adjacent uncontaminated (UNCTM) soils from Pikwitonei depicted by principle-components 1 and 3 (1=0.75-1.0 m, 2=1.25-1.75 m, 3=1.75-2.25 m, 4=2.0-2.5 m, 5=2.5-3.0 m).

Observation of PCA of the soils from Brandon industrial site did not reveal distinct differences between contaminated and uncontaminated samples (Fig. 5.4). A list of the soil samples found in the Figure 4.8 with their corresponding depths can be found in Table 5.1. All contaminated soil samples were grouped together for easy differentiation from the uncontaminated soils. Contaminated samples from the same borehole (contaminated sand 2a, contaminated loam (sand) 3b, contaminated loam (sand) 4, and contaminated loam (sand) 5b) were found grouped together in the upper right hand corner of the graph. Most of these samples had very high levels of PAHs extracted from them.



Figure 5.4 Relationship between microbial communities of PAH contaminated (CM) soils (in boxes) and adjacent uncontaminated (CL) soils from Brandon as depicted by PCA.

(CS1=uncontaminated sand 1, CMS1=contaminated sand 1, CS2=contaminated sand 2, CMS2A=contaminated sand 2A, CMS2B=contaminated sand 2B, CS3=control sand 3, CMS3=contaminated sand 3, CL1=control loam 1, CML1=contaminated loam 1, CL2=control loam 2, CML2=contaminated loam 2, CL3=control loam 3, CML3A=contaminated loam 3A, CML3B=contaminated sand 3B, CL4=control loam 4, CML4=contaminated sand 4, CL5=control loam 5, CML5A=contaminated loam 5A, CML5B=contaminated sand 5B).

5.5.2.2. Agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset

PCA of the agricultural soils grouped the subsurface soils on the left and surface soils on the right of the graph (Figure 5.5). This separation was indicative of the overall substrate utilization patterns of the subsurface soils, being significantly lower than the surface soils. The contaminated soil from Somerset was grouped with surface samples from Glenlea and Brandon with reference to the second component (Prin2).



Figure 5.5 Relationship between microbial communities in agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset as depicted from PCA (1=0-10 cm, 2=90-100 cm).

5.5.3 Cluster Analysis

The relationship between the substrate utilization patterns of the soil samples for each location was evaluated using cluster analysis. Dendograms resulting from a hierarchical clustering for each location (Fig. 5.6 to 5.9) indicated the substrate utilization patterns between the soils forming separate clusters. The greater the average distances between the clusters, the greater the difference between the soils.



Figure 5.6 Relationship between microbial communities in diesel contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage resulting from cluster analysis (1=0.5-1.0 m, 2=1.5-2.0 m).



Figure 5.7 Relationship between microbial communities in diesel contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils from Pikwitonei resulting from cluster analysis (1=0.75-1.0 m, 2=1.25-1.75 m, 3=1.75-2.25 m, 4=2.0-2.5 m, 5=2.5-3.0 m).



Figure 5.8 Relationship between microbial communities in PAH contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils from Brandon resulting from cluster analysis (sand1 = 1.5-2.0 m, sand2 = 2.6-3.1 m, sand3 = 3.1-3.7 m, loam1 = 1.5-2.0 m, loam2 = 2.0-2.5 m, loam3 = 2.75-3.25 m, loam4 = 3.5-4.0 m, loam 5 = 4.0-4.5 m).



Figure 5.9 Relationship between microbial communities in agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset resulting from cluster analysis (10=0-10 cm, 100=90-100 cm).

5.6 Discussion and Conclusions

5.6.1 Metabolic Diversity

For the most part, the metabolic diversity was not significantly impacted by the contamination event. Measure of microbial diversity did not discriminate the effects of hydrocarbon contamination on the microbial communities of soils. The only trend visible for all the contaminated sites, with the exception of one sample from Pikwitonei, was that the contamination event did not have a negative effect on the overall substrate utilization patterns of the microorganisms. Most studies that demonstrated significant differences in microbial diversities between contaminated and uncontaminated soils were examined a few hours after contamination (Derry *et al.*, 1998). All the soils used for this study had lengthy contamination periods (30 years for Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei, 90 years for Brandon, and 6 years for Somerset). The lack of significance in metabolic diversity between some contaminated and uncontaminated soils may reflect processes of microbial adaptation to hydrocarbon contamination. Disturbances, which are a form of environmental variability such as hydrocarbon contamination, may be a basis for selecting populations with increased versatility (Atlas *et al.*, 1991).

The substrate utilization of all soils, contaminated and uncontaminated, from Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei were less than 50%. In some cases, substrate utilization barely surpassed 10%. If this trend were only observed with the contaminated samples, one might conclude that the presence of hydrocarbon contaminants altered the metabolic diversity of the microbial communities. This was not the case. Some other factor, either present in the soil or some other form of disturbance such as spill of a more toxic contaminant, might have caused the low percentages of substrate utilization. A typical observation usually seen using Biolog plates is a decrease in metabolic diversity with increasing soil depth (Maurice, 1998). The majority of microbial activity will occur at the surface due to the presence of organic matter and other nutrients, which are lacking in the subsurface (Smith *et al.*, 1993). For both Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei, this trend was not observed. Therefore, again some other factor, possibly a toxic compound present in these soils, affected the metabolic diversity of these soil microbial communities.

For the contaminated soils from Brandon, the heavily contaminated samples of sand 2 showed substantial substrate utilization percentage at all depths in relation to their The increased metabolic diversity in these samples strongly uncontaminated soils. suggests that the microbial population were highly versatile due to the presence of the various PAHs, allowing for greater substrate utilization capabilities. These soils were contaminated for a several decades, allowing the establishment of well-adapted population of hydrocarbon degraders. At such great depths (4.0-4.5 m), the metabolic diversity would usually be low but the contamination obviously altered the enzymatic capabilities of the microbial communities. The contamination of soils can be expected to induce a considerable change in the microbial habitats (Wünsche et al., 1995). The loam 1 sample at the 4.0-4.5m depths also had a significant percent of substrates utilized for such a great depth. Although this soil was not high in PAHs levels, the presence of the contaminants seems to have affected the microbial diversity. A comparison in metabolic diversity between sand and loam samples with similar levels of PAHs was observed at 2.75-3.5m with the sand sample having approximately 40% greater substrate utilization. This could be due to the fact that coarser soils have quicker water infiltration allowing

more oxygen, contaminant and microorganisms to flow through the profile. As oxygen is required for the metabolism of PAHs, its presence might be more limited in the finer texture loam soil preventing the development of a more diverse microbial community.

PCA and cluster analysis describing results of sole carbon utilization patterns, failed to discriminate between contaminated and uncontaminated sites. As a tool for implementing strategies for intrinsic remediation, metabolic diversity provided important information from the lack of difference observed between contaminated and uncontaminated soils. The lack of difference indicates that the contamination event did not disrupt the microbial diversity of the contaminated sites or is no longer disrupting microbial diversity because of the age of the contamination. The lack of change in substrate utilization patterns between contaminated and uncontaminated soils might reflect a return to a steady-state level governed by factors other than substrate supply. The stability of the population in the contaminated soils may also indicate that the contamination event favoured the selection of microorganisms having broad substrate utilization capabilities. When assessing the suitability of contaminated soils for intrinsic remediation strategies, the effect of the contamination event on the microbial diversity is always a concern, especially issues of contaminant toxicity (Wünsche et al., 1995). The results from this study indicate that the contamination event does not disrupt the microbial population.
CHAPTER 6

THE EXAMINATION OF MICROBIAL RESPIRATION OF LABELLED SUBSTRATES IN CONTAMINATED AND UNCONTAMINATED SOILS AS A POTENTIAL MANAGEMENT TOOL FOR IMPLEMETING INTRINSIC REMEDIATION

6.1 Abstract

The fate of radiolabeled (¹⁴C) phenanthrene was examined in four contaminated soils from Manitoba, two diesel fuel, one coal tar, and one crude oil. Agricultural soils varying in texture were sampled from three locations in Manitoba to determine the potential of their microbial populations to degrade phenanthrene. Agricultural soils were collected from 0-10 cm and 90-100 cm depths in order to compare surface and subsurface hydrocarbon degrading populations. Phenanthrene degradation was compared between contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils according to depth, to determine the influence of preexposure on the rate of degradation. Microbial activity was also determined by measuring evolution of carbon dioxide in order to compare the activity in contaminated versus uncontaminated soils. Soils from the two diesel fuel contaminated sites degraded higher amounts of phenanthrene than their respective uncontaminated soils at all depths, with ¹⁴C recoveries ranging from 10 to 50%. A decrease in degradation was also observed with an increase in depth for these sites. Two uncontaminated sand soils and one loam soil produced greater amount of degradation than their respective contaminated samples for the coal tar contaminated site. All contaminated soils from the

coal tar site, except for one, were able to degrade phenanthrene, with recoveries ranging from 31 to 49%. The absence of a lag phase and a linear rate of degradation, were the only differences upon comparison between coal tar contaminated soil and adjacent uncontaminated soil, having similar recoveries of approximately 43%. ¹⁴C-phenanthrene degradation from subsurface soils indicated the presence of microorganisms capable of hydrocarbon degradation in aerobic environments. Indigenous soils microorganisms were capable of phenanthrene degradation, as all surface agricultural soils degraded the PAH, following a similar degradation pattern beginning with a slight lag phase and percent recoveries. Two of the three subsurface agricultural soils were able to degrade phenanthrene, prior to a 20-day lag phase. Determination of microbial activity from CO₂ evolution between contaminated and uncontaminated soils did not demonstrate significant differences. In only two cases, the contaminated soils had higher activity levels than their respective uncontaminated soils. Microbial activity did not seem to be stimulated by the addition of phenanthrene in both contaminated and uncontaminated soils.

6.2 Introduction

In most cases, higher rates of hydrocarbon degradation have been shown to occur in previously contaminated soils than in uncontaminated soils (McGill *et al.*, 1981; Wilson and Jones, 1994; Geiselbrecht *et al.*, 1996; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997) from the adaptation of selected microbial community capable of hydrocarbon degradation. An adaptation period often occurs when contamination occurs in previously uncontaminated soils, before the onset of significant metabolism. The adaptation period is thought to allow for the development of the appropriate microbial communities through growth or enzyme induction (Aelion *et al.*, 1989; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997). Higher rates of

microbial activity from measurement of CO_2 have also been found in contaminated soils when compared to uncontaminated (Geiselbrecht *et al.*, 1996; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997). It was suggested that the selection of tolerant species with increased metabolic versatility due to the contamination event, probably maintained high levels of activity. Miethe *et al.* (1994) found that the microbial activity in pristine soils increased after the addition of diesel fuel confirming the ubiquitous distribution of hydrocarbon degrading microorganisms in soils. The relationship between previous contamination and the adaptive response of the soil microbial community is important as it might influence hydrocarbon degradation. Knowledge of the microbial activity of microorganisms with the potential to degrade hydrocarbon contaminants in agricultural soils would provide important information when assessing strategies for intrinsic remediation.

6.3 Objective of Study

The objective of this study was to determine if previous exposure to hydrocarbons has resulted in a microbial community with an increased ability to degrade phenanthrene. To achieve this objective a study was undertaken to examine the kinetics of phenanthrene degradation for selected diesel fuel, coal tar, and crude oil contaminated soils in comparison to adjacent uncontaminated soils by depth. Phenanthrene degradation was also determined for four agricultural soils varying in texture. Microbial activity from total respiration rates was determined and compared between contaminated and uncontaminated soils to determine its effectiveness as an indicator of a soil's potential to degrade polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, such as phenanthrene.

6.4 Materials and Methods

6.4.1 Soils

All soils used in this experiment were discussed in Chapter 3.

6.4.2 Preparation of soils for degradation study

For all soils samples used in this experiment, four replications of 10 g of soil (oven dry basis) were weighed into 30 mL beakers. All samples were wet to field capacity and incubated at room temperature for approximately three months. Soils were wet to field capacity every week during the incubation time.

6.4.3 Microcosm apparatus

The apparatus used to contain the 10 g of soil consisted of a 500 mL glass jar with an airtight fitting lid. In addition to the beaker of soil, the microcosms contained a CO_2 trap with 15 mL of 0.1 M NaOH in a 20 mL scintillation vial, 3 mL of acidified water (pH 3) to help maintain humidity, and 0.5 g Ambersorb® 563 to trap volatile components. Ambersorb® 563 is a very porous charcoal based substance which traps any volatile hydrocarbon.

6.4.4 ¹⁴C-phenanthrene

¹⁴C phenanthrene was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO) as phenanthrene-9-¹⁴C (12.4 mCi/mmol, purity >98%) (Figure 6.0). The ¹⁴C-label is positioned in the most accessible site for microbial degradation to begin. The ¹⁴C would be released soon after the microorganisms have initiated degradation. Stock solution was first made up in hexane such that each 1 mL addition to the soils would contain 5000 μ g/g diesel fuel and 500 μ g/g phenanthrene. Hexane was a carrier solvent used to distribute the phenanthrene in the soil sample. The unlabeled and ¹⁴C-labeled phenanthrene was added to the stock solution so that the level of activity added to each sample did not exceed 0.5 μ Ci. The level of phenanthrene added was ten times the acceptable level for an industrial site according to the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) Soil Quality Guidelines, March 1997. The level of diesel fuel added to the soil would also require remedial according to Manitoba Conservation Guidelines (Manitoba Environment, 1993).



Figure 6.0 Structure of phenanthrene and location of labeled ¹⁴C (black dot).

After the addition of the stock solution (1 mL), the beakers of soil remained in the fumehood for approximately one hour to allow the volatilization of the carrier solvent. The beakers were then weighed, wet to field capacity, and placed into the microcosm apparatus.

6.4.5 Respiration monitoring and ¹⁴CO₂ evolution

The NaOH traps were removed and replaced every day for four days, every two days (four times), then every four days (four times), and finally once a week until the end of the experiment. A 1 mL aliquot of the removed NaOH traps was placed in a 7 mL scintillation vial and combined with 5 mL of ScintiSafe 30% liquid scintillation cocktail (Fisher Scientific, Fairlawn, NJ). This mixture was allowed to equilibrate in the dark for a minimum of 24 hours before counting to prevent any erroneous readings from the ion interaction with the scintillation fluid. A Beckman LS 7500 scintillation counter was used to determine the disintegrations per minute (DPM). Final DPMs were corrected for

background and blanks then related to the original radioactivity added to each microcosm to give the percent degradation of phenanthrene in diesel.

The measurement of the total CO_2 respired utilized a modified version of the persulfate oxidation method used for total organic carbon analysis (Technicon method #455-76W/A). Acidifying the sample and passing carbon dioxide across a gas diffusion membrane determined dissolved carbon dioxide. The carbon dioxide was then collected in a colour reagent containing 3.1×10^{-5} mol of phenolphthalein per litre of solution. Colour change was determined at 550 nm wavelength. The results were given in mg C/L of trap that were then converted to mg C/trap basis and eventually expressed per gram of soil in the microcosm. Samples at every second time point were analyzed during this experiment. The specific activity (moles ¹⁴CO₂/mole total C per trap) was calculated at five intervals (1 to 6 days, 10 to 24 days, 35 to 63 days, 77 to 105 days, and 119 to 147 days), to determine possible fluctuations in the proportion of ¹⁴CO₂ evolved during the incubation period.

6.4.6 Kinetic Analysis of ¹⁴CO₂ evolution

Determination of the degradation rate of phenanthrene was done using a linear or first order rate model. Curve fitting was performed using the statistical software JMP IN and SAS version 8.0 (Statistical Analysis Software Institute Inc., Cary, NC). Each of the soil replications used in the degradation experiment had a linear and first order curve fit to its data by use of the following equations:

$$A_t = K_L t + b_L$$
Equation 6.1 $A_t = A_F (1 - e^{-K} f)$ Equation 6.2

Equation 6.1 describes the linear curve where A_t = percent degradation at time t (days), K_L = the linear degradation rate constant (%/day), b_L = the y intercept. Equation 6.2 describes the first order curve where $A_F =$ percent of added ¹⁴C that has evolved as ¹⁴CO₂ at time infinity, $K_F =$ the first-order degradation rate constant (days⁻¹). All curve fitting procedures were performed using cumulative percent degradation data at time t. Once all curve fitting was completed, a test was done to determine which of the two equations produced the best fit for the data, from observing significant reduction in the residual sum of squares (RSS) with increasing complexity of the model. The difference between the RSS of the two models and dividing the difference by the residual mean square (RMS) of the more complex model resulted in the F-statistic. The calculated F value can be compared to the tabulated value in the F table in order to determine if the increase in model complexity resulted in a better fit. The degrees of freedom at P≥0.05 level can be derived by using the value 1 and the number of data points minus the number of parameters from the model (Robinson, 1985).

The half-life for phenanthrene degradation was calculated for each soil sample from the K_F values determined from the best fitting curves. The calculation is based on the percent of the chemical degraded with the assumption that the entire compound is available and has been degraded.

$$t_{1/2} = \ln 2/K_F$$
 Equation 6.3

6.4.7 Volatilization

A Packard Oxidizer Model 306 was used to combust the Ambersorb sample to determine the amount of ¹⁴C-labeled compound that had volatilized during the experiment. At the end of the experiment, the vials containing the Ambersorb® 563 were removed from the microcosms and sealed. A 0.2 g sample of the Ambersorb was weighed and placed in a Combusto-Cone sample holder with an equal amount of

cellulose. The cellulose was added to help moderate the burn of the Ambersorb. A small amount of Combustaid (0.3 mL) was added to the Ambersorb-cellulose mixture, to assist in the ignition of the sample. A three-minute combustion time was required to completely burn the Ambersorb samples. As the burning Ambersorb was converted to CO_2 , a strong base (Carbo-Sorb®E) was used to trap all the CO_2 . Once the burn was complete, 5 mL of the Carbo-Sorb®E was mixed with 15 mL of ScintiSafe 30% liquid scintillation cocktail. The samples were allowed to equilibrate in the dark for a minimum of 24 hours before counting to prevent any erroneous readings from the ion interaction with the scintillation fluid. A Beckman LS 7500 scintillation counter was used to determine the disintegrations per minute (DPM). Final DPMs were corrected for background and blanks, and then related to the original radioactivity added to each microcosm to give the percent volatilization of ¹⁴C-phenanthrene.

6.5 Results

6.5.1 Degradation Study

Curve fitting analysis of the phenanthrene degradation data indicated that two separate trends occurred (Table 6.1). The soils that experienced a degradation plateau fit the firstorder model while the other soils were best suited to the linear model. The rate of phenanthrene degradation did not level off for the soils with the linear fit during the entire duration of the experiment. The range of half-life values for phenanthrene degradation is quite broad, ranging from 15.5 days to 54.1 days.

6.5.1.1 Contaminated Soils

Most of the contaminated soils from Thicket Portage (TP), Pikwitonei (Pik), and Brandon were able to degrade phenanthrene (Figures 6.1, 6.2, and 6.3, 6.4, respectively). The only contaminated soil that was not able to degrade phenanthrene was the contaminated loam 2 (2.75-3.5m). Most of the uncontaminated soils from all the sites were also able to degrade phenanthrene. For both soils from TP and Pik, higher rates of degradation occurred with the contaminated samples compared to their respective uncontaminated soils. All the soils from these two sites were best fit with the linear model, indicating that phenanthrene degradation had yet to stabilize. A decrease in the rates of phenanthrene mineralized for the contaminated soils from TP and Pik were observed with an increase in soil depth. Soils from greater depth (control 2 at 2.5-3.0m) for the uncontaminated soils from Pik had greater degradation than the control 1 soil at 1.75-2.25 meters. Both uncontaminated soils from TP had little degradation. Soils from Brandon were divided by texture, sand and loam (Figure 6.3 and 6.4, respectively) for better visualization.

Sites	Best Fit	Rate Constant	b or A _F	Degradation
	Model	(K _L %/day) or	(% ¹⁴ C)	half life
		<u>(K_F day⁻¹)</u>		(days)
TP^{1} Control 1 (0.5-1.0m)	linear*	0.0100	-0.18	
TP Contaminated 1	linear	0.3712	-7.18	
TP Control 2 (1.5-2.0m)	linear	0.0090	-0.18	
TP Contaminated 2	linear	0.0723	-1.93	
Pik ² Control 1 (0.75-1.0m)	linear	0.2013	-4.04	
Pik Contaminated 1	linear	0.0576	-2.09	
Pik Control 1 (1.75-225 m)	linear	0.1275	-1.77	
Pik Contaminated 1	linear	0.0061	-0.27	
Pik Control 2 (2.5-3.0m)	linear	0.0907	-2.26	
Pik Contaminated 2	linear	0.0376	-0.768	
BD ³ Control Sand 1 (1.5-2.0m)	1 st order	0.0447	64.10	15.5
BD Contaminated Sand 1	linear	0.2051	3.33	
BD Control Sand 2 (2.6-3.1m)	1 st order	0.0128	64.42	54.1
BD Contaminated Sand 1	linear	0.3776	-8.30	
BD Contaminated Sand 2	linear	0.2228	0.08	
BD Control Loam 1 (1.5-2.0m)	linear	0.0196	-0.63	
BD Contaminated Loam 1	1 st order	0.0425	36.82	16.3
BD Control Loam 1 (2.75-3.5m)	linear	0.0748	-2.9	
BD Contaminated Loam 2	linear	0.0010	0.0	
BD Contaminated Sand 2	l st order	0.0095	64.37	73.1
BD Control Loam 2 (4.1-4.5m)	l st order	0.0246	56.62	28.2
BD Contaminated Sand 3	linear	0.2709	5.24	
Somerset Control	1 st order	0.0253	43.39	27.4
Somerset Contaminated	1 st order	0.0146	50.75	47.5
Glenlea 0-10 cm	1 st order	0.0253	46.10	26.3
St.Claude 0-10 cm	1 st order	0.0342	47.98	20.3
Brandon 0-10 cm	l st order	0.0325	51.15	21.3
Glenlea 90-100 cm	linear	0.1775	3.87	
St.Claude 90-100 cm	linear	0.0606	-2.473	
Brandon 90-100 cm	linear	0.0100	-0.39	

Table 6.1 Curve fitting analysis of the results for phenanthrene degradation and half life values. Values shown represent the mean of four replicates.

¹ TP = Thicket Portage, ² Pik = Pikwitonei, ³ BD = Brandon

* $R^2 < 0.95$ were rejected for the linear fit model

For the sandy soil, both uncontaminated soils had higher rates of phenanthrene degradation than their respective contaminated soils at all depths. A slight lag phase was visible for all of the sandy soils. Due to the lack of contaminated loam samples, two contaminated sandy soils were used at two depths, 3.15-3.65 m and 4.0-4.5 m, and were

compared to the loam soils (described in Chapter 3). The highest rate of degradation was observed with control 1 loam sample (1.5-2.0m) for the loam soils, while the uncontaminated soil from 4.0-4.5 meters had the lowest degradation rate among the uncontaminated samples. Soils sampled from deeper depths had lower rates of phenanthrene degradation for the uncontaminated soils from both textures. All contaminated loam soils, except for contaminated loam 2 (2.75-3.5m), displayed moderate phenanthrene degradation. An effect from soil depth was not as obvious with the contaminated soils from Brandon for both soil textures. The loam samples did not have an initial lag phase, which was seen with the coarse textured soils.



Figure 6.1 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Error bars (hidden by data points) represent the standard error of four replicates.



Figure 6.2 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Pikwitonei. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.



Figure 6.3 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated sand soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.



Figure 6.4 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.

6.1.1.2 Agricultural soils

All surface agricultural soils were able to degrade phenanthrene and were fitted by the first-order model (Figure 6.5). Soils from Brandon and St.Claude had very similar degradation patterns, while soil from Glenlea had slightly less phenanthrene degradation. All surface soils except for the contaminated soil form Somerset had a slight lag phase before degradation began. The uncontaminated soil from Somerset had higher phenanthrene degradation than the contaminated sample up until approximately 120 days of incubation. The subsurface soils had lower rates of phenanthrene degradation compared to the surface samples (Figure 6.6). The subsurface soil from Glenlea had the

highest rate phenanthrene degradation among the subsurface samples, followed by the soil from Brandon. Very little degradation occurred with the St.Claude subsurface soil. A lag phase of approximately 20 days was seen with the subsurface soil from Glenlea, and about a 40 days lag phase with the subsurface soil from Brandon. All subsurface soils were best fitted with the linear model, indicating that phenanthrene degradation had yet to stabilize.



Figure 6.5 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in surface agricultural soils and contaminated soil from Somerset. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.



Figure 6.6 Cumulative phenanthrene degradation in agricultural subsurface soils. Error bars represent the standard error from four replicates.

6.5.2 Respiration Activity

Total CO₂ respired for contaminated soils from TP were higher than their respective uncontaminated soils, with the surface sample (0.5-1.0m) being higher than the subsurface sample (1.5-2.0m) (Figure 6.7). Both TP uncontaminated soils had similar evolution of CO₂. Little difference in respiration activity was observed between contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Pik (Figure 6.8) and coarse textured soil from Brandon (Figure 6.9). Highest rate of respiration for the loam soils from Brandon was observed with contaminated loam 1 from 1.5-2.0 meters. Similar levels of respiration were seen with the remaining loam samples. Both uncontaminated and contaminated soils from Somerset had similar levels of respiration activity (Figure 6.11), with the uncontaminated soil having slightly higher amounts of CO₂.



Figure 6.7 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Thicket Portage. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.



Figure 6.8 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Pikwitonei. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.



Figure 6.9 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated sand soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.



Figure 6.10 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated loam soils from Brandon. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.



Figure 6.11 Respiration activities of contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Somerset. Points represent the mean of four replicates. Error bars represent the standard error of four replicates.

6.5.3 Specific Activity

The specific activity was calculated to determine the percentage of ${}^{14}CO_2$ produced compared to total CO₂ production throughout the incubation period (Table 6.2). Increases in specific activity reflect increased utilization of ${}^{14}C$ -phenanthrene by the microorganisms. Some soils revealed an overall increase in specific activity throughout the incubation period (denoted by *), with highest values found toward the end of the experiment. Values for both contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Somerset remained consistent, reflecting a constant balance of ${}^{14}CO_2/CO_2$ production.

Sites	Specific Activity (%)				
	1-6 days	10-24	35-63	77-105	119-147
	•	days	days	days	days
TP ¹ Uncontaminated 1 (0.5-1.0m)	3.55e-4	1.64 e-4	3.73e-4	3.89e-4	1.20e-3*
TP Contaminated 1	5.61e-3	1.06e-3	2.12e-3	4.20e-3	7.89e-3
TP Uncontaminated 2 (1.5-2.0m)	2.34e-4	1.25e-4	2.74e-4	3.42e-4	1.29e-3*
TP Contaminated 2	7.55e-4	3.17e-4	7.38e-4	1.75e-3	3.64e-3
Pik ² Uncontaminated 1 (0.75-1.0m)	9.00 e-4	1.08e-3	2.67e-3	5.79e-3	1.13e-2*
Pik Contaminated 1	4.13e-4	2.73e-4	4.79e-4	8.89e-3	1.51e-3*
Pik Uncontaminated 1 (1.75-225 m)	2.73e-3	1.15e-3	1.92e-3	5.79 e- 3	8.22e-3
Pik Contaminated 1	2.69e-4	1.42e-4	1.85 e-4	1.37e-4	4.48e-3*
Pik Uncontaminated 2 (2.5-3.0m)	6.11 e-4	5.52e-4	1.28e-3	3.50e-3	2.39e-2*
Pik Contaminated 2 (2.5-3.25m)	3.25e-4	3.25e-4	7.26 e-4	1.31e-3	2.07e-3
BD ³ Uncontaminated Sand 1	4.20e-4	4.10e-3	7.06e-3	6.82e-2	2.01e-2*
(1.5-2.0m)					
BD Contaminated Sand 1	9.1 2e-4	1.54e-3	4.77e-3	7.67 e- 3	1.06e-2*
BD Uncontaminated Sand 2	7.16 e-4	5.76e-3	1.40 e-2	2.69 e- 2	1.64e-2*
(2.6-3.1m)					
BD Contaminated Sand 1	1.14e-3	1.87e-3	3.77e-3	5.33e-3	1.58e-2*
BD Contaminated Sand 2	4.37e-4	5.82e-4	2.10e-3	6.43e-3	6.96e-3*
BD Uncontaminated Loam 1	1.89e-3	6.61e-3	1.03e-2	5.65e-2	4.23e-2*
(1.5 -2 .0m)					
BD Contaminated Loam 1	5.00 e-3	4.27e-3	2.18e-3	2.27e-3	1.60e-3*
BD Uncontaminated Loam 1	1.58e-3	6.15 e-4	4.50e-4	9.29 e- 4	9.58e-4
(2.75-3.5m)					
BD Contaminated Loam 2	1.76 e-4	9.11e-5	2.92e-4	3.84e-4	2.05e-4
BD Contaminated Sand 2	4.81e-3	2.39e-3	4.16 e-3	8.16e-3	6.43 e-2*
BD Uncontaminated Loam 2	2.87e-4	2.33e-4	1.50 e-3	5.94e-4	7.05e-4
(4.1-4.5m)					
BD Contaminated Sand 3	3.86e-3	2.74e-3	3.07e-3	6.39e-3	3.36e-2*
Somerset Uncontaminated	1.08e-3	4.53e-3	2.48e-3	3.76e-3	2.72e-3
Somerset Contaminated	4.84e-3	2.00e-3	2.68e-3	4.08e-3	3.91e-3

Table 6.2 Comparison of specific activities between uncontaminated and contaminated soils at five intervals throughout the incubation period.

¹ TP = Thicket Portage, ² Pik = Pikwitonei, ³ BD = Brandon, * = denotes an increase

6.5.4 Volatilization

Combustion of the Ambersorb® indicated that volatilization of ¹⁴C-phenanthrene had taken place for all soils during the incubation period (Table 6.3). All the samples had low levels of radioactivity from the Ambersorb trap, none exceeding 1%.

Site (depth in meters)	% Volatilization
TP ¹ Uncontaminated 1 (0.5-1.0m)	0.99±0.18
TP Contaminated 1	0.14±0.06
TP Uncontaminated 2 (1.5-2.0m)	0.78±0.10
TP Contaminated 2	0.28±0.05
Pik ² Uncontaminated 1 (0.75-1.0m)	0.33±0.13
Pik Contaminated 1	0.50±0.12
Pik Uncontaminated 1 (1.75-2.25m)	0.42±0.04
Pik Contaminated 1	0.60±0.12
Pik Uncontaminated 2 (2.5-3.0m)	0.44±0.11
Pik Contaminated 2	0.41±0.06
BD ³ Uncontaminated Sand 1 (1.5-2.0m)	0.21±0.06
BD Contaminated Sand 1	0.35±0.04
BD Uncontaminated Sand 2 (2.6-3.1m)	0.27±0.14
BD Contaminated Sand 1	0.33±0.06
BD Contaminated Sand 2	0.46±0.18
BD Uncontaminated Loam 1 (1.5-2.0m)	0.43±0.17
BD Contaminated Loam 1	0.03±0.03
BD Uncontaminated Loam 1 (2.75-3.5m)	0.75±0.09
BD Contaminated Loam 2	0.16±0.03
BD Contaminated Sand 2	0.06±0.02
BD Uncontaminated Loam 2 (4.1-4.5m)	0.07±0.01
BD Contaminated Sand 2	0.06±0.02
Somerset Uncontaminated	0.04±0.01
Scinerset Contaminated	0.12±0.03
Glenlea 0-10 cm	0.06±0.01
St.Claude 0-10 cm	0.04±0.00
Brandon 0-10 cm	0.03±0.01
Glenlea 90-100 cm	0.22±0.02
St.Claude 90-100 cm	0.29±0.04
Brandon 90-100 cm	0.27±0.06

 Table 6.3 Percent of radioactivity added as 14C-labeled phenanthrene recovered from volatilization. Means and standard deviations are from four replicates.

¹ TP = Thicket Portage, ² Pik = Pikwitonei, ³ BD = Brandon

6.6 Discussion and Conclusions

6.6.1 Degradation of phenanthrene

Hexane was used to evenly distribute the diesel fuel and phenanthrene mixture onto the soils. Although the addition of hexane may have caused the death of some microorganisms from initial exposure, which has been shown to be toxic (Riser-Roberts, 1992), it was assumed that the majority of the hexane was volatilized. The beakers containing the soils were placed in a fumehood for one hour after the addition of hexane mixture, allowing for most of the hexane to be volatilized.

6.6.1.1 Contaminated vs. uncontaminated soils

The results from the degradation study of soils from TP and Pik suggest that the rate of phenanthrene degradation was related to previous hydrocarbon contamination of the soil and the difference in soil depth. Contaminated soils from both TP and Pik had higher levels of degradation than their respective uncontaminated soils at all depths. A decrease in degradation was seen with an increase in soil depth for these sites, suggesting decreased rates of microbial activity with increased depth. The relation between soil depth and phenanthrene degradation was more obvious than between the level of contamination to the soils and the amount of phenanthrene degraded. Concentrations of total extractable hydrocarbon (TEH) for the contaminated soils from TP and Pik can be found in Table 6.4. Levels of phenanthrene degradation was not limited by phenanthrene concentration.

Site	Depth (meters)	TEH (μg/g)
Thicket Portage	0.2-1.0	6500
_	1.5-2.0	5200
Pikwitonei	0.75-1.0	4400
	1.75-2.25	5700
	2.5-3.0	700

Table 6.4 Concentrations of total extractable hydrocarbon (TEH) in contaminated soils from Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei.

(detection limit $5\mu g/g$)

Highest degradation of phenanthrene for both sand and loam soils from Brandon were observed with the uncontaminated samples from 1.5-2.0 meters. Most researchers have found the opposite, usually finding soils from contaminated sites to have higher rates of PAH degradation when compared to uncontaminated soils (McGill *et al.*, 1981; Wilson and Jones, 1993; Geiselbrecht *et al.*, 1996; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997). High degradation of phenanthrene in these uncontaminated soils might be indicative of previous hydrocarbon exposure. Although all the uncontaminated soils had levels of contamination below the limit of detection (Chap. 3), it is possible that these soils experienced some contaminant exposure during the lengthy contamination event.

Soils of both textures that were able to degrade the phenanthrene had similar rates of ¹⁴C-PAH recovery, ranging from 30% to 65%. Both contaminated sand soils used to compare against the loam soils (Figure 6.4) had greater percent phenanthrene degradation than the contaminated loam soils. Carmichael and Pfaender (1997) discovered a relationship between the fraction of silt and clay in contaminated soils and the percent of ¹⁴C-PAH mineralized, which included ¹⁴C-phenanthrene. They found that soils dominated by larger particles (~90% sand) usually had greater extents of degradation and higher total ¹⁴C-PAH recoveries. They also compared a sand (90% sand) and loam (40%

silt) soil from a same site and found greater degradation in the sand. They attributed this difference to the increased interaction of ¹⁴C-PAH with organic coatings on silt and clay sized particles, or the particle themselves, as opposed to the sand. Silt and clays have larger surface areas than sand so they have a greater fraction of organic matter on their surfaces and therefore larger partition coefficients than sand. As the range of depths for the samples from Brandon was between 1.5-4.5 m, it seems unlikely that amount the of organic matter at these depths would have influenced phenanthrene degradation as organic matter content decreases with increase depth. The interaction would be probably be caused by only the silt and clay particles.

No effect of previous levels of contamination on phenanthrene degradation was observed. Contaminated loam 2 from 2.75-3.5 meters had similar levels of PAH to the other soils studied in Figure 6.4, including the contaminated sands from 3.15-3.65 and 4.0-4.5 meters, but degraded little phenanthrene throughout the incubation period. The microbial community at that specific location may have been disturbed by the presence of some other toxic product utilized at this industrial site.

Patterns of phenanthrene degradation differed among the various soils. The presence of a plateau period towards the end of the incubation period for some soils is likely due the result of sorption of phenanthrene to the soil and subsequent slow rates of desorption for the sorbed ¹⁴C-phenanthrene. Carmichael and Pfaender (1997) found similar results of a mineralization plateau from their work using a variety of ¹⁴C-PAHs, even after an additional two month incubation period. Volkering *et al.* (1992) concluded from their work that the rate by which pollutant desorb, thereby becoming available for microbial degradation, might play a crucial part in the success of bioremediation programs.

The possibility of hydrocarbon degradation occurring at significant depths at the actual sites would be difficult, as the process requires oxygen. An increase in soil depth results in an increase in bulk density, resulting in a decrease in air porosity (Paul and Clark, 1996). Under anaerobic conditions, unsubstituted PAHs are extremely resistant to microbial degradation (Manilal and Alexander, 1991; Pothuluri and Cerniglia, 1994). Anaerobic degradation of aliphatic hydrocarbons has been identified but the process is extremely slow. The results obtained from the contaminated sites indicated that in the presence of oxygen, microorganisms from subsurface soils could degrade hydrocarbons. Remedial procedures such as bioventing or the addition of oxygen releasing compounds such as hydrogen peroxide would provide the oxygen necessary for more successful microbial hydrocarbon degradation.

6.6.1.2 Agricultural soils

All agricultural surface soils were able to degrade phenanthrene with similar rates of recovery, ranging from 42 to 51%. Little difference was observed between contaminated and uncontaminated soils from Somerset, the only differences being the lack of a lag phase and a linear degradation rate for the contaminated soil. Adaptation to the presence of phenanthrene did not seem to be needed for the microbial community in the contaminated soil from Somerset, allowing degradation to begin quicker. The presence of a plateau period towards the end of the incubation period for all surface soils may be due to sorption of the phenanthrene (Manilal and Alexander, 1991; Maurice, 1998).

A lag phase was also observed for the subsurface soils from Glenlea and Brandon, indicating an initial adaptation stage. Low rates of degradation in the subsurface soils were probably attributed to the presence of hydrocarbon degraders having decreased

microbial respiration, resulting in a longer adaptation period. Microbial communities from surface and subsurface fertile agricultural soils have the potential to degrade considerable amounts of phenanthrene.

As previously mentioned, examination of the degradation of labelled compounds does provide a good indication of the potential of uncontaminated soils for biodegradation, but the presence of a degradation plateau does seem to indicate that substrate availability due to sorption becomes an important issue to address.

6.6.2 Respiration and Specific activity

For the most part, respiration data indicated insignificant differences in microbial activity during phenanthrene degradation between contaminated and uncontaminated soils at all depths. Two contaminated soils, one from TP at 0.5-1.0 meters and one from Brandon (contaminated loam 1 from 1.5-2.0 meters), had higher levels of activity than their respective uncontaminated soils. Geiselbrecht et al. (1996) and Carmichael and Pfaender (1997) had found higher rates of CO₂ production in contaminated versus uncontaminated soils. They claimed that tolerant microbial species with greater metabolic versatility probably maintained activity. This might explain the two contaminated soils previously mentioned. In most cases, high rates of phenanthrene degradation from ¹⁴CO₂ analysis did not correspond with high respiration activity from CO₂ measurements. Results from Grosser et al. (1991) showed that one soil having the lowest microbial activity of all soils studied had the highest degradation potential with the PAHs examined. This suggests that additional factors, such as bioavailability of substrate and selection for degrading populations may be involved in the breakdown of PAHs. The majority of the previously contaminated soils from this study did not exhibit higher rates of CO_2 . The abundant supply of carbon in these soils should have resulted in higher rates

of respiration from the microorganisms. The issue of substrate availability arises again. The issue of contaminant toxicity can also be questioned. Results from the enumeration study (Chapter 4) showed that numbers of HC degraders from these contaminated soils were abundant, ruling out the possibility of toxicity.

All contaminated soils displayed the potential to degrade phenanthrene. The length of the contamination event should have provided the microorganisms with ample time to degrade the contaminants. If levels of contaminant have been persistent for many years in a soil system, several factors prevented successful biodegradation to occur resulting in its sorption, therefore decreasing its bioavailability. The rate of contaminant sorption may be greater than the rate of degradation. Therefore, in some contaminated soils, the availability of PAHs due to sorption may be a controlling factor for intrinsic degradation. This suggest that efforts to increase the availability of the PAH may be necessary if the metabolic capability shown to exist by this study and others is to be used in intrinsic bioremediation strategies. Efforts such as the use of surfactants to prevent contaminant sorption to occur or to cause desorption should be examined.

The low percentages for specific activity seem to indicate that phenanthrene degradation accounted for a small portion of the total microbial activity, which was not surprising as phenanthrene is a complex structure for microorganisms to degrade and was added at a low concentration. Increases in specific activity toward the end of the incubation period for some the uncontaminated soil could indicate stages of adaptation by the microorganisms from increased ¹⁴C-phenanthrene utilization. All of the sand textured soils from Brandon had increases in specific activity towards the end of the incubation period.

The usefulness of microbial respiration as a management tool for intrinsic remediation does provide important information of the potential of soils for degradation. Measures of PAH degradation based on the use of freshly added compounds should be used with caution for assessing the fate of aged on site contaminants. Availability of the compound over time due to sorption becomes an important issue to address, limiting the possibility of complete degradation.

6.6.3 Volatilization

Little loss of ¹⁴C-phenanthrene was detected by burning of the Ambersorb using the oxidizer. Recovery of Ambersorb standards spiked with ¹⁴C-phenanthrene was approximately 85%. Some volatilization of phenanthrene would be expected due its moderate vapour pressure of 90.7 mPa at 25°C (Government of Canada, 1994). All soils from all depths had similar losses of phenanthrene from volatilization. This suggests that the use of Ambersorb for trapping volatilized phenanthrene provided reasonable amounts.

CHAPTER 7

GENERAL DISCUSSION

The objective of the study was to determine the usefulness of microbial enumeration, diversity, and activity as potential tools for implementing strategies for intrinsic remediation. Chapter 4 surveyed differences in numbers of alkane and phenanthrene-degrading microbes, using a most-probable-number technique, in contaminated versus adjacent uncontaminated soils and agricultural soils at a variety of depths. Chapter 5 compared substrate utilization patterns between contaminated and adjacent uncontaminated soils for possible differences caused by the contamination event. Chapter 6 investigated the effect of previous hydrocarbon exposure on the degradation of phenanthrene in diesel fuel and respiration activity from comparisons between contaminated and uncontaminated soils and examined the degradative potential of agricultural surface and subsurface soils.

7.1 Enumeration of alkane and phenanthrene degrading microorganisms

Soils consist of heterogeneous microorganisms that include naturally occurring population with the ability to degrade petroleum products and low molecular weight PAHs such as phenanthrene (Atlas, 1978; Bossert and Bartha, 1984; Dragun, 1988, Kästner *et al.*, 1994; Atlas and Cerniglia, 1995). Hydrocarbon (HC) degrading bacteria are ubiquitously distributed, their proportions in heterotrophic bacterial soil communities

ranging from 0.13% to 50% (Wünsche et al., 1995). In this study, both aliphatic (diesel fuel) and aromatic (phenanthrene) utilizing bacteria were found in all uncontaminated soils, including agricultural soils at both surface and subsurface levels. As microorganisms that degrade aromatic HCs are frequently distinct from those that attack aliphatic HCs (Foght et al., 1990; Atlas, 1991; Wrenn and Venosa, 1996), the isolation of both groups in the examined soils was very important because both groups are not always found in soils. Kästner et al. (1994) demonstrated no zone forming units in freshly sampled uncontaminated soil using a method of soil extraction and plating on minimal medium plates with phenanthrene as the sole source of carbon. In the majority of cases, soils previously contaminated had higher numbers of aliphatic and aromatic degrading populations, which was in accordance with numerous findings found in the literature (Atlas, 1981; Kästner et al., 1994; Duncan et al., 1998; Williams et al., 1998; Nyman, 1999). The addition of petroleum products to soils selectively favours and enriches the microbial population that is able to adapt and utilize the new substrate (Bossert and Bartha, 1984).

7.2 Relationship between microbial enumeration, diversity, and respiration

In the majority of cases, enumeration of hydrocarbon degrading microorganisms from contaminated and uncontaminated soils revealed that contaminated soils yielded significantly greater numbers of HC-degraders. As a tool for implementing strategies for intrinsic remediation, the enumeration experiment showed that the organisms required for HC degradation were present in the soils. The increase in numbers of HC degraders in contaminated versus uncontaminated soils at a variety of depths indicated that selection

and adaptation of microorganisms capable of HC degradation had occurred during the contamination event. The presence of aliphatic and aromatic degraders in agricultural surface and subsurface soils demonstrated that various groups of HC degraders are found in native microbial populations. The use of enumeration as a management tool was not fully examined in this study, as the number of HC degraders required for successful intrinsic remediation to occur was not determined. Further study in examining the number of degraders required for remediation would provide a more accurate description of the usefulness of enumeration. Enumeration results do not provide any information on the microbial activity in the soils. Researchers have found that high numbers does not always indicate high levels of activity in contaminated soils (Grosser et al., 1991; Miethe et al., 1994; Geiselbrecht et al., 1996; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997). The combination of results from both enumeration and activity studies provides a more detailed description of the HC degrading population. The number of HC degraders was shown, by the degradation study, not be a limiting factor in bioremediation. During the microcosm incubation period for some soils, carbon became limiting to the soil microbial community resulting in a degradation plateau. Enumeration could be used as a contaminant toxicity indicator, as high numbers would indicate that toxicity did not inhibit growth and reproduction of the soil microbial community.

Results from the metabolic diversity experiment did not provide a clear indication of the effects of contamination on the microbial community. Contaminated soils that had higher percent substrate utilization than their respective uncontaminated soils, might be from the selection and adaptation of microorganisms having increased metabolic capabilities from the contamination event. In terms of the adaptability of microorganisms at contaminated sites, metabolic diversity could provide information of increased

substrate versatility from possible shifts in population dynamics. This phenomenon was observed in a study done by Wünsche et al. (1995) where a pristine soil was contaminated with oil resulted in a shift in substrate utilization patterns and bacterial genera favouring *Pseudomonads*, which was found to dominate a previously long-term contaminated soil. The lack of change in substrate utilization patterns might also reflect a return to a steadystate level governed by factors other than substrate supply. The addition of petroleum products to soils has been shown to decrease the diversities of the microbial communities by upsetting the ecological balance of population interactions within the community (Atlas et al., 1991). Changes in microbial diversity have been observed through shifts in substrate utilization patterns (Wünsche et al., 1995). Derry et al. (1998) examined soils contaminated for more than three years with creosote and found no significant differences in diversity between uncontaminated and contaminated soils, possibly reflecting processes of microbial adaptation to creosote. Atlas et al. (1991) found that microbes within disturbed communities demonstrated enhanced physiological tolerances and substrate utilization capabilities. Soils from Thicket Portage, Pikwitonei, and Brandon had significant exposure time to the contamination, all exceeding a period of twenty-five years. Most results from these three soils revealed no significant negative effect from previous HC exposure, with the majority of the cases showing the contaminated soils having greater percent substrate utilization than the uncontaminated soils (Table 7.1). The usefulness of metabolic diversity was seen from the lack of difference between uncontaminated and contaminated soils, indicating that 30 years after the contamination event, there was no impact of the microbial community. The stability of the population in the contaminated soil was due to the selection of microbes having broad substrate utilization capabilities. As was the case with enumeration study, metabolic diversity

might also be useful in assessing the toxicity effect on the soil microbial community. Soils having high number of HC degraders and high substrate utilization capabilities would indicate that contaminant toxicity did not affect the microbial community.

In most cases, higher rates of HC degradation have been shown to occur in previously contaminated soils compared to pristine soils by tolerant species having increase metabolic versatility (McGill et al., 1981; Wilson and Jones, 1993; Geiselbrecht et al., 1996; Carmichael and Pfaender, 1997). Since contaminated soils have adapted microbial communities with higher proportions of HC-degraders, they can guickly respond to the presence of HC pollutants. This was the case for all but one soil from Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei. In six of the ten soil samples examined, the effect of previous contamination exposure resulted in greater number of HC-degraders having increased metabolic capabilities and higher rates of phenanthrene degradation when compared to adjacent uncontaminated soils (Table 7.1). This was also the case for the contaminated sand soils at depth of 3.1-3.5 and 4.1-4.5 meters. Although yielding greater numbers of HC-degraders, the contaminated soil from Somerset had similar percent substrate utilization and ¹⁴CO₂ recovery than its uncontaminated soil. The major difference between the soils from Somerset was the lack of lag phase in the degradation study for the contaminated soil, indicating the lack of an acclimation period for degradation to proceed. Both uncontaminated sand soils and uncontaminated loam from 1.5-2.0 meters from Brandon mineralized higher amount of phenanthrene than their respective contaminated soils. Although contaminant levels were below detection limit, this could indicate that these uncontaminated soils did have previous contaminant exposure throughout the lengthy contamination period of this site.

Table 7.1 Comparison of most probable number (MPN) of diesel degraders, % substrate utilization, and %¹⁴CO₂ recovery from microbial enumeration, diversity, and respiration, respectively.

Site and depth (m)		Results	
	MPN (diesel)	% Utilized	% ¹⁴ CO ₂
TP^{1} uncontaminated 1 (0.5-1.0)	420	10.4	<i>I.48</i>
TP contaminated	51000	35.9	49.89
TP uncontaminated (1.5-2.0)	150	23.4	1.38
TP contaminated	6000	32.0	10.76
Pik ² uncontaminated 1 (0.75-1.0)	90	8.3	8.04
Pik contaminated	57000	41.1	28.27
Pik uncontaminated I (1.25-1.75)	61	21.1	0.89
Pik contaminated	6600	7.3	19.45
Pik uncontaminated 2 (2.5-3.0)	9	11.5	5.53
Pik contaminated	340	29.2	12.86
BD^3 uncontaminated sand 1 (1.5-2.0)	4300	56.5	64.20
BD contaminated sand 1	3300	64.3	33.69
BD uncontaminated sand 2 (2.6-3.2)	65	<i>39</i> .8	54.68
BD contaminated sand 1	230	52.9	44.26
BD contaminated sand 2	227000	77.1	30.68
BD uncontaminated loam (1.5-2.0)	540	59.4	55.40
BD contaminated loam 1	21400	57.3	38.38
BD uncontaminated loam (2.75-3.5)	2800	56.0	9.26
BD contaminated loam 2	150	42.7	0.47
BD contaminated sand 2 (3.1-3.5)	60000	80.5	47.98
BD uncontaminated loam 2 (4.1-4-5)	3	22.0	2.43
BD contaminated sand 2	9200	73.2	44.74
Somerset uncontaminated	130	78.9	42.37
Somerset contaminated	97000	73.4	44.42

¹TP=Thicket Portage, ²Pik=Pikwitonei, ³BD=Brandon

Therefore in summary, these soils contain high numbers HC degrading microorganisms, having increased metabolic versatility, and enhanced microbial activity, however the contaminants were still present in the soils after decades. An important factor causing reduced biodegradation of HC compounds is sorption on soil particles, primarily clays, and soil organic matter. The hydrophobic nature of diesel fuel and PAHs allows adsorption onto hydrophobic areas of soil surfaces. Carmichael and Pfaender

(1997) found similar results of a degradation plateau from their work using a variety of ¹⁴C-PAHs even after an additional two month incubation period. Soils that did not experience a plateau in this study (soils from TP and Pik) could simply be due to the continued availability of the phenanthrene for degradation. Continued incubation might have resulted in a degradation plateau caused by increased sorption of the phenanthrene with time or by decrease in microbial activity.

Carmichael and Pfaender (1997) also found a relation between the fraction of silt and clay in contaminated soils and the percent of ¹⁴C-PAHs mineralized, which included phenanthrene. They found that soils dominated by larger particles (90% sand) usually had greater extents of degradation and higher total recoveries. They also compared a sand (90% sand) and loam (40% silt) soils taken from the same site, having similar amounts of organic carbon, and found greater PAH degradation in the sand. Silt and clays have greater surface areas than sand, allowing for larger partition coefficients. This trend was also visible in this degradation experiment, as sand soils had overall greater percent recoveries than the loam textured soils. Measure of PAH degradation based on the use of freshly added compounds may be useful as a management tool for assessing the potential of microbial communities, but should be used with caution for assessing the fate of aged on site contaminants.

Although the presence of HC degraders were found in all surface agricultural soils, the development of a plateau at approximately the same duration of the incubation and percent ¹⁴C-phenanthrene recoveries no greater than 51%, would seem to indicate a problem with substrate availability. The carbon supply became limited to the soil microbial community during the incubation period. The increase in MPN of diesel and phenanthrene degraders as well as the lack of a lag phase in the degradation study for the

contaminated soil from Somerset compared to its uncontaminated soil does seem to indicate that selection and adaptation occurred during the contamination event. An adaptation period was required to select these organisms and allow for their adaptation and growth in the contaminated environment. Therefore, as this adaptation period for microbial adaptation would proceed, a greater fraction of the contaminants could become sorbed and no longer available for degradation. In terms of site management, the success of intrinsic remediation using naturally occurring microorganisms would be dependent on the prevention of contaminant sorption within the soil matrix at or near the initial time of a spill, which would allow continued availability to the microorganisms as they become adapted to the contaminated environment. The microorganisms required to breakdown the contaminants are found in the natural environment and their numbers most often increase because of processes of adaptation. The numbers of naturally occurring HC degraders does not seem to be the limiting factor in successful bioremediation strategies, but the availability of contaminants as substrate over time would be the important issue to address.

7.3 The effect of previous hydrocarbon exposure in relation to soil depth

Soil depth can be a controlling factor in the degradation of HC contaminants in the environment (Rainwater *et al.*, 1993). The number of organisms is usually expected to decrease with increasing soil depth, due to many factors such as decreases in substrates and lack of nutrients and oxygen, resulting in decreases in microbial enumeration, diversity, and respiration. Generally, this trend was observed in the examined soils. Findings of significant numbers of HC degraders having substantial metabolic versatility yielding high ¹⁴C-phenanthrene recovery at depths exceeding 2.5 meters was very important. Examples of these are soils from Pik contaminated 2 at 2.5-3.0 meters and especially Brandon contaminated sand 2 from 2.6-4.5 meters (Table 7.1). PAH contamination of the contaminated sand 2 soils from Brandon was significant, with phenanthrene concentrations of 1900 μ g/g at 4.1-4.5 meters. Even at these great depths, adaptation of microbial communities with the potential to degrade hydrocarbons having increased metabolic versatility was occurring. PAHs have been shown to be extremely resistant to microbial degradation under anaerobic condition (Manilal and Alexander, 1991; Pothuluri and Cerniglia, 1994). The main requirement for HC degradation at these depths would be a supply of oxygen, either through bioventing or the introduction of oxygen releasing compounds, such as hydrogen peroxide.

7.4 Current state of the contaminated sites

To date no remediation has taken place at Brandon or Thicket Portage. The Brandon contaminated site was taken over by Morrow Consultants and no Remedial Action Plan has yet to be developed. Thicket Portage is not scheduled for remediation until next year, while remediation was started last summer in Pikwitonei. The contaminated soil from Pikwitonei will be taken to a landfarm for remediation. The landfarm has been built and the work will continue this summer. Remediation strategies for the contamination site near Somerset began after the spill occurred and are continuing.
CHAPTER 8

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The objective of this study was to determine the usefulness of microbial enumeration. diversity, and respiration as potential management tool for implementing strategies for intrinsic remediation. The combined information from all three studies proved to be a much better tool that the individual results. Relations between the three studies provided important information on the effects of the contamination event on the soil microbial community. Enumeration proved to be an important tool as it was concluded that native microbial populations consisted of both aliphatic and aromatic degrading microbes throughout the soil profile, whose numbers increased from the adaptation of previous hydrocarbon exposure. Results from the enumeration study did not provide information of the numbers of degraders required for successful remediation strategies. The relation of enumeration and respiration values obtained from this study, it can be concluded that the presence of native HC degraders and their increase in numbers during the contamination event was not a limiting factor in degradation. The presence of a degradation plateau towards the end of the incubation period indicated that carbon became limiting. The introduction of HC degrading laboratory strains would not be required for degradation to proceed in these soils. The microbial community from these contaminated soils often had increased metabolic versatilities and were capable of higher

recoveries of ¹⁴C-phenanthrene. Even at depths ranging from two and half to four meters, the presence of HC degraders was observed.

In most cases, examination of percent substrate utilization using Gram-negative BIOLOG plates showed that previous hydrocarbon contamination generally had no negative effect on the microbial populations in these environments. In some cases, greater substrate utilization was seen in the contaminated soils. Analysis of substrate utilization patterns through principle component analysis and cluster analysis did not prove to be a useful indicator of the effects of previous hydrocarbon exposure for these soils, as inconsistent results were obtained from both contaminated and uncontaminated soils. These results concluded the usefulness of metabolic diversity in indicating that the contamination event did not disrupt the microbial diversity of the sites. The contamination event selected microorganisms with broad substrate utilization capabilities. resulting in a stable population. The increased metabolic versatility observed in some contaminated soils does seem to indicate that selection and adaptation had occurred due to the contamination event. The high number of degraders having broad substrate utilization capabilities indicated that contaminant toxicity did not affect the soil microbial population in the contaminated soils. Both enumeration and diversity could be used as toxicity indicators for contaminated soils.

Measurements of ¹⁴CO₂ from the degradation of ¹⁴C-phenanthrene were a much more consistent indicator of which soils had the greatest phenanthrene degrading potential, than respiration activity from analysis of total CO₂. The majority of the contaminated soils yielded higher recoveries of phenanthrene than their respective uncontaminated soils. The two uncontaminated soils from Brandon that had high rates of degradation and broad substrate utilization capabilities indicated that these soils might have been exposed to the

contaminants. Although contaminant concentrations for these uncontaminated sites were below detection limit, the possibility of contaminant exposure cannot be excluded. Only three contaminated soils had higher microbial activity than their uncontaminated soils, indicating that in most cases, the presence of diesel fuel did not stimulate microbial activity. The microcosm apparatus differs from conditions found at the contaminated sites. The environment created by the microcosm is a closed system that would be more representative of a bioreactor, where soil conditions and inputs can be strictly regulated and controlled.

Comparison of results obtained from the three experiments revealed that in six of the ten contaminated soils studied, the contaminated soils produced greater numbers of hydrocarbon degraders that had increased metabolic capabilities with higher recovery of ¹⁴C-phenanthrene. In these cases, previous hydrocarbon exposure resulted in the selection of microbes able to utilize numerous substrates, including hydrocarbons, as sources of carbon and energy, resulting in quicker response to the addition of ¹⁴C-labelled phenanthrene yielding higher rates of recovery. The contamination present in some of the soils used in this study was very old, allowing microbial communities ample time to degrade the contaminants. However, high concentrations of diesel fuel and PAHs remained in the soils, even low molecular weight PAHs such as naphthalene, which have been shown to be readily degradable. Therefore in some contaminated soils, the availability of the contaminants was a controlling factor for intrinsic remediation of contaminants. The increase in time required for microbial adaptation to occur causes greater portion of the pollutants to become sorbed within the soil matrix. This suggest that efforts to impact the availability of hydrophobic contaminants may be necessary if the metabolic potential shown to exist by this study and other is to be used in intrinsic

remediation strategies. Measures of PAH degradation based on the use of freshly added compounds may be useful in assessing the potential of the microbial community as in this study, but should be used with caution for assessing the fate of aged on site contaminants.

Further study is required in determining the effects of hydrocarbon exposure on the substrate utilization patterns of microorganisms in soils. Research has found inconsistent results from the use of BIOLOG plates due to the extreme diversity of microorganisms in soils and the many factors that affect their distribution and the many ways of interpreting the results. Standardized methods of analysing and interpreting results from the plates would be extremely helpful, which would then remove an important variable when comparing results. Analysing a soil near the time of contamination and consistent observations throughout a period of time would provide valuable information of shifts in substrate utilization patterns, which has been observed by some researchers such as Wünsche *et al.* (1995). The BIOLOG method does provide important information on the functional diversity and interactions of microbial populations in soil. Interpretations of these results need to be refined for optimization of this information.

This study found that hydrocarbon degraders are ubiquitously distributed in a variety of native soil environments. The next step would be to optimize their distribution and growth in the presence of a contamination event. Contaminant availability, nutrient status, organic matter, temperature, oxygen and moisture content are all important factors in effective bioremediation strategies. Since no soil environments are similar, determination of the optimal conditions for each of these factors would be important.

The determination of intermediates from microbial degradation might provide important information on the potential of a soil to degrade hydrocarbons. Although some of the contaminated soils degraded less phenanthrene when compared to uncontaminated

soils, it is possible that the highly adapted communities in the contaminated soils might be forming intermediates of phenanthrene instead of complete breakdown to CO_2 . If this was the case, the communities in the contaminated soils might actually be degrading more phenanthrene than those in the uncontaminated soils.

The use of a more complex PAH such as benzo[a]pyrene would provide information of the microbial communities to degrade more recalcitrant molecules. The structure of phenanthrene is found within that of benzo[a]pyrene, so the induction of enzymatic pathways for both PAHs may be similar, as was suggested by Rogoff (1962). The major problems with complex PAHs are that they are highly insoluble and adsorb tightly to soil particles. Research showing degradation of benzo[a]pyrene is limited. Any finding of microbial communities with the potential to degrade benzo[a]pyrene would be important.

CHAPTER 9

CONTRIBUTION OF KNOWLEDGE

The study identified that the usefulness of microbial enumeration, diversity, and respiration was a better remediation tool when the results from the three separate experiments were combined. These three microbial parameters provided important information of the effect of the contamination event on the soil microbial population. Enumeration provided information on the presence of native HC degraders in soils, which increased in numbers in the presence of HC contaminants by processes of adaptation. Further study in identifying number of HC degraders required for successful remediation would provide a better indication of the usefulness of enumeration as a management tool. Enumeration in relation to metabolic diversity indicated that contaminant toxicity did not affect the microbial population as high numbers of degraders having broad substrate utilization capabilities were found. Important information was observed from the lack of difference in the metabolic diversity between contaminated and uncontaminated soils, indicating that the contamination event may have disrupted the microbial community but the effect did not persist. The contamination event selectively favoured HC degraders with generalized substrate consumption. Microbial respiration provided details of the degradative potential of the HC degrading population. Relation between enumeration and respiration indicated that high number of degraders does not always indicate high rates of

degradation. These two experiments also revealed that the supply of carbon was the limiting factor in degradation and not the number of degraders, indicating a problem with continued substrate availability. The use of freshly added substrates may be useful in assessing the potential of the microbial community, but should be used with caution when assessing the fate of aged on site contaminants.

This work has demonstrated that through the study of microbial enumeration. diversity, and respiration, native to soils in Manitoba have the microorganisms with the potential to degrade hydrocarbon contaminants. Strategies such as bioaugmentation, with the introduction of 'super bugs' would not be necessary. Although degradation of phenanthrene in some soils was limited, certain factors such as aeration, nutrient addition, irrigation, temperature, and especially availability would enhance degradation. The longterm persistence of diesel fuel in soils from Thicket Portage and Pikwitonei and PAHs in soils from Brandon strongly suggests that availability was an important controlling factor for intrinsic remediation. The presence of plateau phase in the degradation experiments toward the end of the incubation period confirms this finding. The use of surfactants would be necessary in situations where the contaminants are not bioavailable. The effectiveness of the surfactants would seem to be dependent on when they were applied. If applied quickly after a HC spill, the surfactants would prevent sorption to occur, allowing the microbial communities an adaptation period, and once adapted, then begin the degradation of a greater portion of available substrate.

Even at depths of 2.5 to 4 meters, microorganisms were found with the potential to degrade HC contaminants. Introduction of oxygen through bioventing or oxygen releasing compounds would be required to activate and maintain degradation, as oxygen would be limiting as these depths. Microorganisms required to remove hydrocarbon

contaminants are omnipresent in the natural environment. Studies to increase their presence and degradative abilities during contamination events would result in effective strategies for successful intrinsic remediation.

REFERENCES

Aelion, C.M., Bradley, D.C., and Pfaender, F.K. 1989. Adaptaion of aquifer microbial communities to the biodegradation of xenobiotic compounds: Influence of substrate concentration and preexposure. Envrion. Toxicol. Chem. 8: 75-86.

Alexander, M. 1982. Most probable number method for microbial populations; Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 2. Chemical and Microbiological Properties. Chapter 39, 2nd edition. pp. 815-820.

Atlas, R.M. 1978. An assessment of the biodegradation of petroleum in the Arctic. In Microbial Ecology. Pages 86-90. Loutit, M.W and Miles, J.A.R. (Eds.). Springer-Verlag, Berlin.

Atlas, R.M. 1979. Measurement of hydrocarbon biodegradation potentials and enumeration of hydrocarbon-utilizing organisms using carbon-24 hydrcarbon-spiked crude oils. Pages 196-207. In Native Aquatic Bacteria: Enumeration, Activity, and Ecology, ASTM STP 695. Costerton, J.W., and Colwell, R.R. (Eds.). American Society for Testing and Materials.

Atlas, Ronald M. 1981. Microbial degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons: An environmental perspective. Microbiological Reviews. 45: 180-209.

Atlas, Ronald M. 1991. Microbial hydrocarbon degradation-Bioremediation of oil spills. J. Chem. Tech. Biotechnol. 52: 149-156.

Atlas, R.M., and Atlas, M.C. 1991. Biodegradation of oil and bioremediation of oil spills. Current Opinion in Biotechnology. 2: 440-443.

Atlas, R.M., Horowitz, A., Krichevsky, M., and Bej, A.K. 1991. Response of microbial populations to environmental disturbance. Microbial Ecology. 22: 249-256.

Atlas, R.M. and Bartha, R. 1993. Microbial ecology fundamentals and applications. Pp. 212-416. The Benjamin/Cummings Publishing Company, Inc., Redwood City, CA.

Atlas, R.M. and Cerniglia, C.E. 1995. Bioremediation of petroleum pollutants. Bioscience. 45: 332-338.

Bartha, R. 1986. Biotechnology of petroleum pollutant biodegradation. Microbiol. Ecol. 12: 180-209.

Becker, P.M., and Dott, W. 1995. Functional analysis of communities of aerobic heterotrophic bacteria from hydrocarbon-contaminated sites. Microb. Ecol. 30: 285-296.

Block, R.N., Allworth, N., and Bishop, M. 1991. Assessment of diesel contamination in soil. Pages 135-148. In Hydrocarbon Contaminated Soils. E.J. Calabrese and R.T. Kostecki (Eds.). Lewis Publishers Inc., Chelsea, MI.

Bossert, I. and Bartha, R. 1984. The fate of petroleum in soil ecosystems. Pages 435-473. In Petroleum Microbiology. Atlas, R.M. (Ed.). MacMillan, New York.

Braddock, J.F., Ruth, M.L., Catterall, P.H., Walworth, J.L., and McCarthy, K.A. 1997. Enhancement and inhibition of microbial activity in hydrocarbon-contaminated arctic soils: Implications for nutrient-amended bioremediation. Environ. Sci. Technol. 31: 2078-2084.

Brilis, G.M., and Mardsen, P.J. 1990. Comparative evaluation of soxhlet and sonification extraction in the determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil. Chemosphere. 21 (1-2): 91-98.

Bumpus, J.A. 1989. Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 55: 154-158.

Bushnell, L.D. and Haas, H.F. 1941. The utilization of certain hydrocarbons by microorganisms. Journal of Bacteriology. 41: 653-673.

Carmichael, L.M. and Pfaender, F.K. 1997. Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon metabolism in soils: Relationship to soil characteristics and preexposure. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 16 (4): 666-675.

Chen, C.S., Suresh, P., Rao, C., and Lee, L.S. 1996. Evaluation of extraction and detection methods for determining polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons from coal tar contaminated soils. Chemosphere. 32 (6): 1123-1132.

CCME. 1991. Interim Canadian Environmental Quality Criteria for Contaminated Sites. Environment Canada. Ottawa, ON.

CCME. 1997. Recommended Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines. Environment Canada. Ottawa, ON.

Derry, A.M., Staddon, W.J., and Trevors, J.T. 1998. Functional diversity and community structure of microorganisms in uncontaminated and creosote-contaminated soils as determined by sole-carbon-source-utilization. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology. 14: 571-578.

Dragun. J. 1988. Microbial degradation of petroleum products in soil. Pages 289-300. In Soils contaminated by petroleum: environment and public health effects. Calabrese, E.J. and Kostecki, P.T. (Eds.). Wiley, New York.

Duncan, K., Levetin, E., Wells, H., Jennings, E., Hettenbach, S., Bailey, S., Lawlor, K., Sublette, K., and Fisher, J.B. 1997. Managed bioremediation of soil contaminated with crude oil. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology. 63/65: 879-889.

Duncan, K.E., Kolhatkar, R., Subramaniam, G., Narasimhan, R., Jennings, E., Hettenbach, S., Brown, A., McComas, C., Potter, W., and Sublette, K. 1999. Microbial dynamics in oil-impacted prairie soil. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology. 77/79: 421-434.

Ehrlich, W.A., Pratt, L.E., Barr. J.A., and LeClaire, F.P. 1959. Soil survey of a crosssection through the Upper Nelson River Basin along the Hudson Bay Railway in Northern Manitoba. Manitoba Soil Survey. Soils Report No. 10.

Evans, J, Kaake, R.H., Orr, M., and Watwood, M. 1998. A comparison of ultrasonification and soxhlet methods for DDT extraction from soil. Journal of Soil Contamination. 7 (5): 589-597.

Field, J.A., Feiken, H., Hage, A., and Kotterman, M.J.J. 1995. Application of a whiterot fungus to biodegrade benzo[a]pyrene in soil. Pages 165-171. In Hinchee, R.E. et al. (Eds.). 3rd Int. In Situ and On-site Bioreclamation Symp. Battle Press, Columbus. OH.

Foght, J.M., Fedorak, P.M., and Westlake, W.S. 1990. Degradation of [14C]hexadecane and [14C]phenanthrene in crude oil: specificity among bacterial isolates. Can. J. Microbiol. 36: 169-175.

Fuller, W.H. and Warrick, A.W. 1985. Soils in waste treatment and utilization. Vol.1. CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton.

Garland, J.L., and Mills, A.L. 1991. Classification and characterization of heterotrophic microbial communities on the basis of patterns of community-level sole-carbon-source utilization. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 57 (8): 2351-2359.

Geiselbrecht, A.D., Herwig, R.P., Deming, J.W., and Staley, J.T. 1996. Enumeration and phylogenetic analysis of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons degrading marine bacteria from Puget Sound sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 62 (9): 3344-3349.

Gillespie, R.J., Humphreys, D.A., Baird, N.C., and Robinson, E.A. 1989. Chemistry. Second Edition. Pages 306-307. Allyn and Bacon, Inc. Needlham Heights, MS.

Government of Canada. 1994. Canadian environmental protection act, priority substances list assessment report: polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. National Printers Inc., Ottawa, ON.

Grosser, R.J., Warchawsky, D., and Vestal, J. Robie. 1991. Indigenous and enhanced degradation of pyrene, benzo[a]pyrene, and carbazole in soils. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 57 (12): 3462-3469.

Haluschak, P. 1986. Laboratory methods of soil analysis. Canada-Manitoba Soil Survey. Winnipeg, MB.

Hamann, C., Hegemann, J., and Hildebrandt, A. 1999. Detection of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon degradation genes in different soil bacteria by polymerase chain reaction and DNA hybridization. FEMS Microbiology Letters. 173: 255-263.

Herbes, S.E., and Schwall, L.R. 1978. Microbial transformation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in pristine and petroleum-contaminated sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 35: 306-316.

Higashihara, T., Sato, A., and Simidu, U. 1979. An MPN method for the enumeration of marine hydrocarbon degrading bacteria. Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries. 44 (10): 1127-1134.

Hitzl, W., Heinrich, M., Kessel, M., and Insam, H. 1997. Application of multivariate analysis of variance and related techniques in soil studies with substrate utilization test. Journal of Microbiological Methods. 30: 81-89.

Huesemann, M.H. 1995. Predictive model for estimating the extent of petroleum hydrocarbon biodegradation in contaminated soils. Environ. Sci. Technol. 29: 7-18.

Jerkinson, D.S.1966. Studies on the decomposition of plant material in soil. II. J. Soil Sci. 17: 280-302.

Kästner, M., Breuer-Jammali, M., and Mahro, B. 1994. Enumeration and characterization of the soil microflora from hydrocarbon-contaminated soil sites able to mineralize polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 41: 267-273.

Khesina, A., Ya, N.P., Scherback, L.M., Shabad, I., Votrov, S. 1969. B(a)P breakdown by soil microflora. Byulletin Eksperimental'noi Biologii I Medistsiny. 68: 70.

Madsen, E.L., Winding, A., Malachowsky, K., Thomas, C.T., and Ghiorse, W.C. 1992. Constrasts between subsurface microbial communities and their metabolic adaptation to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons at a forested and an urban coal-tar disposal site. Microb. Ecol. 24: 199-213.

Maliszewska-Kordybach, B. 1993. The effect of temperature of the rate of disapperance of PAHs from soil. Environ. Pollut. 79: 15-20.

Manilal, N.B., and Alexander, M. 1991. Factors affecting the microbial degradation of phenanthrene in soil. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 35: 401-405.

Manitoba Environment. 1993. Classification and Remediation of Petroleum contaminated soil.

Margesin, R. and Schinner, F. 1997. Laboratory bioremediation experiments with soil from a diesel-oil contaminated site – Significant role of cold-adapted microorganisms and fertilizers. J. Chem. Tech. Biotechnol. 70: 92-98.

Maurice, Robert D. 1998. The fate of ¹⁴C-phenanthrene labelled diesel fuel #2 in selected Manitoba soils. Thesis presented to the University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB.

Meulenberg, R. Rijnaarts, H.M., Doddeman, H.J., and Field, J.A. 1997. Partially oxidized polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons show and increased bioavailability and biodegradability. FEMS Microbiology Letters. 152: 45-49.

McGill, W.B., Rowell, M.J., and Westlake, D.W.S. 1981. Biochemistry, ecology, and microbiology of petroleum components in soil. Pages 229-296. In Soil Biochemistry. Vol. 5. Paul, E.A. and Ladd, J.N. (Eds.) Marcel Dekker, Inc. New York.

Miethe, E., Riis, V., and Babel, W. 1994. The relationship between the microbial activity of the autochthonous microorganisms of pristine and contaminated soils and their potential of the degradation of mineral oil hydrocarbons. Acta Biotechnol. 14 (2): 131-140.

Millner, G.C., and James, R.C., and Nye, A.C. 1992. Human health-based soil cleanup guidelines for diesel no.2. Journal of Soil Contamination. 1: 103-157.

Mills, A.L., Breuil, C., and Colwell, R.R. 1978. Enumeration of petroleum-degrading marine and estuarine microorganisms by the most probable number method. Can. J. Microbiol. 24: 552-557.

Morgan, P., and Watkinson, R.J. 1989. Hydrocarbon degradation in soil and methods for soil biotreatment. CRC Crit. Rev. Biotechnol. 8: 305-333.

Norris, R.D. 1994. In-situ bioremediation of soils and ground water contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons. Pages 17-37. In R.D. Norris et al. (Eds.) Handbook of Bioremediation. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL.

Nyman, J.A. 1999. Effect of crude oil and chemical additives on metabolic activity of mixed microbial populations in fresh marsh soils. Microbiol Ecology. 37: 152-162.

Park, K.S., Sims, R.C., and Dupont, R.R. 1990. Transformation of PAHs in soil system. Journal of Environmental Engineering. 116 (3): 632-640.

Paul, E.A. and Clark, F.E. 1996. Soil microbiology and biochemistry, 2nd edition. Academic Press Limited. San Diego, CA.

Pothuluri, J.V. and Cerniglia, C.E. 1994. Microbial metabolism of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Pages 92-124. In G.R. Chaudhry (Ed.). Biological Degradation and Bioremediation of Toxic Chemicals. Dioscorides Press, Portland, OR.

Rainwater, K., Mayfield, M.P., Heintz, C., and Claborn, B.J. 1993. Enhanced in situ biodegradation of diesel fuel by cyclic vertical water table movement: preliminary studies. Water Environment Research. 65: 717-725.

Randall, J.D., and Hemmingsen, B.B. 1994. Evaluation of mineral agar plates for the enumeration of hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria. J. Microbiol. Methods. 20: 103-113.

Richow, H.H., Seifert, R., Kastner, M., Mahro, B., Hornsfield, B., Tiedgen, U., Bohm, S., and Michaelis, W. 1995. Rapid screening of PAH-residues in bioremediated soils. Chemosphere. 31: 3991-3999.

Riser-Roberts, E. 1992. Bioremediation of petroleum contaminated sites. CRC Press, Inc. Boca Raton, FL.

Robinson, J.A. 1985. Determining microbial kinetics parameters using non-linear regression analysis: advantages and limitations in microbial ecology. Advances in Microbial Ecology. 3: 61-114.

Rogoff, M.H. 1962. Chemistry of oxidation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by soil pseudomonads. J. Bacteriol. 83: 998-1004.

Rowell, M.J., Ashworth, J., and Qureshi, A.A. 1992. Bioremediation of petroleum hydrocarbons in soil environments. Norwest Soil Research Ltd.

Ruth, S.C., McCaw, P.A., Sullivan, M.J., and Kopf, A.C. 1993. Environmental fate of chemical mixtures: crude oil, JP-5, mineral spirits, and diesel fuel. Pages 205-213. Hydrocarbon Contaminated Soils. Vol. 3. Calabrese, E.J. and Kostecki, P.T. (Eds.). Lewis Publishers Inc., Chelsea, MI.

Sextone, A.J., and Atlas, R.M. 1977. Response of microbial populations in Arctic tundra soils to crude oil. Can. J. Microbiol. 23: 1327-1333.

Sims, R.C. and Overcash, M.R. 1983. Fate of polynuclear aromatic compounds (PNAs) in soil-plant systems. Residue Reviews. 88: 2-68.

Smith, J.L., Papendick, R.I., Bezdicek, D.F., and Lynch, J.M. 1991. Soil organic matter dynamics and crop residue management. Pages 65-94. In F.B. Metting Jr. (Ed.) Soil Microbiology Ecology Applications in Agricultural and Environmental Management. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, NY.

Song, H.G. and Bartha, R. 1990. Effects of jet fuel spills on the microbial community of soil. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 56 (3): 646-651.

Thomas, J.M. Lee, M.D., Scott, M.J., and Ward, C.H. 1989. Microbial ecololgy of the subsurface at an abandoned creososte waste site. Journal of Industrial Microbiology. 4: 109-120.

Timmerman, Mitchell D. 1991. The effects of a crude oil spill on the crop productivity and biological quality of an agricultural soil, and the potential for phytoremediation of crude oil contaminated land. Thesis presented to the University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB.

US Environmental Protection Agency. (1986) Method 3550B, in Test Method For Evaluating Solid Waste, SW-846. Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response. Washington, DC.

Volkering F., Breure, A.M., Sterkenburg, A., and van Andel, J.G. 1992. Microbial degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: effect of substrate availability on bacterial growth kinetics. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 36: 548-552.

Walker, J.D. and Colwell, R.R. 1976. Enumeration of petroleum-degrading microorganisms. Appl, Environ. Microbiol. 31: 198-207.

Weissenfels, W.D., Klewer, H.J., Langhoff, J. 1992. Adsorption of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by soil particles: influence on biodegradability and biotoxicity. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 36: 689-696.

Widrig, D.L. and Manning, Jr., J.F. 1995. Biodegradation of no.2 diesel fuel in the vadose zone: a soil column study. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 14: 1813-1822.

Williams, D.L., Kriel, K.D., Stewart, G.A., Hulse, R.C., Holsomback, Jr., J.E., and Stewart, J.R. 1998. Bioremediation of oil-contaminated soils by stimulating indigenous microbes. Environmental Geosciences. 5 (1): 1-8.

Wilson, J.J. 1999. Treatability testing of intrinsic bioremediation, biostimulation, and bioaugmentation of diesel-oil contaminated soil at 5°C. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology. 38 (13): 1-4.

Wilson, S.C. and Jones, K.C. 1993. Bioremediation of soil contaminated with polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs): a review. Environ. Pollut. 81: 229-249.

Wodzinsky, R.S., and LaRocca, D. 1977. Bacterial growth kinetics on diphenylmethane and naphthalene-heptomethylnonane. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 33: 660-665.

Wrenn, B.A. and Venosa, A.D. 1996. Selective enumeration of aromatic and aliphatic hydrocarbon degrading bacteria by a most-probable-number procedure. Canadian Journal of Microbiology. 42 (3): 252-258.

Wünsche, L. Brüggemann, L., and Babel, W. 1995. Determination of substrate utilization patterns of soil microbial communities: An approach to assess population changes after hydrocarbon pollution. FEMS Microbiology Ecology. 17 (4): 295-306.

Zak, J.C., Willig, M.R., Moorhead, D.L., and Wildman, H.G. 1994. Functional diversity of microbial communities: A quantitative approach. Soil Biol. Biochem. 26 (9): 1101-1108.

Zobell, C.E. 1946. Action of microorganisms on hydrocarbons. Bacteriological Reviews. 10:1-49.

APPENDIX

ſ <u> </u>					Conte	aminated	1
GEOTECHNICAL		TOBA HYDRO Engineering RBURDEN LOG	THI Dec	CKET PORT	AGE Site	TP-01(1 OF Prj.# 20053	0
SAMPLU SAMPLU Dupth	Sempler Types Split Spoon	Auger Core Barrel Sonic Special Auger Auger	Bulk Sample Grab	PL Moisture M.C. 20% 40% 60%	LL Oil a 80% 20	nd Grease (ppm) 40 80 80	DEPT
(m) R #	USCS			Total Extracta Hydrocarbons (ppm) ⊕ Mic PID R	rotip O leading O	(m)
↓ As/AC ↓ As		 (0.30-0.20) Top soil, brow (0.20-0.50) Clay, organic, rootlets, soft insitu, abov (0.50-1.00) Clay, dark bro above PL, slight diesel od (1.00-1.50) Clay, dark bro pockets, medium insitu, a Strong diesel odor to 2.00m (1.50-2.00) Clay, dark bro pockets, medium insitu, a (2.00-3.00) Clay, dark bro pockets, trace oxidation, a above PL. No diesel odor below 2.00m (3.00-4.50) Clay, light brow layers 5-10mm thick, clay thick, trace oxidation, med above PL. (4.50-4.75) Clay, light brow oxidation, silt reacts to sha 5-14mm thick, clay layers above PL. (4.75-5.00) Clay as above, sand. (5.00-5.25) Sand, brown, fi grained, with silt, saturate (5.25) End of Hole due to at Well installed. 	In, trace rootlets. dark brown, trace e PL. bwn, medium insitu, for. wn, trace silt bove PL. wn, trace silt bove PL. wn, trace silt medium insitu, n. wn, varved, silt r layers 5-13mm dium to soft insitu, vn, silt varves, trace aking, silt layers 4-16mm thick, trace fine grained ine to coarse d. uger refusal.		>>0000 >>0000 >>0000 >>0000 020.0 025.7 016.8 016.2 014.9 016.2 016.2 012.4 011.8 08.0 03.7	0308.0 0278.0 0425- 0 0370.0 0370.0 0278.0	-1 -2 -3 -4
WATER TABLE Depth @ 0.20 (on 98/07/18	m)	NORTH: 207.800 EAST: 201.900 TREND: PLUNGE: -90.0 (deg) ELEV G/S: 99.07 (m)	EQUIPMENT: F METHOD: DRILLER: P STATUS:	M-30 Holiow Stem Auger addock Drilling Final: DES 99/04/08 Overlay: HCX500 HCPD	COMPLETIC INSPECTOR DEPTH: 0/8 Printed: 199	N: 98/07/15 P. Pantel 5.25 (m) 05/16 11:10 TPSSA GE	EOTE

			· · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Unco ata	minata	(1
GEOTECHNICAL	MANIT E OVEF	OBA HYDRO	THI(Deco	CKET PORTAGE		TP-0 1 OF	33
DEPTH (m)	ampler ypes Split Spoon Shelby USCS	Auger Soli DESC	Bulk Semple Greb Air Hammer RIPTION	PL Moisture M.C. LL 20% 40% 60% 80% Total Extractable Hydrocarbons (ppm) ⊕	Oil and (p 20 40 Micror PID Rea	Greese pm) 60 80 tip ding	
-1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1		 (0.00-0.25) Top soil, dark (0.25-1.00) Clay, brown, t PL. No diesel odor detected in F (1.00-1.50) Clay, brown, a (1.50-2.00) Clay as above, (2.00-2.50) Clay as above, (2.00-2.50) Clay, brown, tr medium insitu, above PL. (3.00-3.50) Clay, brown, sl oxidation, medium insitu, a (3.50-4.75) Clay, light brow insitu, above PL. (4.75-4.90) Clay, light brow trace fine sand in silt varve above PL. (4.90-5.25) Silt grey, trace s (5.25) End of Hole due to au 	brown, roots. race rootlets, above hole. bove PL. trace silt pockets. medium insitu. ace silt seams, ightly varved, trace above PL. /n, varved, soft in/grey, varved, is, trace oxidation, sand, trace gravel. Iger refusal.		100 200 014.3 0 010.1 0 05.0 0 04.4 0 05.5 0 04.4 0 04.5 0 04.4 0 05.6 0 04.10 0 05.4 0 05.4 0 05.4 0 05.4 0 05.4 0 05.5 0 01.6 0 01.6 0 02.5 0 02.4 0		
WATER TABLE No water level recorded.		NORTH: 240.200 EAST: 197.200 TREND: PLUNGE: -90.0 (deg) ELEV G/S: 98.50 (m)	EQUIPMENT: RM METHOD: Ho DRILLER: Pad	-30 Ilow Stem Auger Idock Drilling	COMPLETION: INSPECTOR: DEPTH: Printed: #9/06/1	98/07/17 P. Pantel 5.25 (m)	GEOTE

<u> </u>							[0	taminated	11
		K	MAN			PIKWITONEI	_	PI-012	2
GE	ΕΟΤΕ	CHNICA		RBURDEN LOG		ecommissioned Diesel Sit	6	1 OF	1
	SAMPL	SAMPL	Sempler Types Split Spoon	Auger Special Sonic Special Auger	Rulk Semple Greb Semple	PL Moisture PL M.C. LI 20% 40% 60% 80%	L Qil and (p 20 40	Grease E pm) 60 80	
(m)	R	E #	USCS			Total Extractable Hydrocarbons (ppm)	Micro PID Rea	tip O ding O	(m)
	\bigotimes	1 AS/AC	сн	(0.00-0.20) Ctay filled. (0.20-1.50) Ctay, dark bro	own, blacky, diesel			0 300 400	
	$\hat{\mathbb{R}}$	3 AS/AC		odor, above PL.		10	>>9 2100	>>	9511.0 985.0
	\boxtimes	5 AS/AG 8 AS/AG					>>	>> >>	66 77.0
_2	X	AS/AC		(1.50-2.50) Clay, brown, s diesel odor, above PL.	some silt, verved,	•		>>	0503.0 0726.0 0531.0
	$\hat{\mathbf{A}}$	AS/AC		(2.50-3.50) Clay, brown, 1	with silt varves.		>>0	>>	0820.d
_3	X	12 AS/AC 13 AS/AC				•		0391.0 ⁻	
· - ·	X	4 S/AC 5 S/AC 6		(3.50-4.20) Clay, light bro diesel odor, above PL.	wn, with silt varves	,	>>⊕ 780	○256.0 ○259.0)646.d
_4		S/AG	L	(4.20-4.45) Clay, light brod	wn, some sand		046.6	@ 241.0	_4
			<u> </u>	(4.45) End of Hole due to a	uger refusal on				
V No duri	VAT wate ing d	ER TAI er anco rilling.	BLE puntered	NORTH: 217.600 EAST: 230.000 TREND:	EQUIPMEN METHOD: DRILLER: STATUS	T: RM-30 Hollow Stem Auger Peddock Drilling FinAL: DES 99/02/16 0/8 Overlavs: HCX500 HCPD ATT	COMPLETION INSPECTOR: DEPTH: Printed: \$9/05	: 98/07/07 F. Demchenk 4.45 (m) /19.11:27 PI98A G	D EOTE

MAINTOBA HYDRO Decommissioned Diesel Site PickWittonEl Decommissioned Diesel Site Pi-016 1 OF OUTERUNSAN Normality Auser Efficiency Pickets Of and Grazer Pickets Image: Site Site Site Site Site Site Site Site													Ĺ	Incon	tami	nta	11
Underständen Underständen Decommissioned Diesel Site 1 OF Image: State S				MA	NIT	OBA HY	DRO		_	PIK	WITON	EI			Ρ	-01	6
WATER HALE Work Tr. Konstruct Konstruct <t< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>ngineering</th><th></th><th></th><th>D</th><th>ecommi</th><th>ssioned Die</th><th>esel Site</th><th></th><th></th><th>1</th><th>OF</th><th>1</th></t<>						ngineering			D	ecommi	ssioned Die	esel Site			1	OF	1
B S					UVER		DG								Prj.	2005:	33
Product Status District	DE	SA	S A	Sampk Types	87	Auger			Bulk Semple		PL Moistu	Ire LL		Oil and	Grease	6	
Image: Second	Ť	P	P	⊠≌	lit oon	D Sonic	Special Sampler	- E	Greb Sample		20% 40% 6	0% 80%		(p; 20 40	om) 60	=0	E P
(m) # USCS SOIL DESCRIPTION Hydrocathora (pm) PID Reading (0.00-0.50)		Ē	Ē	Sh	elby		Tricone	\square	Air Hammer		Total Extra	ctable a		Microt			- H
Market Bank 1 (0.00-0.50) (0.50-1.25) (1.25-3.00)	(m)		#	USC	s	SOI	L DESC	RIPT	TION		Hydrocarbon	s (ppm) [™]		PID Rea	ding	0	(m
VATED TABLE MORTH: 222 Jood Course finance Course Course Course </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>SIAC</td> <td>СН</td> <td></td> <td>(0.00-0.50) (</td> <td>Clay fill, with</td> <td>gravel,</td> <td>rootlets.</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>b10.0</td> <td></td> <td>300</td> <td>400</td> <td>+</td>			SIAC	СН		(0.00-0.50) (Clay fill, with	gravel,	rootlets.				b10.0		300	400	+
MATER TABLE MORTH: 222.000 10.5 Clay, brown, some silt, verved, siightly blocky, sbove PL. Dis.1 1 Case Dis.3 Dis.3 Dis.3 Dis.3 2.2 Case Dis.3 Dis.3 Dis.3 Dis.3 2.3 Case Dis.3 Dis.3 Dis.3 Dis.3 3.4 Case Dis.3 Dis.4 Dis.3 Dis.4 3.4 Case Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 3.4 Case Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 3.4 Case Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 4.4 Case Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 4.4 Case Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 5.5 Case Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 5.5 Case Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 Dis.4 5.5 Case Case Dis.5 Dis.4 Dis.5 <td></td> <td>012.2</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>ŧ</td>													012.2				ŧ
1 Carce 0.33 0.43 2 Carce 1.25-3.00) Clay, brown, some sit, verved, 0.63 0.63 2 Carce 0.64 0.63 0.63 0.64 3 Carce 0.64 0.63 0.64 0.64 3 Carce 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.64 3 Carce 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.64 3 Class 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.64 3 Class 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.64 4 Class 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.64 5 Class 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.64 5 Class 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.64 6 Class 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.64 0.64 5 Class 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.64 0.64 6 Class 0.65 0.65 <td></td> <td>X.</td> <td>S/AC</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>(0.50-1.25) C</td> <td>Clay, brown, s</td> <td>slightly t</td> <td>olocky, abov</td> <td>ve</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>010.</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>F</td>		X.	S/AC			(0.50-1.25) C	Clay, brown, s	slightly t	olocky, abov	ve			010.				F
Adden Table Note: Trable No	_1	X	S/AC										D9.7		;		F,
MATER TABLE MORTH: 22,300 ECUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07	-	<u>ې</u>	S/AC			(1.25-3.00) 0	lev brown e	some eil	tunned				010 7			Ì	T.
2 Astron Des Des 3 Astron Des Des 3 Astron Diss Diss 3 Astron Diss Diss 3 Astron Diss Diss 4 Astron Diss Diss 4 Astron Diss Diss 4 Astron Diss Diss 5 Astron City Diss 5 Astron Diss Diss 6 Astron Diss Diss 6 Astron Diss Diss 6 Astron Diss Diss 6 Astron Diss Diss 7 Astron Diss Diss 7 Astron Diss Diss 8 Astron Diss Diss 7 Astron Diss Diss 8 Astron Diss Diss 9 Astron Diss Di		Ҙ	S/AC			slightly block	ky, above PL.						D10.1			Ì	Ē
MATER TABLE MORTH: 227,300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 MATER TABLE MORTH: 227,300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07		✐	S/AC										8.80				E
WATER TABLE NoRTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION:: 5807/07 WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION:: 5807/07	-2 #		SIAC										D9.3			ł	-2
3 Astron D12.6 D12.6 D12.6 3 Astron D12.6 D12.6 D12.6 D12.6 3 Astron Stand D12.6 D12.6 D12.6 D12.6 4 Astron Stand Stand D12.6	ľ		S/AC										Þ8. 1				Ē
MATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 58/07/07		$\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{A}}$	S/AC										012.6				F
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07	3		2 5/AQ										010.9				Ł
MATER TABLE NoRTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 38/07/07	k	X	S/AC		\square	(3.00-4.25) C	lay, brown, s	ome silt	varves,				011.4				3
A Marce 012.4 013.4 A Brack 013.4 013.4 Brack Brack 013.4 013.4 Brack Brack 013.4 013.4 Brack Brack Dist 013.4 Brack Brack Dist Dist Brack Brack Dist Dist S Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist Dist	k	X	S/AC			signuy block	ly, trace oxidi	ation, at	ove PL.				D8.6	Ī	-		Ē
A Asian Asian Milesian S (4.25-4.70) Clay, light brown, trace sand, varved, damp, stiff insitu, above PL, no diesel odor. De.1 Dit.2 D	k		AC										012.4				Ē
WATER TABLE NoRTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 WATER TABLE NoRTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 Nowster encountered during drilling. NoRTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 Nowster encountered during drilling. NoRTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07	₄ k		AC	Ē													4
WATER TABLE No water encountered during drilling. NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 METHOD: Holiow Stern Auger DESCRIPTION: P. Demohenko METHOD: Holiow Stern Auger DESCRIPTION: P. Demohenko	K		i/AC	E		(4.25-4.70) Cl	ay, light brow	wn, trace	e sand.			-	09.1	1			F
5 Marcel 1 Marcel	K					varved, damp	, stiff insitu,	above F	PL, no diese	1			011.2	1			Ē
WATER TABLE No water encountered during diffing. NORTH: 227.300 EAST. EQUIPMENT: RM-30 METHOD: Holow Stem Auger METHOD: Holow Stem Auger	. [M	L		(4.70-5.00) Si	it, some sand	1. some	clay, trace	~			014.0	-		•	Ē
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07			SI	м 🗌		fine gravel, tr	ace oxidation	n, varved	i, damp, no	· /		:	016.0				5
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 Water encountered during drilling. NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07						(5.00-5.20) Sa	nd, some silt	t. some	fine to								
(5.20) End of Hole due to suger refusal on bedrock. WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 No water encountered during drilling. Nowater encountered Uning drilling. Nowater encountered TREND: 220.000 DECUIPMENT: RM-30 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demohenko DECUIPMENT: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demohenko						coarse gravel	, trace oxidat	tion, we	t.								
WATER TABLE No water encountered during drilling. No water encountered BAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demohenko Demohenko					((5.20) End of I	Hole due to a	uger ref	usal on	_							
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during dilling. TAETO: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stern Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demohenko Delling. THEND: THEND: Paddack Delling INSPECTOR: F. Demohenko						UDDIDCK.											
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko DRILLER Poddock Drilling DRILLER Poddock Drilling INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during dilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko DRILL FR: Peddock Dilling. DESTL: 20000 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during dilling. TREND: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko DRIIL LER: Paddoch Drilling. DREILLER: F. Demchenko																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko During drilling. DRILLER Perfuect Drilling. DSETU: F. Demchenko																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko DRILL FB: Paddock Drilling. DEPLU. F. Demchenko																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko DRILL FR: Perdock Drilling DESPLUT F. Demchenko																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stern Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko DRILL LER: DRILL LER: Drilling DESTL: 2000 DESTL: DESTL:																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stern Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko DRILLER: DRILLER: DRILLER: DEPTH: DEPTH: DEPTH:																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stern Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stern Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko DRILL LER: DRILL LER: Drilling DEPTH: DEPTH: DEPTH:																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stern Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko DRILLER: DRILLER: Paddock Drilling DESTURE F. Demchenko																	
WATER TABLE NORTH: 227.300 EQUIPMENT: RM-30 COMPLETION: 98/07/07 No water encountered during drilling. EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko DRILLER: DRILLER: Paddock Drilling DESTL: F. Demchenko																	
No water encountered EAST: 220.000 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenko DRILLER: Paddock Drilling	w	ATER	RTAP	BLE		NORTH: 22	7.300			- B14 20			<u> </u>	ETICH	-	107	
	No w	vater Ig dri	enco	untered		EAST: 22 TREND:	0.000		METHOD:	Hollow	Stem Auger		INSPE	CTOR:	98/07 F. Der	nchenk	0
ELEV G/S: 98.51 (m) STATUS FINA: DES 89/03/18 0/8 Printed: 99/05/19 11:28 Pissa GEO		.				PLUNGE: -90 ELEV G/S: 98	0.0 (deg) 1.51 (m)		STATI 19	FINAL:	K Drilling	18 0/8	DEPTH Printed:	89/06/	5.20 (m) PI98A GI	ÊOTE

GEOTECHNICAL	MANIT En OVERI	OBA H) ngineering BURDEN L	/DRO og		PIKW	ned Dies	E l sel Site			Р 1 Ртј.	- 00 OF 2005:	8 1 33
DEPTH (m)	Sempler Types Split Spoon Shelby	Auger	Core Berrel X Special Tricone	Bulk Sample Grab Sample Air Hamme	r To	Moistur M.C. 40% 60%			Oil and (pp 20 40 Microt	Grease pm) 60	5 ••	T
1 CH As As/AC As/AC As/AC As/AC As/AC As/AC Tas/AC	USCS	(1.00-1.25) ((1.25-2.50) (Clay, brown, tra PL. Clay, brown, so Clay, brown, so	RIPTION ace sand, diesel me silt, blocky. me silt varves,	100 H4	200 300	>>	02.5			400 0408. 0411. 0362.0-	
2 AS/AC AS/AC 10 AS/AC 11 AS/AC 12 13 13 13 14		medium insi 2.50-3.00) (3.00-3.75) (itu, diesel odor, Clay as above, v	above PL.	•		>>2	00		0281.0	>> -044 -> ->	
AS/AC 16 AS/AC 16 AS/AC 17 CL 18 AS/AC 17 CL AS/AC 18 ML		trace sand, r 3.75-4.00) C varved, wet. 4.00-4.30) S saturated.	lay, urown, son nedium insitu, a lay, light brown ilt, light brown,	with sand,		280		316.4		0252.0	041	
	(4	3.75-4.00) C varved, wet. 4.00-4.30) S saturated. 4.30) End of bedrock.	lay, light brown ilt, light brown, Hole due to aug	, some sand, with sand, er refusal on				316.4		0252.0		

ſ								Ina	onta	min	atea	łZ
			MAN	TOBA HYDRO		PIKWITON	El			PI	-01	0
				Engineering	De	commissioned Dies	el Site			1	OF	1
				ERBURDEN LOG	L					Prj.#	20053	33
Dug	SA	S A	Sampler Types	Auger 🔀 Core Barrel	Bulk Sample	PL Moisture	u		Dil and G	irease	8	p
Г Н	P	P	Split Spoon	Sonic Special	rs Grab Semple	20% 40% 60	\$ \$0%	20	(ppn) 40	n) 50	80	P
	Ē	Ĕ	Shelby		Air Hemmer	Total Extract	able 🕀		Microtip)	·····	Ĥ
(m)		*	USCS	SOIL DESC	RIPTION	100 200 300	(ppm) 400	10	DReadii D200	ng 300	400	(m)
-		P C		(0.00-0.10) Peat.		∕ •		0.7				1
÷.		JAC JAC		blocky, above PL.	wn, trace rootlets,	•		3.9		ŀ	:	E
È		DA/						4.7			-	Ē
L1 .								0:2				<u>_</u> 1
				(1.25-2.50) Clay, brown,	some silt varves,	-	•	1.1				F
		/AG		above PL.		•		4.4			İ	ŧ
2		A						0.0		l		1
		AC		1				0.0		1		F
		DAY		(2.50-4.00) Clay as above	, with silt varves.	•	, i i	0.0		a la seconda de la	-	
Ţ		AG					•	0.0		a ha hagan agar		ŧ.
	14 AS/	AC										-3
		AC					φ ^ι	0.0	ļ	ľ		ŧ
		۸d					Î	.7				ŧ
-4 k				(4.00-4.50) Clay light brow	up and silt years		ľ	.0				4
K		A.C			ATT, ATTG SHE VALVES.	170		09:	1.1			ŧ
· •	20 AS/		. ///	(4.50-4.75) Silt, light brow	n, some clay,	- •	• :	1.1				
5	21 AS/	A.G		varved, above PL. (4.75-5.00) Silt, light brow	n. some clay, trace		φa	.0				
				sand, wet.	/	ſ*				- <u></u>	I	5
				(5.00) End of Hole due to a bedrock.	uger refusal on							
				Well installed.								
1444												
WA1 Dept	th @ 2	.80 (r	m) ¥	NORTH: 204.700 EAST: 230.000	EQUIPMENT: METHOD:	RM-30 Hollow Stem Auger	C	OMPL	TION:	98/07/	07 chenka	
on 9	8/07/1	0		PLUNGE: -90.0 (deg) ELEV G/S: 98.09 (m)	DRILLER:	Paddock Drilling	0/8 Pr	EPTH:	99/05/18	5.00 (r	n) 1984 GF	EOTE
		_			31A103:	Uverlays: HCX500 HCPI	D ATT10 OG1	OO LINE	USCS TI			

						······	· · ·						<u> </u>	ontal	nir	ated	Sana	L
			MA	NIT	ГОВА НҮ	DRO	BR	ANDON	GA	SS	IFIC	CAT	ION	PLA	NT	BC	3-02	3
				E	Engineering											1	OF	1
GE	ΟΤΕ	CHNIC	AL (OVE	RBURDEN LO	DG										Prj./	20100	1
D	s	s	Şampl	er				Bulle	T		Moi	sture			Var	e Sheer		
L P T	M	M		olit		Special		Sample		PL	M	.c.	LL.			(kPe)	u	Ë
н́	Ľ	Ľ		boon		Sampler		Semple		20%	40%	60%	\$0%	25	50	75	100	15
(m)	Ŕ				Berrei			Air Hammer		Stan	dard F 1	Penetr a M	ation	Penet	rome	l Compre ler		
	_	-	USC	:S 	SOI	L DESC		PTION		20	40	60	ີ່ສຸດ	10	20	(kPa) 0 300	400	(m)
Ē		DS/DG	COAL		(0.00-0.20) 1	op soil, blec	k.		-1			t	i			1		ł
Ę			SP		(0.25-0.63)	iand. black.										L		ł
		2	ML	htt:	(0.63-0.86) 5	ilt, dark brov	wn/ bla	ack, some	-1					Ĩ			1	F
-1		3 DS/D0	N/R		black substa	nce (difficult	t to dri	ill), trace sand,	/──					_				L1
					SSA to 1.05m	I.			//_							1		
-		EG			(1.34) Difficu	lt drilling. Dr	rill wit	h SSA to	' -		I				1			Ē
		DS/DO	CL	\mathbb{Z}	1.60m; grind	ling ends. D	Drill HS	A with plug to	Ĺ			l				ł		ł
2	_	ວິຣ/ວດ	GP		(1.65-1.85) C	lay, gray, so	me sil	t, medium stiff	″├		_	<u> </u>						2
		DS/DC			insitu, above	PL.			/		İ	l					/	
v 1					(1.85-4.20) G	ravel, with s	land.					l			İ		Í	F
3		ós/Dd								1					-	64 P 1041-14		
F .										1								-3
		Bs/De													i			
	-									l								E
_4		DG	Í								1	l				1		
₩3		,			(4 20-4 67) G		cand .	odor							ļ	1		
⊧		DS/DC					sana, i	0001.			-		1		ĺ	İ		
					(4.67-5.19) G	ravel, tan bro	own, s	some coarse	•			l	i					E
_5		55150			grained sand	, saturated, c	odor.			<u> </u>	-							_5
			ľ		(5.19-5.71) G	ravel, saturat	ted, oc	dor.		i						•		
			•								•	-	-		ţ		Ţ	
		۱ مر	ль [(5.71-5.86) S	and, coarse g	grained	d, and gravel.	-			-				-		
-0		5.DQ						_					ļ					_6
		3								i	Ē	-		T T				
		5									i.		-	1	1	- 6000 8		-
	Ę	5			(6.66) End of No bedrock end	Hole. countered.												
-			•		installed well.													
WA'	TER 2 A	TABLE			NORTH: 3	7.300		EQUIPMENT	Canta	rre				COMPI	ETION	: 97/1/	0/29	
21,,,	4.18	i (m)			EAST: 3 TREND:	1.400		METHOD: DRILLER	Hollo	w Ste	om Au	ger Ltd			TOR:	F. De	mchenk	•
3)	4.26	i (m)			FLUNGE: -9 ELEV G/S: 10	0.0 (deg) 00.18 (m)		STATUS:	FINAL		DES 98	/10/22	0/8 10 VAN	Printed:	99/01	0.00 5/19 11:61	8G97A (GEOTE

GEO	TE				TOBA HY Engineering RBURDEN LO	DRO og	BRANDON	GASS	SIFIC	AT	ION	PLAN	T	В(1 Ртј. (G-02 OF 2010	25 1 01
DEPTH	SAMPLER	SAZPLE	Samp Typed S S S	ler plit poon helby	Auger	Core Barrel X Special Tricone	Bulk Sampie Grab Semple Air Hammer	PL 20% Stat	Mois M. 40%	ture C. 60% enetra	LL 60%	25 Unconi Penetro	Vane (kP 50 ined C	Shear (a) 75 ompre	100 ISSion	
(m)		*	USC	s	SOI	L DESC	RIPTION	20	40 (N	60	* \$0	100	(k.P 200	300	400	(n
		os 7	PT		(0.00-0.23)	Peat, brown.		-				4				Ŧ
		ōs/Do			(0.23-0.65) cinders.	Liay, Drown,	with gravel, with			ļ						Ē
1 		3 DS/DG ØG ØS/DG DS/DG	SP-SM		(0.65-1.65) gravel.	Black cinders,	, with sand, some									
2		DG			(1.65) Black	unidentified s	ubstança.								-	
		DG			(2.15-2.65) 1 sand, some	Far, black, so gravel, stron	ft liquid form, some g odor.						4-1-1-1-1-4-1-4-1-4-1-4-1-4-1-4-1-4-1-4			
		6 D\$/DG			(2.65-3.15) s silt, damp.	Sand, brown,	with gravel, some							5.0 - 1963 a Hadden y		
		7 DS/DC	SP		(3.15-3.65) S black tar, so	and, coarse, oft fluid form.	some gravel, and			1981 - A. B. Jacky						
8		DG DG DS/DG	37		(3.65-5.15) G with non-flu	iravel, with c id tar.	oarse grained sand,			n er e van te andere an ennen er men en en en en en en en en en en en en e		-				
		DS/DG	SP-SM		(5.15-6.15) S some fine gr	and, brown, a avel, damp, s	coarse grained, come tar odor.	11 THE FORMULA IN THE FORMULA IN	1996 19 1997 19							<u></u>
		DG		1 E 1 I 1 I	(6.15-6.63) S damp, odor.	and, medium	grey, some silt,	T T	-					-		
	10	2 DS/DC			(0.03-0.13) 5	anu as adove	, saturated, odor.		n						-	
	D 14 D	4)S/DQ			(8.15-9.86) Si grained, satu	and, medium rated.	brownish grey, fine		* F* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *		**** Pres	4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4		-	:	
	A	G														9
	1	!	L	<u></u>	(9.26) End of Installed well.	Hole.	``````	•	<u> </u>	<u>.</u>	<u>_</u> _		,		_	<u> </u>
WAT 1) Gor 9 2) 4	ER	R TABI Bidg De 09/04 8 (m)	LE V molished	(m)	NORTH: 2 EAST: 4 TREND:	0.500 0.000	EQUIPMENT: METHOD: DRILLER:	Canterra Hollow S Paddock C	tem Aug Drilling L	jer .td		COMPLE INSPECT DEPTH:	TION: OR:	97/10 F. De 9.26	0/29 mcheni (m)	ko

			·	Ü,	Contam	inted Sina
		TOBA HYDRO Engineering	BRANDON	GASSIFICATION	I PLANT	BG-010
GEOTECHNICA		RBURDEN LOG				Prj.# 201001
SAMPLE DEPTH	Sempler Types Split Split Shelby	Auger Sorie Sonic Special Barrel Sonic Special Auger Tricone	Bulk Sample Grab Sample D Air Hammer	PL Moisture M.G. LL 20% 40% 50% 50% Standard Penetration	Van 25 50 Unconfined	e Shear D (LPa) P 75 100 T Compression A
(m) ^K #	USCS	SOIL DESC	RIPTION	(N) * 20 40 60 80	100 200	er a (kPe) (m) 0 300 400
-1 -1 -2 -3 -4 -1 -2 -2 -2 -2 -2 -2 -2 -2		 (0.00-0.50) Top soil, blac damp. (0.50-0.75) Silt, black, wi powder substance in san (0.75-1.25) Clay, black, s gravel, above PL. (1.25-1.50) Sand, brown, gravel, trace clay, satura (1.50-2.50) Sand, brown, saturated. (2.50-3.10) Gravel, some (3.10-3.70) Sand, brown, grained, some gravel, sat (3.70-4.30) Sand, coarse gravel 	k, some gravel, ith cinders. White nple. ome top soil, trace with silt, trace ted. coarse grained, sand. fine to coarse urated. grained, with gravel.			1
8 DS/DC		(4.30-4.90) Sand, brown, some gravel, saturated.	coarse grained,			
		No bedrock encountered.				
WATER TAE No water level recorded.	BLE	NORTH: -3.000 EAST: 60.000 TREND:	EQUIPMENT: C METHOD: H DRILLER: P	anterra Hollow Stem Auger addock Drilling Ltd	COMPLETION INSPECTOR: DEPTH:	: 97/10/27 F. Demchenko 4.90 (m)

GEOTECHN	MAN IKAL OV	ITOBA HYDRO Engineering ERBURDEN LOG	BRANDON	GASSIFICATION	<u>(ontamini</u> PLANT	BG-017 1 OF 1 Prj.# 201001
DEPTH	Sempler Types Split Spoon	Auger Core Berrel) Sonic I Special Auger Tricone	Bulk Semple Grab Sample Air Hammer	PL Moisture PL M.C. LL 20% 40% 60% 80% Standard Penetration	Vane (1) 25 50 Unconfined (Penetromete	Shear □ D Pa) 75 100 T Compression △ H
(m) #	USCS	SOIL DESC	RIPTION	(N) * 20 40 60 80	(k 100 200	Pe) (m)
_1 _1 _2 _2 _2 _2 _2 _2 _2 _2 _2 _2	d ML	(2.10-3.60) Sand, brown, grained, with gravel, trac (3.60-4.30) Silt, medium b grained sand, trace clay, (4.30-6.60) Silt, grey, trac trace clay, hard insitu, da	fine to coarse e cobbles. frown, some fine hard insitu, damp. e fine grained sand, mp.			
		No bedrock encountered. Well installed.				
WATER TABL 1) 2.77 (m) 560904 2) 4.30 (m) 571106 3) 4.37 (m) 5711025	E	NORTH: 38.000 EAST: 13.100 TREND: PLUNGE: -90.0 (deg) ELEV G/S: 100.36 (m)	EQUIPMENT: C METHOD: F DRILLER: PA	anterra follow Stem Auger addock Drilling Ltd FINAL: DES 98/11/10.0/B	COMPLETION: INSPECTOR: DEPTH: Printed: 99/05/11	97/10/28 F. Demchenko 6.60 (m) 11:47 BG97A GEOTE

MANITOBA HYDRO Engineering OVERBURDEN LOG BRANDON GASSIFICATION PLANT BG-02- 10 PL-201001 Image: State								Conta	minate	1 from 1		
Engineering 1 OF H 201001 Performer OVERBURDEN LOG Performer Performer <th cols<="" th=""><th></th><th></th><th>1</th><th>MANIT</th><th>TOBA HYDRO</th><th>BRANDON O</th><th>GASSIFIC</th><th>ATION</th><th>PLANT</th><th>BG-02</th><th>21</th></th>	<th></th> <th></th> <th>1</th> <th>MANIT</th> <th>TOBA HYDRO</th> <th>BRANDON O</th> <th>GASSIFIC</th> <th>ATION</th> <th>PLANT</th> <th>BG-02</th> <th>21</th>			1	MANIT	TOBA HYDRO	BRANDON O	GASSIFIC	ATION	PLANT	BG-02	21
Production Production Production P Aver Aver Statut Image: S				E	Engineering					1 OF	1	
Image: Section of the sectin the sectin the sectin the sectin the section of th										Prj.# 2010	01	
Image: Second product of the secon	UMPT	AN	AM	Typee Split	Auger Serrel	Servole Grab			25 50	• Sheer [(kPa) 75 100	I D E P	
Image: Image:	Ή		Ē	Shelby		Air Hemmer	Stendard P	enetration	Unconfined	Compression	ĀĤ	
1 See 3 ^D (0.00-0.50) Send, brown black, some gravel. 1 Basoc (0.50-1.35) Send, dark brown, black, some clay, trace gravel, damp. 1 Basoc (1.35-1.50) Send, with black plestic 1 Basoc (1.35-1.50) Send, with black plestic 1 Basoc (1.35-1.50) Send, with black plestic 1 Basoc (1.35-2.00) Black substance, with send. 2 Sasoc (2.00-2.50) Black substance, soft, strong odor. 1 Basoc (3.00-3.65) Silt, prown, some fine grained 1 Basoc (3.65-4.50) Silt, gray, trace fine grained 1 Basoc (3.65-4.50) No recovery. 2 Kasoc (6.10-5.75) Silt, gray, trace fine grained send, very hard insitu, damp. 4 Kasoc (6.10-5.75) Silt se above, odor. 5 Ac (6.10-5.75) Silt, prown, with send, trace fine grained send, very hard insitu, damp. 6 Co (7.50-7.50) Silt, brown, with send, trace fine grained send, very hard insitu, damp. 7 Co (6.10-5.75) Silt, prown, with send, trace fine grained send, very hard insitu, damp. 7 Co (7.60-7.96) Silt, gray is brown, with	(m)	Ľ		USCS	SOIL DESC	RIPTION	20 40 (N	80 €0	100 200	(kPe) 300 400	- (m)	
1 0 and cley, trace grave, damp. 1 0 and cley, trace grave, damp. 1 0 and cley, trace grave, damp. 1 0 and cley, trace grave, damp. 1 1.35-1.50) Sand, with black plastic subatance. 1 0 and cley, trace grave, damp. 2 0 and cley, trace grave, damp. 2 0 and cley, trace grave, damp. 3 0 and cley, trace grave, damp. 4 0 and cley, trace grave, trace fine grained and, stiff insitu, damp. 4 0 and cley, trace fine grained sand, very hard insitu, damp. 5 And cley, trace fine grave, trace fine grained sand, very hard insitu, damp. 6 0 and cley, travel, very hard insitu, damp. 7 0 and cley, travel, very hard insitu, damp. 4 0 and cley, travel, very hard insitu, damp. 7 0 and cley, travel, very hard insitu, damp.	ł		05/00	SP	(0.00-0.50) Send, brown	black, some gravel.					Ī	
1 1			2		(0.50-1.35) Send, derk br	own, black, some				-	Ē	
13500 N/R (1.35-1.50) Send, with black plestic substance. 1150-2.00) Black substance, with send. (2.00-2.50) Black substance, soft, strong odor. 1500 (2.00-2.50) Black substance, soft, strong odor. 1500 (3.00-3.65) Silt, brown, some fine grained send, stiff insitu, damp, odor. 1 (3.00-3.65) Silt, prown, some fine grained send, stiff insitu, damp, odor. 1 (3.00-3.65) Silt, grey, trace fine send, demp, odor. 1 (3.00-5.10) Silt, grey, trace fine grained send, very hard insitu, damp. 1 (6.00-6.10) Silt, grey, trace fine grained send, very hard insitu, damp. 1 (6.10-6.75) Silt as above, odor. 1 (6.75-7.60) Silt, greyish brown, with send, some grevel, very hard insitu, damp. 1 (7.80-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, some grevel, very hard insitu, damp. 1 (7.80-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, some grevel, very hard insitu, damp: "tibilite". 1 (7.80-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, some grevel, very hard insitu, damp: "tibilite". 1 (7.80-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, some grevel, very hard insitu, damp: "tibilite". 1 (7.80-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, some grevel, very hard insitu, damp: 1 (7.80-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, soft are grevel, very hard insitu, damp:	_1		3								<u>+</u> 1	
2 Saco eubstance. (1.50-2.00) Bisk substance, with sand. (2.00-2.50) Bisk substance, soft, strong odor. 3 Saco (2.50-3.00) Sand, with bisk liquid substance. 3 Saco (2.50-3.00) Sand, with bisk liquid substance. 3 Saco (3.00-3.65) Sit, brown, some fine grained sand, stiff insitu, damp, odor. 4 Saco (3.05-4.50) Sit, grey, trace fine sand, damp, odor. 5 AG ML (4.50-5.00) No recovery. 5 AG ML (6.10-6.75) Sit, grey, trace fine grained sand, very hard insitu, damp. 6 Baco (6.10-6.75) Sit as above, odor. (6.10-6.75) Sit, grey, with sand, trace fine gravel, very hard insitu, damp. 7 DG (7.60-7.96) Sit, prey sh brown, with sand, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp. (7.60-7.96) Sit, prey sh brown, with sand, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp. 7 DG (7.60-7.96) Sit, prey sh brown, with sand, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp. (7.36) End af Hole. No bedrock encountered.	• •		05/00	N/R	(1.35-1.50) Sand, with bl	eck plastic					ł	
2 5xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx			05/00		substance. (1.50-2.00) Black substar	ice, with send.					E	
3 5500 Sp oa (2.50-3.00) Sand, with black liquid substance. 3 5500 ML (3.00-3.85) Silt, brown, some fine grained sand, stiff insitu, damp, odor. 4 (3.05-4.50) Silt, gray, trace fine sand, damp, odor. (3.65-4.50) Silt, gray, trace fine sand, damp, odor. 5 AS ML (5.00-6.10) Silt, gray, trace fine grained sand, very hard insitu, damp. -5 AS ML (6.10-6.75) Silt as above, odor. -6 (6.75-7.60) Silt, brown, with sand, trace fine gravel, very hard insitu, damp. (6.75-7.60) Silt, graysh brown, with sand, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp. -7 00 (7.80-7.96) Silt, graysh brown, with sand, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp. -7 00 (7.80-7.96) Silt, graysh brown, with sand, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp. -7 00 (7.80-7.96) Silt, graysh brown, with sand, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp.	_ 2 .		6 05/00		(2.00-2.50) Black substan	ice, soft, strong odor.					2	
3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 03 3 04 3 0500 3 0500 4 0500 4 0500 5 04 4 0500 5 0500 6 10-5.75) 6 10-5.75) 6 10-5.75) 7 04 6 10-5.75) 7 05 10 10-5.75) 10 10-5.75) 10 10-5.75) 10 10-5.75.80) 10 10-5.75.80)			7	SP	(2.50-3.00) Sand, with bl	eck liquid substance.					-	
BSR0c ML IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	_3		ĐG			•					3	
4 0 g (3.65-4.50) Silt, grey, trace fine send, damp, odor. 5 N/R (4.50-5.00) No recovery. -5 A ML A (5.00-6.10) Silt, grey, trace fine grained send, very hard insitu, damp. -6 (6.10-6.75) Silt es above, odor. -6 (6.10-6.75) Silt es above, odor. -7 0 G A (7.60-7.96) Silt, grey ish brown, with send, trace fine gravel, very hard insitu, damp. -7 0 G A (7.60-7.96) Silt, grey ish brown, with send, trace fine gravel, very hard insitu, damp. -7 0 G -7 0 G </th <td></td> <td></td> <td>DS/DC</td> <td>ML</td> <td>(3.00-3.65) Silt, brown, s sand, stiff insitu, damp,</td> <td>ome fine grained odor.</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			DS/DC	ML	(3.00-3.65) Silt, brown, s sand, stiff insitu, damp,	ome fine grained odor.						
4 DSCOd odor. 0a 0a 0dor. 1 N/R (4.50-5.00) No recovery. 1 AG (5.00-6.10) Silt, grey, trace fine grained send, very hard insitu, damp. 1 AG (6.10-6.75) Silt as above, odor. 1 (6.10-6.75) Silt as above, odor. (6.10-6.75) Silt, brown, with send, trace fine gravel, very hard insitu, damp. 1 0a (6.75-7.80) Silt, brown, with send, trace fine gravel, very hard insitu, damp. 1 0a (7.60-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, trace fine gravel, very hard insitu, damp. 1 (7.60-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, trace fine gravel, very hard insitu, damp. 1 (7.60-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp. 1 (7.98) End of Hole. No bedrock encountered. No bedrock encountered.	-		05/00		(3.65-4.50) Silt, grey, trad	ce fine sand, damp,					F	
-5 AG ML (4.50-5.00) No recovery. -5 AG ML (5.00-6.10) Silt, grey, trace fine grained sand, very hard insitu, damp. -6 AG (6.10-6.75) Silt as above, odor. (6.10-6.75) Silt as above, odor. -7 OG (6.75-7.60) Silt, brown, with sand, trace fine gravel, very hard insitu, damp. -7 OG (7.60-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with sand, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp: "Ull-like". (7.96) End of Hole. No bedrock encountered. No bedrock encountered.	_4		DS/DO		odor.				-		4	
											Ł	
AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG				N/R	(4.50-5.00) No recovery.						Ē	
6 1 6 _	_5		AG	ML TT	(5.00-6.10) Silt, gray, trad	e fine grained sand,	•				5	
AG Image: Constraint of the constraint	-				very nara mara, aamp.						Ē	
-7 0G (6.10-6.75) Silt as above, odor. 0G (6.75-7.60) Silt, brown, with sand, trace fine gravel, very hard insitu, damp. AG (7.60-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with sand, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp; "till-like". (7.96) End of Hole. No bedrock encountered. (7.96) End of Hole.	_6		AG								6	
			11 05/D0		(6.10-6.75) Silt as above,	odor.				•	ł	
-7 OG gravel, very hard insitu, damp. AG (7.60-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp; "till-like". (7.96) End of Hole. No bedrock encountered. No bedrock encountered.				-							F	
AG (7.60-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp; "till-like". (7.96) End of Hole. No bedrock encountered.	7	ł	DG		(6.75-7.60) Silt, Brown, w gravel, very hard insitu, d	lamp.					-7	
(7.60-7.96) Silt, greyish brown, with send, some gravel, very hard insitu, damp; "till-like". (7.96) End of Hole. No bedrock encountered.	-		AG						1 1			
"till-like". (7.98) End of Hole. No bedrock encountered.					(7.60-7.96) Silt, greyish be some gravel, very hard in	rown, with send, situ, demp;			-		ł	
No bedrock encountered.					"till-like". (7.96) End of Hole.	/ ^A						
•					No bedrock encountered.							
					•							
WATER TABLE NORTH: 15.500 EQUIPMENT: Canterra COMPLETION: 97/10/29		w	ATER 1	ABLE	NORTH: 15.500	EQUIPMENT: 0	Canterra	T T	COMPLETION	: 97/10/29		
No water level EAST: 33.200 METHOD: Hollow Stem Auger INSPECTOR: F. Demchenke recorded. PLUNGE: -90.0 (deg) DENLLER: Peddock Drilling Ltd DEPTH: 7.96 (m)	No rea	o w	ater le ded.	vel	EAST: 33.200 TREND: PLUNGE: -90.0 (deg)	METHOD: DRILLER:	Hollow Stem Au	ger Ltd	INSPECTOR: DEPTH:	F. Demcher 7.96 (m)	GEOT	

_						·	Conta	minate	d lan	n Z
GEOT			TOBA HYDRO Engineering RBURDEN LOG	BRANDON	GASS	FICA	FION	PLANT	Б В 1 Рт.	G-117 OF 1 201001
	SAMPLE	Sempler Types Split Spoon	Auger Serrel	rs Sample	PL 20%	Moisture M.C. 40% 60%	40%	25 Unconfin	ane Sheer (kPa) 50 75	
(m) F	2 #	USCS	SOIL DESC	RIPTION	20	(N) 40 80	*	Penetron	(kPa)	▲ (m)
			(0.00-0.12) Concrete.							
- - - - - -	05/D0 05/D0 3 05/D0	N/R	(0.12-1.00) Red brick, tar (1.00-1.50) Black cinders		-					1
	05/00	ol H	(1.50-2.25) Top soil, blec	k, wood fibers,	•					
2	e Os/Do		moist, very strong odor.							2
	7 05/00		(2.25-2.50) Silt, dark brow clay, moist, strong odor. (2.50-2.65) Clay, light bro	wn, trace send, trace						
_3			above PL. (2.65-2.80) Clay, dark bla sand, strong odor.	ckish brown, some						3
_4	05/D0		(2.80-3.00) Clay, brown, strong odor, above PL. (3.00-3.40) Silt, brown, s (3.40-3.85) Silt gray trac	ome sand, wet, odor.						4
	DS/DG 17 DS/DG 18 DS/DG		(3.85-4.00) Silt, light brow (4.00-4.80) Silt, grey, son damp.	wn, with fine sand. ne sand, stiff insitu,	•		Andrew State - State - State		· Marini, i Bada Mina i Ku	
_5	19 DS/DG 20 DS/DG 21 DS/DG 22 DS/DG	SP GP	(4.80-5.00) Sand, brown, silt, damp. (5.00-5.25) Sand, grey, fil saturated. (5.25-6.00) Gravel, coarse	fine grained, trace ne grained, grained, some sand,						5
_6	23 DS/DQ	ML	(6.00-7.00) Silt, grey, son stiff insitu, damp; "till-like	ne sand, trace gravel, e".	•					6
7	24 DS/DC 25 DS/DC						-			
			(7.00) End of Hole. No bedrock encountered. Well installed.	-				•		
WAT 11 2, 21 Sa	ER TAI .31 (m) 18/09/04 Iturated (18/01/28	3LE 🍹	NORTH: 9.700 EAST: 31.100 TREND: PLUNGE: -90.0 (deg) ELEV G/S: 101.46 (m)	EQUIPMENT: METHOD: DRILLER: STATUS:	Canterra Hollow St Paddock D FINAL: Overlage:	em Auger Hilling Ltd		COMPLET INSPECTO DEPTH:	ION: 98/0 DR: F.D 7.00) 1/28 emchenko) (m) 3 8697A (EOT:

			<u> </u>) <u></u>				Un	enten	inate	L loar	ml	
			MANITOBA HYDRO				BRANDON GASSIFICATION PLANT						BC	BG-098		
				E	ngineering								1	1 OF 1		
	T			UVE		UG			<u> </u>				Prj./	20100	1	
	A	S	Semp Types	ler)	Auger	Core Serrei		Bulk Semple	R.	Moisture M.C.	L.	V	ene Sheer		P	
T T		P	⊠§	plit poon	Sonic 🔀	I Special Sample	m []	Grab Semple	20%	40% 60%	80%	25	(R/Fe) 60 75	100	P	
	Ē	Ē	S	helby	Berre	Tricone		Air Hemmer	Sta	ndard Penet	tration	Unconfin	ed Compre	ssion A	ГН	
(m)		*	USCS		SOIL DESC		RIPTION		20	20 40 60 90		100	(k.Pe) 200 300	Pa) 300 400 (/		
ł		1 DSADO	OL		(0.00-0.50)	Top soil, blee	k .					1		A	1	
} 				Ħ	(0.50.1.00)						I		•	-	Ł	
{		DS/DC			some silt, t	race rootiets,	below	PL.			1	-	• •	-	ł	
[_1 {		3	CI		(1.00-1.25)	Clay, greyish	brown,	trace silt,					-		1	
f '		05/00			trace sand, Field per at 1	very stiff ins	itu.	-			i				-	
		6 05/00			(1.25-2.25)	Clay, medium	i brown,	, some silt,						i i	F .	
2		6 DS/00			trace sand, Field pen at 1	above PL.	t Pa								ŧ,	
		05/00	60												Ē	
		05/00	3 r		(2.25-3.50) (grained, sat	Sand, dark bi Jurated.	eckish t	brown, coerse	•		ľ			*	E	
		DS/D0 10									5 5 4				ł	
_3		DS/D0													-3	
		USIUG													F	
	-	12 DS/DC	CL		(3.50-4.00)	Clay, medium	grey, s	iome silt,	-		-				È i	
_4	I	13 DS/D0			medium insi Field pen at 3	itu, sbove PL .50m = 100	kPa.					ŀ		-	•	
		14 05/00		\mathbb{N}	(4.00-4.50) (Clay, medium	brown,	, some silt,							₽ ¶	
		1.5		4	some sand,	trace gravel,	above	PL.			*			l	Ł	
		D/DG	ML		(4.50-4.75) S grained, sat	silt, brown, w urated.	vith san	d, fine			*			t 1	F	
_5		DS/DC			(4.75-5.00) S	Silt, brown, ti	ace san	nd, damp.							5	
		DS/D0 18			saturated.	onc, prown, a	na tine	grained sand,			i.			1		
		19 DS/DO			(5.50-5.75)	silt, greyish b	rown, s	ome sand,			-					
_6		20 DS/DC			wet. (5.75-6.50) s	silt. arev. tree	e sand	damo			:					
		21 DS/DC						, admp.						:	_6	
-		22 DS/DQ												÷		
					(5.50-7.00) S saturated.	iilt, brown, w	rith fine	grained sand,	1		i	-				
<u></u>		os <i>i</i> od			(7.00) End of	Hole	<u> </u>		:	_					7	
					No bedrock er	countered.										
				•										•		
		-														
No	WA	TER T	ABLE /el	T	NORTH: EAST:	10.000 265.000		EQUIPMENT METHOD:	: Canterra Hollow S	tem Auger		COMPLET	ON: 98/0	1/21		
rec 2.2	ord 25m	led. S 1.	aturated i	et	PLUNGE:	90.0 (deg)	ļ	DRILLER:	Paddock I	Drilling Ltd	2.0/8	DEPTH:	7.00		GEOTE	
				1	ELEV 0/3: 3	,a''+ (W)		SIAIUS:	Overlave:	SPT UNCI A	TTIO VAN	10 LINE USCS	TITLE			